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CUSTOMERS

Corporate Profile

AutoZane is the leading retailer and a teading distributor of avtomotive replacement parts and accessories
in the United States. The Company also opefates stores in Puerto Rico and Mexico. Each store carries an
extensive preduct line for cars, sport utility vehicles, vans and light trucks, including new and remanufactured
automotive hard parts, maintenance items, ackessories, and non-automotive products. Many stores also have
2 commercial sales program that provides cofnmercial credit and prompt delivery of parts and other products
0 local, regional and national repair garages.|AutoZone also sells the ALLDATA brand diagnostic and repair
software. On the web, AutoZone sells diagn&stic and repair information, and auto and light truck parts
hrough www.autozone.com.

selected Financial Data

Fiscal Year Ended August

- + - -

(Doflars in mitions, except per share data) 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Net Sales 5,457 $5.637 5,711 $5.948 $6,170
Operating Profit % 918 $ 999 $ 976 $1,010 $1,055
Diluted Earnings per Share $ 534 % 6.56 $ 7.18 $ 7.50 $ 853
After-Tax Return or Invested Capital 23.4% 25.1% 23.9% 22.2% 22.7%
Domestic Same Store Sales Growth 3.2% 0.2% (2.1)% 0.4% 0.1%
Operating Margin 16.8% 17.7% 17.1% 17.0% 17.1%
Cash Flow from Operations $ 724 +SE 638 5 648 3 823 S 845

2007 Sales by Strategic Priority '

[] us. Retail—84%
. Commercial—11%

@ Mexico/Other—5%

3.933 U.S. Stores Across All

[ 2

Mexico Stores Across




AutoZoners always put customers first!

We know our parts and products.

Our stores look great!

We've got the best merchandise at the right price.

AutoZone Pledge, est. 1986
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It is an honor for me, on behalf of our 55,000 AutoZoners
across North America, to write this letter and update you
on our progress in 2007. For the year, we delivered what
we characterize as a solid year, and | believe we are well
positioned for continued growth heading into fiscal 2008.

In last year's letter, | mentioned that we would continue
“Living the Pledge!” in 2007. Our Pledge represents the
things we do in every store, every day. We understand
that knowledgeable AutoZoners, taking care of their
customers and their stores, who have the best merchan-
dise, will naturally lead to our key point of focus—always
putting customers first!

Being an AutoZoner is more than being an employee of
AutoZone. It's having a passion for our business, our
customers, our culture and each other. it's about being
an integral part of a high performance team. Recently, we
held our National Sales Meeting in Memphis to celebrate
the year's accomplishments and challenge gach other to
strive for new heights in fiscal 2008. We took time ta con-
gratulate everyone on our industry-leading EPS growth,
13.6%, and industry-leading Return on Invested Capital,
22.7%; however, we did not spend a tremendous amount
of time on specific financial expectations for fiscal 2008.
Instead, we focused on the importance of executing the
key elements outlined in cur Pledge. We recognize that
our customers have many choices to fulfill their automo-
tive needs, and we must give them compelling reasons
to choose AutoZone. In addition, our AutoZoners feel
cenfident they have all the necessary tools to succeed.
We have significantly improved parts coverage, we have
implemented great new technological innovations, our
stores look better than they have in years and, most
imporiantly, we have terrific AutoZoners.

So why the excitement as we head into fiscal 2008?
Our Retail business, which currently represents B4% of
our overall sales, continues to provide significant oppor-
tunities for growth. While challenges have existed in the
macro-environment, we feel our efforts over the last two
years have positioned us well as we head into fiscal
2008. Retail remains our #1 strategic priority.

In fiscal 2006, we reset the sales floors in virtually our
entire domestic store base, over 3,200 stores. We com-
pleted this task in an amazing twelve-week period for

a fraction of our initial cost estimates. Additionally, we
intensified our focus on customer service, training, store
mainienance and other important elements of our value
proposition. To make sure our efforts were resonating
with our customers, we developed a new process to
consistently measure customer satisfaction, an Internet-
based survey that efficiently receives feedback from our
customers, We have seen our customer satisfaction scores
increase in each of the last two years since the imple-
mentation of this new measurement process. Specifically,
we have seen improvements in customer responses to
the layouts of our stores, product assortment and most
importantly, in overall customer service levels.

In fiscal 2007, we completed another large merchandis-
ing initiative. We added over $70 million of new, mainly
late-model, hard parts to our product assortment. This
inventory was added to allow us to say "yes” more fre-
quently 1o our Retail and Commercial customers. These
parts additions represented the largest additions to our
stores this decade. We aggressively began implementing
individual category assortments early in the first quarter
of the year and finished in the fourth quarter. When we
were finished, we managed to complete merchandise
ling reviews on every single category, the first time this




AutcZone celebrated the opening of its
4,000th store this past year.

was accomplished in many years! While we haid miscues
along the way, we were very pleased with the sverall
results. We have learned from our efforts in 20077 and will
continue to refine our merchandise assortments in 2008
and beyond.

We are also excited about the benefits we are b2ginning to
see from the investment we have made in our AutoZoners,
Over the last two years, we've conducied per odic
WITTDTJUR® ("What It Takes To Do The Job Right”) meet-
ings. These meetings include all store AutoZoners and pro-
vide fraining on our culture, our products, our processes
and other important topics. We consistently reinforce to
all AutoZoners that we must differentiate ourselves from
our competitors to give our customers a reasorn to “turn
left across traffic to shop at AutoZong” when it would be
easier to “tumn right” intc a competitor's parking lot. Our
AutoZoners represent our greatest opportunity for differ-
entiation, and having knowledgeable AutoZoners is criti-
cally important. We encourage our AutoZoners 1o receive
industry certification, and | would like to congratulate

all the ASE-certified AutoZoners. With over 7,0 )0 certifi-
cations held by AutoZoners, we couldn’t be prouder of
these individuals and this important accomplishment.

We believe this independent certification adds a sense

of comfort to our customers so they know they re being
helped by the best trained parts professionals in the
business. In fiscal 2008, we believe continued focus on
improving our AutoZoners’ skills will allow us to always
put our customers first!

We also made significant investments in technology in
fiscal 2007. We implemented our new assortment plan-
ning software to improve the selection of the right part for
the right location. And, we implemented our new Z-net™
software in all of our stores including our Mexizo stores.
Z-net™ leverages advances in technology and, in our

opinion, ig clearly the most effective and efficient elec-
tronic parts catalog in the industry. With enhanced dia-
grams, built-in schematics on how to complete the repair,
and even an ability to help customers understand the
benefits between our good, beiter, and best product
offerings, we are encouraged with the response we have
received from our customners and AutoZoners. This new
toal is very user friendly as evidenced by the fact that we
implemented it in all of our domestic stores in one quar-
ter. This was our single largest software implementation
in many years and required the dedication and support
from many AutoZoners. In recognition of their efforts, this
team recently won the prestigious “Starter's Club Award.”
This award is given annually to a team of AutoZoners
who creates a program or process that has a significant
impact on AutoZone operations, growth or development.
| congratulate the entire Z-net™ team for flawlessly imple-
menting this terrific new AutoZone innovation,

Finally, we were pleased to open 163 new AutoZone stores
across the United States and Puerto Rico 1o finish the
year with 3,933 domestic stores. We continue to believe
we can open new stores at a mid-single digit growth rate,
and we continue to see opportunities for new store expan-
sion across virtually all of our markets. In addition, we
continue to invest in our existing stores in order 1o ensure
that they are up to our standards. We're very proud 1o

be able to walk into a twenty-year-old AutoZone store
today and feel confident that it represents the AutoZone
brand well.

Commercial, our Second Growth Priority

We are very excited by the substantial growth opportunity
our Commercial business represents and believe the
ongoing investments we've made in our Commercial
business to profitably grow sales will pay dividends in
the new fiscal year.




Bill Rhodes
Chairman, President and CEQ
Customer Satistaction
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At the end of fiscal 2007, there were 2,182 AutoZone stores
across the country meeting or exceeding the expectations
of professional technicians on a daily basis. Additionally,
our parts coverage is better than it's ever been! By add-
ing over $70 million in incremental, mainly late model,
hard parts coverage 10 our stores, we are positioned to
say “yes" more often to both our Commercial and Retail
cusiomers.

Our continued focus on developing cutting edge tech-
nology has helped us to more eftectively identify our best
Commercial customers, improve customer retention, and
identify additional growth strategies.

Two years ago, we enhanced our systems to provide
improved information on every Commercial transaction.
With this information, we were able to isclate unprofitable
sales and better understand which customers we were
able to service most efficiently. With this new information,
we challenged our Commercial Specialists to focus
primarily on those customers that we could conststently
satisfy. The formula was not difficult: we focused our
Commercial programs on fewer customers, typicalty
those that are physicaily closer to our stores, where
revenue growth potential was significant and where we
could fulfill on our promise of fast delivery.

Additionally, we challenged ourselves to think more like

a best-in-class business-to-business distributor and less
like a pure retailer. Since our inception back in 1979, we
have focused on Retail customers. However, the Commer-
cial business is different. Commercial customers expect a
different level of service from their suppliers. Specifically,
they expect consistent execution on parts delivery and

a commitment from us to help them grow their business.
We've listened intensely to these imporiant customers.
During the year, we embarked on building a "world class”

sales culture. The sales approach in a direct sales busi-
ness is vastly different from a pure Retail business. We
must ensure that our Commaercial sales team has the
training, processes, and tools necessary to effectively
communicate our value proposition and differentiate
AutoZone as the preferred supplier. We are in the early
stages of this endeavor, but we are excited by our initial
progress. In an effort to build stronger refationships with
our customers, we moved our credit processing opera-
tion in house, where we knew we could significantly
improve the service. We initiated a test store program that
has become the standard operating platform for all our
Commercial programs. We've expanded our efforts to
add the right sales staff across the much of the country.
We've created sales and marketing collateral that provide
a compelling message for our outside sales team to com-
municate. And, we've improved our timeliness of delivery.

Most important to our growth objectives is sustained
profitability. We are very excited to have increased our
operating profits within our Commercial program this
past year, and we believe we're well positioned 1o grow
our Commercial bustness this upcoming year.

We understand the significant opportunity this business
represents. We are using a methodical approach to
develop a compeliing value preposition for our Commer-
cial customers, We are pleased with the progress we
made in fiscal 2007, and we are optimistic about fiscal
2008. | would like to thank our entire organization for their
commitment to this important priority.

Mexico, our Third Growth Priority

With 123 stores across twenty Mexican states, we couldn't
be prouder of our wonderful AutoZoners in these stores.
We're proud to say we'll celebrate our ninth year of busi-
ness in Mexico this December! We continue 10 believe
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growth opportunities exist for years to come in vexico;
however, we will continue to grow prudently and profit-
ably as we expand our infrastructure, concurrent with
our store expansion plans.

The Future

As | mentioned at the outset, we delivered solic perfor-
mance in fiscal 2007; however, solid is not goot] enough
for AutoZone or AutoZoners. The past two years we've
focused on “Living the AutoZone Pledge,” and his year
will be no different. This year's operating plan theme is
based on the first line of our Pledge—Customers First!

We're making sure we have great AutoZoners providing
great customer service. In fiscal 2008, we will “ocus

on improving the in-store experience by helping our
customers complete their transactions more quickly and
easily while attracting and retaining the highest quality
AutoZoners. We will continue our focus on enh:incing

our critically important culture where all AutoZoners feel
valued and have cpportunities to achieve or su-pass their
own career aspirations.

We are focused on improving our inventory productivity
and related sales performance through continua! training
of our store AutoZoners and ongoing refinemer t of our
category management process.

And, we're committed to growing our Cormmercial business
in fiscal 2008. We're committed to building anc enhanc-
ing a sales culiure designed to satisfy the demanding
needs of our professional customers.

Most importantly, we are committed to being diligent
stewards of your capital. We enjoy the highest Return on
Invested Capital, 22.7%, of any direct competitor in our

industry, and we remain committed 1o this metric as a
measurement of our efficiency regarding investment
decisions. As we begin this year, we certainly are aware
of the many chalienges facing cur customers. We under-
stand the pressures, for example, that high gas prices
can have on our custorners' abilities to afford to maintain
and enhance their vehicles. However, we also continue to
believe AutoZone provides an opportunity for Retatl and
Commerciat customers to find quality products at the
right prices to satisfy their needs.

As we have said before, our past success and future
achievements will be built on exceeding our customers’
expectations. And we are determined 1o do that by
focusing on the basics. We cannat, and will not, take
for granted our customers’ patronage.

In summary, AutoZone centinues te have an incredible
business model built on a stroeng feundation of disciplined
processes focused on delivering great customer service.
We are confident we will continue to be successiul. We
look forward to updating you on our continued success
well into the future.

In closing, | would personally fike to thank our entire team
of AutoZoners, all 55,000 of them, for their commitment to
our customers and our great company.

Sincerely,

B0 Phodon

Bill Rhodes
Chaimman, President and CEO
Customer Satisfaction
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Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements typically use words such as “believe,” “anticipate,” “should,” “intend,” “plan,” “will,” “expect,”
“estimate,” “project,” “positioned,” “strategy” and similar expressions. These are based on assumptions and
assessments made by our management in high: of experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions,
expected future developments and other factos that we believe to be appropriate. These forward-looking statements
are subject to a number of risks and uncertain:ies, including without limitation, competition; product demand; the
economy; credit markets; the ability to hire ar d retain qualified employees; consumer debt levels; inflation; weather;
raw material costs of our suppliers; energy prices; war and the prospect of war, including terrorist activity;
availability of commercial transportation; construction delays; access to available and feasible financing; and
changes in laws or reguiations. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and actual
results, developments and business decisions may differ from those contemplated by such forward-looking
statements, and such events could materially .ind adversely affect our business. Forward-looking statements speak
only as of the date made. Except as required by applicable law, we undertake no obligation to update publicly any
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. Actual results may
materially differ from anticipated results. Please refer to the Risk Factors section contained in Item 1 under Part [ of
this Form 10-K for more details.

LAY




PART 1
Item 1. Business
Introduction

We are the nation’s leading specialty retailer and a leading distributor of automotive replacement parts and
accessortes, with most of our sales to do-it-yourself (“D1Y™) customers. We began operations in 1979 and at August
25, 2007 operated 3,933 stores in the United States and Puerto Rico, and 123 in Mexico. Each of our stores carries
an extensive product line for cars, spert utility vehicles, vans and light trucks, including new and remanufactured
automotive hard parts, maintenance items, accessories and non-automotive products. In many of our stores we also
have a commercial sales program that provides commercial credit and prompt delivery of parts and other products to
locai, regional and national repair garages, dealers and service stations. We also sell the ALLDATA brand
automotive diagnostic and repair software. On the web at www.autozone.com, we sell diagnostic and repair
information, auto and light truck parts, and accessories. We do not derive revenue from automotive repair or
installation services.

At August 25, 2007, our stores were in the following locations:
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Marketing and Merchandising Strategy

We are dedicated to providing customers wih superior service, value and quality automotive parts and products at

conveniently located, well-designed stores. l{ey elements of this strategy are:

Customer Service

Customer service is the most important element in our marketing and merchandising strategy, which is based upon
consumer marketing research. We emphasiz: that our AutoZoners {employees) should always put customers first by
providing prompt, courteous service and trustworthy advice. Our electronic parts catalog assists in the selection of
parts; and lifetime warranties are offered by us or our vendors on many of the parts we sell. Our wide area network
in our stores helps us to expedite credit or debit card and check approval processes, to locate parts at neighboring
AutoZone stores, and in some cases, to place special orders directly with our vendors.

Our stores generally open at 7:30 or 8 a.m. and close between 8 and 10 p.m. Monday through Saturday and typically
open at 9 a.m. and close between 6 and 9 p.r1. on Sunday. However, some stores are open 24 hours, and some have
extended hours of 6 or 7 a.m. until midnight seven days a week.

We also provide specialty tools through our Loan-A-Tool® program. Customers can borrow a specialty tool, such as
a steering wheel puller, for which a DIY cus:omer or a repair shop would have little or no use other than for a single
job. AutoZoners also provide other free serv ces, including check engine light readings; battery charging; oil

recycling; and testing of starters, alternators, batteries, sensors and actuators.

Merchandising

The following table shows some of the types of products that we sell:

Hard Parts

A/C Compressors

Alternators

Batteries & Accessories

Brake Drums, Rotors,
Shoes & Pads

Carburetors

Clutches

CV Axles

Engines

Fuel Pumps

Mufflers

Shock Absorbers & Struts

Starters

Water Pumps

‘Maintenance Items

Antifreeze & Windshield Washer Fluid

Belts & Hoses

Chemicals, including Brake & Power
Steering Fluid, Oil & Fuel Additives

Fuses

Lighting

Oil & Transmission Fluid

Qil, Afr, Fuel & Transmission Filters

Oxygen Sensors

Protectants & Cleaners

Refrigerant & Accessories

Sealants & Adhesives

Spark P'lugs & Wires

Wash 4: Wax

Windst ield Wipers

Accessories and Non-Automotive
Air Fresheners

Cell Phone Accessories
Drinks & Snacks

Floor Mats

Hand Cleaner

Neon Lighting

Mirrors

Paint & Accessories
Performance Products
Seat Covers

Steering Wheel Covers
Stereos

Tools




We believe that the satisfaction of DIY customers and professional technicians is often impacted by our abitity to
provide specific automotive products as requested. Qur stores generally offer approximately 21,000 stock keeping
units (“SKUs"), covering a broad range of vehicle types. Each store carries the same basic product lines, but we
tailor our parts inventory to the makes and models of the vehicles in each store’s trade area. Our hub stores carry a
larger assortment of products that can be delivered to commercial customers or tocal satellite stores. In excess of
750,000 additional SKUs of slower-selling products are available either through our vendor direct program
(“VDP"), which offers overnight delivery, or through our salvage auto parts and original equipment manufacturer
(“OEM?”) parts programs.

We are constantly updating the products that we offer to assure that our inventory matches the products that our
customers demand.

Pricing

We want to be perceived by our customers as the value leader in our industry by consistently providing quality
merchandise at the right price, backed by a good warranty and outstanding customer service. On many of our
products we offer multiple value choices in a good/better/best assortment, with appropriate price and quality
differences from the “good” products to the “better” and “best” products. A key component is our exclusive line of
in-house brands: Valucraft, AutoZone, Duralast and Duralast Gold. We believe that our overall prices and value
compare favorably to those of our competitors.

Marketing: Advertising and Promotions

We believe that targeted advertising and promotions play important roles in succeeding in today’s enyironment. We
are constantly working to understand our customers’ wants and needs so that we can build long-lasting, loyal
relationships. We utilize promotions and advertising primarily to advise customers about the overall importance of
vehicle maintenance, our great value and the availability of high quality parts. Broadcast and targeted loyalty efforts
are our primary marketing methods of driving traffic to our stores. We utilize in-store signage and creative product
placement to help educate customers about products they need.

Store Design and Visual Merchandising

We design and build stores for a high visual impact. The typical AutoZone store utilizes colorful exterior and
interior signage, exposed beams and ductwork and brightly lighted interiors. Maintenance products, accessories and
miscellaneous ilems are attractively displayed for easy browsing by customers. In-store signage and special displays
promote products on floor displays, end caps and on the shelf.

Commercial

Qur commercial sales program operates in a highly fragmented market and is one of the leading distributors of
automotive parts and other products to local, regional and national repair garages, dealers and service stations in the
United States. As a part of the program we offer credit and delivery to our commercial customers. The program
operated out of 2,182 stores as of August 25, 2007. Through our hub stores, we offer a greater range of parts and
products desired by professional technicians, and this additional inventory is available for our DIY customers as
well. We have a national sales team focused on national and regional commercial accounts.

Store Operations

Store Formats

Substantially all AutoZone stores are based on standard store formats, resulting in generally consistent appearance,
merchandising and product mix. Approximately 85% to 90% of each store’s square footage is selling space, of
which approximately 40% to 45% is dedicated to hard parts inventory. The hard parts inventory area is generally
fronted by counters or pods that run the depth or length of the store, dividing the hard parts area from the remainder
of the store. The remaining selling space contains displays of maintenance, accessories and non-automotive items.

We believe that our stores are “destination stores,” generating their own traffic rather than relying on traffic created
by adjacent stores. Therefore, we situate most stores on major thoroughfares with easy access and good parking.




Store Personnel and Training

Each store typically employs from 10 to 16 AutoZoners, including a manager and, in some cases, an assistant
manager. AutoZoners typically have prior antomotive experience. All AutoZoners are encouraged to complete
courses resulting in certification by the Natinnal Institute for Autometive Service Excellence (“ASE”), which is
broadly recognized for training certification in the automotive industry. Although we do on-the-job training, we also
provide formal training programs, including an annual national sales meeting, regular store meetings on specific
sales and product issues, standardized training manuals and a specialist program that provides training to
AutoZoners in several areas of technical expertise from both the Company and from independent certification
agencies. Training is supplemented with frequent store visits by management.

Store managers receive financial incentives ;hrough performance-based bonuses. In addition, our growth has
provided opportunities for the promotion of qualified AutoZoners. We believe these opportunities are important to
attract, motivate and retain high quality AutoZoners.

All store support functions are centralized ir: our store support centers located in Memphis, Tennessee and Mexico.
We believe that this centralization enhances consistent execution of our merchandising and marketing strategies at
the store level, while reducing expenses and cost of sales.

Store Automation

All of our stores have Z-net™, our proprietary electronic catalog that enables our AutoZoners to efficiently look up
the parts our customers need and provides complete job solutions, advice and information for customer vehicles. Z-
net " provides parts information based on tke year, make, model and engine type of a vehicle and also tracks
inventory availability at the store, at other ncarby stores and through special order. The Z-net™ display screens are
placed on the hard parts counter or pods, whezre both AutoZoners and customers can view the screen, In addition,
our wide area network enables the stores to ¢xpedite credit or debit card and check approval processes, to access
immediately national warranty data, to implement real-time inventory controls and to locate and hold parts at
neighboring AutoZone stores.

Our stores utilize our computerized proprietary Store Management System, which includes bar code scanning and
point-of-sale data collection terminals. The {itore Management System provides administrative assistance and
improved personnel scheduling at the store |2vel, as well as enhanced merchandising information and improved
inventory control. We believe the Store Management System also enhances customer service through faster
processing of transactions and simplified warranty and product return procedures.

Store Development

The following table reflects store development during the past five fiscal years:

Fiscal Year

2007 2006 2005 _2004 _2003

Beginning Domestic Stores 3771 3,592 3420 3219 3068

New Stores. ..o ivennceinnnenns 163 185 175 202 160
Closed Stores .......cccoeeeeeen..o. 1 6 3 | 9
Net New Stores ... 162 179 172 201 151
Relocated SEOTES........cceivvviiieceresrssvesserestesssrrsasmseeeasineeeeaamsnensennees 18 18 7 4 6
Ending Domestic SLOTES........ovceemiiieeerereeevnceicccc s 3,933 3,771 3,592 3420 3,219
Ending Mexico Stores 123 100 81 63 49
Ending Total StOres...........cooeeiireeivecerieceieescnenniennnnnes 4,056 3,871 3,673 3483 3,268

The domestic stores include stores in the Un ted States and Puerto Rico. The new store count in 2007 reflects 3
stores that were temporarily closed during fiscal 2006 and excluded from the prior year ending store count. We
believe that expansion opportunities exist both in markets that we do not currently serve, as well as in markets where
we can achieve a larger presence. We attempt to obtain high visibility sites in high traffic locations and undertake
substantial research prior to entering new mérkets. The most important criteria for opening a new store are its
projected future profitability and its ability to achieve our required investment hurdle rate. Key factors in selecting




new site and market locations include population, demographics, vehicle profile, number and strength of
competitors’ stores and the cost of real estate. In reviewing the vehicle profile, we also consider the number of
vehicles that are seven years old and older- “our kind of vehicles,” as these are generally no longer under the
original manufacturers’ warranties and will require more maintenance and repair than younger vehicles. We
generally seek to open new stores within or contiguous to existing market areas and attempt to cluster development
in markets in a relatively short period of time. In addition to continuing to lease or develop our own stores, we
evaluate and may make strategic acquisitions.

Purchasing and Supply Chain

Merchandise is selected and purchased for all stores through our store support centers located in Memphis,
Tennessee and Mexico. No one class of product accounts for as much as 10 percent of our total sales. In fiscal 2007,
no single supplier accounted for more than 10 percent of our total purchases. We generally have few long-term
contracts for the purchase of merchandise. We believe that we have good relationships with suppliers. We also
believe that alternative sources of supply exist, at similar cost, for most types of product sold. Most of our
merchandise flows through our distribution centers to our stores by our fleet of tractors and trailers or by third-party
trucking firms.

Our hub stores have increased our ability to distribute products on a timely basis to many of our stores. A hub store
is able to provide replenishment of products sold and deliver other products maintained only in hub store inventories
to a store in its coverage area generally within 24 hours. Hub stores are generally replenished from distribution
centers multiple times per week.

Competition

The sale of automotive parts, accessories and maintenance items is highly competitive in many areas, including
name recognition, product availability, customer service, store location and price. AutoZone competes in both the
retail (“DIY™) and commercial do-it-for-me (“DIFM™) auto parts and accessories markets.

Competitors include national and regional auto parts chains, independently owned parts stores, wholesalers and
jobbers, repair shops, car washes and auto dealers, in addition to discount and mass merchandise stores, department
stores, hardware stores, supermarkets, drugstores, convenience stores and home stores that sell aftermarket vehicle
parts and supplies, chemicals, accessories, tools and maintenance parts. AutoZone competes on the basis of
customer service, inclueding the trustworthy advice of our AutoZoners, merchandise selection and availability, price,
product warranty, store layouts and location.

Trademarks and Patents

We have registered several service marks and trademarks in the United States Patent and Trademark office as well
as in certain other countries, including our service marks, “AutoZone” and “Get in the Zone,” and trademarks,
“AutoZone,” “Duralast,” “Duralast Gold,” “Valucraft,” “ALLDATA” and “Z-net™.” We believe that these service
marks and trademarks are important components of our merchandising and marketing strategy.

Employees

As of August 25, 2007, we employed approximately 55,000 persons, approximately 56 percent of whom were
employed full-time. About 93 percent of our AutoZoners were employed in stores or in direct field supervision,
approximately 5 percent in distribution centers and approximately 2 percent in store support functions. Included in
the above numbers are approximately 2,000 persons employed in our Mexico operations.

We have never experienced any material labor disruption and believe that relations with our AutoZoners are
generally good.




AutoZone Website

AutoZone's primary website is at http://www. wutozone.com. We make available, free of charge, at our investor
relations website, http://www.autozoneinc.cors, our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q,
current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d)
of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably feasible after we electronically file
such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Executive Qfficers of the Registrant

The following list describes our executive officers. The title of each executive officer includes the words “Customer
Satisfaction” which reflects our commitment to customer service. Officers are elected by and serve at the discretion
of the Board of Directors.

William C. Rhodes, 11, 42—Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, Customer Satisfuction

William C. Rhodes, 111, was named Chairman of AutoZone in June 2007 and has been President, Chief Executive
Officer and a director since March 2005. Prior to his appointment as President and Chief Executive Officer, Mr.
Rhodes was Executive Vice President—Store Operations and Commercial. Prior to fiscal 2005, he had been Senior
Vice President—Supply Chain and Informatior. Technology since fiscal 2002, and prior thereto had been Senior Vice
President—Supply Chain since 2001. Prior to that time, he served in various capacities within the Company,
including Vice President-Stores in 2000, Senior Vice President—Finance and Vice President—Finance in 1999 and
Vice President—Operations Analysis and Support from 1997 to 1999. Prior to 1994, Mr. Rhodes was a manager with
Ernst & Young LLP.

William T. Giles, 48—Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President, Finance, Information Technology and
Store Development, Customer Satisfuction

William T. Giles was elected Executive Vice 2resident — Finance, Information Technology and Store Development

in March 2007. Prior to that, he was Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer from June

2006 to December 2006 and Executive Vice Fresident, Chief Financial Officer since May 2006. From 1991 to May

2006, he held several positions with Linens N’ Things, Inc., most recently as the Executive Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer. Priorto 1991, he was with Melville, Inc. and PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Harry L. Goldsmith, 56—Executive Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel, Customer Satisfaction
Harry L. Goldsmith was elecied Executive Vize-President, General Counsel and Secretary during fiscal 2006.
Previously, he was Senior Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel since 1996 and was Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary from 1993 to 1996,

Robert D. Olsen, 54—Executive Vice President— Store Operations, Commercial and Mexico, Customer Satisfaction
Robert D. Olsen was elected Executive Vice I'resident— Store Operations, Commercial and Mexico during fiscal
2007. Prior to that, he was Executive Vice President—Supply Chain, Information Technology, Mexico and Store
Development since fiscal 2006, Previously, he was Senior Vice President since fiscal 2000 with primary
responsibility for store development and Mexico operations. From 1993 to 2000, Mr. Olsen was Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Leslie’s Poolmart. From 1985 to 1989, Mr. Olsen held several positions
with AutoZone, including Controller, Vice Przsident-Finance, and Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer.

James A. Shea, 62—Executive Vice President-Merchandising, Marketing and Supply Chain, Customer Satisfaction
James A. Shea was elected Executive Vice President— Merchandising, Marketing and Supply Chain during fiscal
2007 and has served as Executive Vice President—Merchandising and Marketing since fiscal 2005. He was
President and Co-founder of Portero during 2004. Prior to 2004, he was Chief Executive Officer of Party City from
1999 to 2003. From 1995 to 1999, he was with Lechters Housewares where he was Senior Vice President
Marketing and Merchandising before being named President in 1997. From 1990 to 1995, he was Senior Vice
President of Home for Kaufmanns Department Store, a division of May Company.




Timothy W. Briggs, 46—Senior Vice President—-Human Resources, Customer Satisfaction

Timothy W. Briggs was elected Senior Vice President—-Human Resources in October 2005, Prior to that, he was
Vice President — Field Human Resources since March 2005. From 2002 to 2005, Mr. Briggs was Vice President -
Organization Development. From 1996 to 2002, Mr. Briggs served in various management capacities at the Limited
Inc., including Vice President, Human Resources.

William W. Graves, 47—Senior Vice Presidemt-Supply Chain, Customer Satisfaction

William W. Graves was elected Senior Vice President=Supply Chain in October 2005. Prior thereto, he was Vice
President - Supply Chain since 2080. From 1992 to 2000, Mr. Graves served in various capacities with the
Company.

Lisa R. Kranc, 54-—Senior Vice President—Marketing, Customer Satisfaction

Lisa R. Kranc was elected Senior Vice President—Marketing during fiscal 2001. Previously, she was Vice President-
Marketing for Hannaford Bros. Co., a Maine-based grocery chain, since 1997, and was Senior Vice President—
Marketing for Bruno's, Inc., from 1996 to 1997. Prior to 1996, she was Vice President-Marketing for Giant Eagle,
Inc. since 1992.

Thomas B. Newbern, 45—Senior Vice President—Store Operations, Customer Satisfaction

Thomas B. Newbern was elected Senior Vice President—Store Operations in March 2007. Previously, Mr. Newbern
held the title Vice President, Store Operations for AutoZone since 1998. A twenty-one year AutoZoner, he has held
several key management positions with the Company.

Charlie Pleas, {11, 42—Senior Vice President, Controller, Customer Satisfaction

Charlie Pleas, 111, was elected Senior Vice President and Controller in March 2007. Prior to that, he was Vice
President, Controller since 2003, Previously, he was Vice President—Accounting since 2000, and Director of General
Accounting since 1996. Prior to joining AutoZone, Mr. Pleas was a Division Controller with Fleming Companies,
Inc. where he served in various capacities from 1988.

Larry M. Roesel, 50—Senior Vice President-Commercial, Customer Satisfaction

Larry M. Roesel joined AutoZone as Senior Vice President-Commercial in March 2007, Mr. Roesel came to
AutoZone with more than thirty years of experience with OfficeMax, Inc. and its predecessor, where he served in
operations, sales and general management.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our business is subject to a variety of risks. Set forth below are certain of the important risks that we face and that
could cause actual results to differ materially from historical results. These risks are not the only ones we face. Qur
business could also be affected by additional factors that are presently unknown to us or that we currently believe to
be immaterial to our business.

We may not be able to increase sales by the same historic growth rates.

We have increased our store count in the past five fiscal years, growing from 3,107 stores at August 31, 2002, to
4,056 stores at August 25, 2007, an average store count increase per year of 5%. Additionally, we have increased
annual revenues in the past five fiscal years from $5.326 billion in fiscal 2002 to $6.170 biltion in fiscal 2007, an
average increase per year of 3%. Annual revenue growth is driven by the opening of new stores and same-store
sales. We cannot provide any assurance that we can continue to open stores or increase same-store sales.

Qur business depends upon qualified employees,

At the end of fiscal 2007, our consolidated employee count was approximately 55,000. We cannot assure that we
can continue to hire and retain qualified employees at current wage rates. [f we do not maintain competitive wages,
our customer service could suffer by reason of a declining quality of our workforce or, altematively, our earnings
could decrease if we increase our wage rates,




If demand for our products slows, then our business may be materially affected.
Demand for products sold by our stores depends on many factors. In the short term, it may depend upon:

+ the number of miles vehicles are driven annually, as higher vehicle mileage increases the need for
maintenance and repair. Mileage levels may be affected by gas prices and other factors.

* the number of vehicles in current serv .ce that are seven years old and older, as these vehicles are no longer
under the original vehicle manufacturcrs” warranties and will need more maintenance and repair than
younger vehicles.

+ the weather, as vehicle maintenance may be deferred.

+ the economy. In periods of rapidly de:lining economic conditions, both retail DIY and commercial DIFM
customers may defer vehicle maintenance or repair. During periods of expansionary economic conditions,
more of our DIY customers may pay others to repair and maintain their cars instead of working on their own
vehicles or they may purchase new vehicles,

For the long term, demand for our products may depend upon:

* the quality of the vehicles manufactured by the original vehicle manufacturers and the length of the warranty
or maintenance offered on new vehicles.

* restrictions on access to diagnostic tonls and repair information imposed by the original vehicle
manufacturers or by governmental regulation.

If we are unable to compete successfully a;zainst other businesses that sell the products that we sell, we could
lose customers and our sales and profits may decline.

The sale of automotive parts, accessories and maintenance items is highly competitive based on many factors,
including name recognition, product availability, customer service, store location and price. Competitors are rapidly
opening locations near our existing stores. AutoZone competes as a supplier in both the DIY and DIFM auto parts
and accessories markets.

Competitors include national, regional and local auto parts chains, independently owned parts stores, jobbers, repair
shops, car washes and auto dealers, in addition to discount and mass merchandise stores, department stores,
hardware stores, supermarkets, drugstores, cynvenience stores and home stores that sell aftermarket vehicle parts
and supplies, chemicals, accessories, tools and maintenance parts. Although we believe we compete effectively on
the basis of customer service, including the l:nowledge and expertise of our AutoZoners; merchandise quality,
selection and availability; product warranty; store layout, location and convenience; price; and the strength of our
AutoZone brand name, trademarks and service marks; some competitors may have competitive advantages, such as
greater financial and marketing resources, larger stores with more merchandise, longer operating histories, more
frequent customer visits and more effective advertising. If we are unable to continue to develop successful
competitive strategies, or if our competitors develop more effective strategies, we could lose customers and our sales
and profits may decline.

If we cannot profitably increase our market share in the commercial auto parts business, our sales growth
may be limited.

Although we are one of the largest sellers of auto parts in the commercial market, to increase commercial sales we
must compete against national and regional auto parts chains, independently owned parts stores, wholesalers and
jobbers, repair shops and auto dealers. Although we believe we compete effectively on the basis of customer service,
merchandise quality, selection and availabil ty, price, product warranty and distribution locations, and the strength
of our AutoZone brand name, trademarks and service marks, some automotive aftermarket jobbers have been in
business for substantially longer periods of 1ime than we have, have developed long-term customer relationships and
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have large available inventories. We can make no assurances that we can profitably develop new commercial
customers or make available inventories required by commercial customers.

If our vendors continue to consolidate, we may pay higher prices for our merchandise.

In recent years, several of our vendors have merged. Further vendor consolidation could limit the number of vendors
from which we may purchase products and could materially affect the prices we pay for these products.

Consolidation among our competitors may negatively impact our business.

If our competitors consolidate with other auto parts chains and are able to achieve efficiencies in their mergers, then
there may be greater competitive pressures in the markets in which they are stronger.

War or acts of terrorism or the threat of cither may negatively impact availability of merchandise and
adversely impact our sales.

War or acts of terrorism, or the threat of either, may have a negative impact on our ability to obtain merchandise
available for sale in our stores. Some of our merchandise is imported from other countries. If imported goods
become difficult or impossible to bring into the United States, and if we cannot obtain such merchandise from other
sources at similar costs, our sales and profit margins may be negatively affected.

In the event that commercial transportation is curtailed or substantially delayed, our business may be adversely
impacted, as we may have difficulty shipping merchandise 10 our distribution centers and stores.

Rising energy prices may negatively impact our profitability.

As mentioned above, rising energy prices may impact demand for the products that we sell, overall transaction count
and our profitability, Higher energy prices impact our merchandise distribution, commercial delivery, utility, and
product costs.

Demand for our merchandise may decline if vehicle manufacturers refuse to make available the information
our customers need to work on their own vehicles.

Demand for our merchandise may decline if vehicle manufacturers refuse to make available to the automotive
aftermarket industry diagnostic, repair and maintenance information that our customers, both retail (“DIY™"} and
commercial (“DIFM™), require to diagnose, repair and maintain their vehicles. Without public dissemination of this
information, consumers may be forced to have all diagnostic work, repairs and maintenance performed by the
vehicle manufacturers’ dealer network.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2. Properties

The following table reflects the square footage and number of leased and owned properties for our stores as of
August 25, 2007:

No. of Stores Square Footage
| I OSSO 1,873 11,250,612
OWNEH ... e bbbt n e s e e 2,183 14,793,581
TOUAL ... e e e e et e 4,056 26,044,193

We have over 3.4 million square feet in distribution centers servicing our stores, of which approximately 1.3 million
square feet is leased and the remainder is owned. Our distribution centers are located in Arizona, California,
Georgia, [llinois, Ohio, Tennessee, Texas and Mexico. Qur primary store support center, which we own, is located
in Memphis, Tennessee, and consists of approximately 260,000 square feet. We also own and lease other properties
that are not material in the aggregate.




Item 3. Legal Proceedings

AutoZone, Inc. is a defendant in a lawsuit entitled "Coalition for a Level Playing Field, L.L.C., et al., v. AutoZone,
Inc. et al.,” filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York in October 2004. The case was
filed by more than 200 plaintiffs, which are principally automotive aftermarket warehouse distributors and jobbers
(collectively “Plaintiffs”), against a number of defendants, including automotive aftermarket retailers and
aftermarket automotive parts manufacturers, In the amended complaint, the plaintiffs allege, inter alia, that some or
all of the automotive aftermarket retailer defendants have knowingly received, in violation of the Robinson-Patman
Act (the “Act”), from various of the manufacturer defendants benefits such as volume discounts, rebates, early buy
allowances and other allowances, fees, inventory without payment, sham advertising and promotional payments, a
share in the manufacturers' profits, benefits of pay on scan purchases, implementation of radio frequency
identification technology, and excessive payraents for services purporiedly performed for the manufacturers.
Additionally, a subset of plaintiffs alleges a claim of fraud against the automotive aftermarket retailer defendants
based on discovery issues in a prior litigation involving similar Robinson-Fatman Act claims. In the prior litigation,
the discovery dispute, as well as the underlying claims, were decided in favor of AutoZone and the other automotive
aftermarket retailer defendants who proceeded to trial, pursuant to a unanimous jury verdict which was affirmed by
the Second Circuit Court of Appeals. In the current litigation, plaintiffs seek an unspecified amount of damages
(including statutory trebling), attorneys' fees, and a permanent injunction prohibiting the aftermarket retailer
defendants from inducing and/or knowingly 1eceiving discriminatory prices from any of the aftermarket
manufacturer defendants and from opening u2 any further stores to compete with plaintiffs as long as defendants
allegedly continue to violate the Act. The Co mpany believes this suit to be without merit and is vigorously
defending against it. Defendants have filed motions to dismiss all claims with prejudice on substantive and
procedural grounds. Additionally, the Defenc ants have sought to enjoin plaintiffs from filing similar lawsuits in the
future. If granted in their entirety, these dispcsitive motions would resolve the litigation in Defendants' favor.

On June 22, 2005, the Attorney General of the State of California, in conjunction with District Attorneys for San
Bernardino, San Joaquin and Monterey Counties, filed suit in the San Bernardino County Superior Court against
AutoZone, Inc. and its California subsidiaries. The San Diego County District Attorney later joined the suit. The
lawsuit alleges that AutoZone failed to follovs various state statutes and regulation governing the storage and
handling of used motor oil and other materials collected for recycling or used for cleaning AutoZone stores and
parking lots. The suit sought $12 million in penalties and injunctive relief. On June [, 2007, AutoZone and the
State entered into a Stipulated Final Judgment by Consent. The Stipulated Final Judgment amended the suit to also
allege weights and measures (pricing) violations. Pursuant to this Judgment, AutoZone is enjoined from committing
these types of violations and agreed to pay civil penalties in the amount of $1.8 million, including $1.5 million in
cash and a $300,000 credit for work performe:d to insure compliance.

AutoZone is involved in various other legal proceedings incidental to the conduct of our business. Although the
amount of liability that may result from these other proceedings cannot be ascertained, we do not currently believe
that, in the aggregate, they will result in liabilities material to our financial condition, results of operations, or cash
flows.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
Not applicable.




PART 11

Item 5, Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

AutoZone’s common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “AZQ.” On October 15,
2007, there were 3,589 stockholders of record, which does not include the number of beneficial owners whose
shares were represented by security position listings.

We currently do not pay a cash dividend on our common stock. Any payment of dividends in the future would be

dependent upon our financial condition, capital requirements, earnings, cash flow and other factors.

The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices per share of common stock, as reported by the New York
Stock Exchange, for the periods indicated:

Fiscal Year Ended August 25, 2007:
Fourth QUarer...........oo ettt
Third QUATET ...t e e et e et

Second quarter

FIESt QUATTET ..ot s e

Fiscal Year Ended August 26, 2006:
Fourth quarer............ooo e
ThIFd QUATTET ...t e e s e en

Second quarter

FAESE QUATTET ...t e e e

Price Range of Common Stock

High Low
$£140.29 S111.46
$137.66 $121.52
$128.00 $112.39
$114.98 $ 87.30
$ 9461 $§ 83.81
$102.00 $ 91.35
$ 9932 $ 86.50
£ 97.08 $ 7176

During 1998 the Company announced a program permitting the Company to repurchase a portion of its outstanding
shares not to exceed a dollar maximum established by the Company’s Board of Directors. The program was most
recently amended in June 2007, to increase the repurchase authorization to $5.9 billion from $5.4 billion. The
program does not have an expiration date.

Shares of common stock repurchased by the Company during the quarter ended August 25, 2007, were as follows:

Total Number of

Maximum Dollar

Shares Purchased | Value that May Yet
Total Number Average | as Part of Publicly Be Purchased

of Shares Price Paid | Announced Plans | Under the Plans or
Period Purchased per Share or Programs Programs
May 6, 2007, to
June 2, 2007 816,200 $127.84 97,809,493 $651,360,893
June 3, 2007, to
June 30, 2007 1,444,560 133.66 99,254,053 458,281,384
July 1, 2007, to
July 28, 2007 - - 99,254,053 458,281,384
July 29, 2007, to
August 25, 2007 - - 99,254,053 458,281,384
Total 2,260,760 $131.56 99,254,053 $458,281,384

The Company also repurchased, at fair value, an additional 65,152 shares in fiscal 2007, 62,293 shares in fiscal
2006, and 87,974 shares in fiscal 2005 from employees electing to sell their stock under the Company’s Third
Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan, qualified under Section 423 of the internal Revenue Code,
under which all eligible empioyees may purchase AutoZone's common stock at 85% of the lower of the market




price of the common stock on the first day or last day of each calendar quarter through payroll deductions.
Maximum petmitted annual purchases are $15,000 per employee or 10 percent of compensation, whichever is less.
Under the plan, 39,139 shares were sold to employees in fiscal 2007, 51,167 shares were sold to employees in fiscal
2006, and 59,479 shares were sold in fiscal 2005. At August 25, 2007, 385,897 shares of common stock were
reserved for future issuance under this plan. Uinder the Amended and Restated Executive Stock Purchase Plan all
eligible executives are permitted to purchase AutoZone’s common stock up to 25 percent of his or her annual salary
and bonus. Purchases by executives under this plan were 1,257 shares in fiscal 2007, 811 shares in fiscal 2006, and
5,366 shares in fiscal 2005. At August 25, 2007, 263,037 shares of common stock were reserved for future issuance
under this plan.

Stock Performance Graph

This graph shows, from the end of fiscal year 2002 to the end of fiscal year 2007, changes in the value of $100
invested in each of the following: AutoZone’s common stock, Standard & Poor’s 500 Composite Index, and a peer
group consisting of other automotive aftermarket retailers.

i
Comparison of Cumulative Five Year Total Return
$200
. $ :%
$100 ¢ '
$50
so ¥ 1 T T 1
8/31/02 8/30/03 8:28/04 8/27/05 8/26/06 8125107
—o— AutoZone, Inc. —O0—S&P 500 Index —— Peer Group
Aug-02 Aug-03 Aug-04 Aug-05 Aug-06 Aug-07
AutoZone, Inc. 100 126.88 104.16 131.93 120.54 170.37
S&P 500 Index 100 112.07 125.30 138.83 152.05 176.88
Peer Group 100 11532 125.85 164.71 146.05 178.66

The peer group consists of Advance Auto Parts, Inc, CSK Auto Corporation, Genuine Parts Company, O’Reilly
Automotive, Inc., and The Pep Boys-Manny, Moe & Jack.




Item 6. Selected Financial Data

(in thousands, except per share data and

Fiscal Year Ended August

selected pperating data) 2007 2006 2005™ 2004 2003
Income Statement Data
Net sales... $ 6169804 $ 5948355 § 5710882 5 5,637,025 % 5457123
Cost ofsalcs mcludmg warchouse and delwcry

EXPENSES.cvvrinnes 3,105,554 3,009,835 2,918,334 2,880,446 2,942,114
Operating, sellmg, general and admlmslrauve

expenses 2,008.984 1,928,595 1,816,884 1,757,873 1,597,212
Operating profit .. 1,055,266 1,009,925 975,664 998,706 917,797
Interest expense — net 119,116 107,889 102,443 92,804 84,790
Income before income taxes. 936,150 902,036 873,221 905,902 833,007
Income taxes...... 340,478 332.761 302,202 339700 315403
Net income........ 5 595672 § 569275 § 571019 $ 566202 5  517.604
Diluted eammgs per share...... 3 B53 % 150 % 718 § 656 3 534
Adjusted weighted average shares for dlluted

earnings pet share .. 69,844 75,859 79.508 86,350 96,963
Balance Sheet Data
Current assets.. $ 2270455 $§ 2118927 § 1929459 § 1755757 $ 1,671,354
Working capna] (def'cnt) (15,439) 64,359 118,300 4,706 (40,050)
Total assets .. . 4,804,709 4,526,306 4,245,257 3,912,565 3,766,826
Current habllmes 2,285,894 2,054,568 1,811,159 1,751,051 1,711,404
Debt .. 1,935,618 1,857,157 1,861,850 1,869,250 1,546,845
Long-term capital leases ... 39,073 — — — —
Stockholders’ equity .......cocvecinccninin e e 3 403,200 § 469528 $ 391,007 § 171,393 § 373,758
Selected Operating Data
Number of domestic stores at beginning of year................. 3771 3,592 3,420 3219 3,068

NEW SLOTES ..ot 163 185 175 202 160

Closed stores..., . 1 6 3 1 9

INELREW SLOTES...evvsverirrrrssrmrmirssesirssssisss s mss s st sienisamsness 162 179 172 201 151

Relocated SOres..........ooovricnccrcricce e 18 18 7 4 6
Number of domestic stores at end of year. 3,933 3,771 3,592 3,420 3,219
Number of Mexico stores at end of year... 123 100 81 63 49
Number of total stores at end of year ................. 31,871 3,673 3483
Total domestic store square footage (in thousands)..... 25,135 24,016 22,808 21,689 20,500
Average square footage per domestic store............. 6,351 6,369 6,350 6,342 6,368
Increase in domestic store square footage .. .....oooverecriarenns % 5% 5% 6% 4%
Increase (decrease) in domestic comparable store net sales'” 0.1% 0.4% 2.1% 0.1% 3.2%
Average net sales per domestic store (in thousands)........... $ 1,523 % 1,548 § 1,573 8§ 1,647 % 1,689
Average net sales per domestic store square foot. $ 239§ 243 % 248 % 259 8% 264
Total domestic employees at end of year..............covueeaee 54,859 52,677 50,869 48,254 47,727
Merchandise under%)ay-on-scan arrangements (in thousands)  § 22387 § 92,142 $ 151,682 $§ 146573 % —
INVEROrY tUMOVER'® ..o s s nae 1.6x 1.7x 1.8x 1.9x 2.0x
Afier-tax return on invested capital ™ .......c..coeniineinninnninns 22.7% 22.2% 23.9% 25.1% 23.4%
Net cash provided by operating activities (in thousands)... s 845,194 § 822,747 3 648083 § 638379 § 720,807
Cash flow before share repurchases and changes in debt (m
thousands)® ... $ 678,522 $ 599,507 $ 432210 § 509447 § 561,563
Retum on average SQUIty ..o esenssessensenses 137% 132% 203% 208% 97%

(1) Fiscal 2007 operating results include a $18.5 million pre-tax non-cash expense for share-based compensation,

and fiscal 2006 operating results contain a $17.4 million pre-tax non-cash expense for share-based

compensation as a result of the adoption of SFAS 123 (R) at the beginning of fiscal 2006.

(2) Fiscal 2005 operating results include a $40.3 million pre-tax non-cash charge related to lease accounting,
which includes the impact on prior years and reflects additional amortization of leasehold improvements and
additional rent expense, and a $21.3 million income tax benefir from the repatriation of earnings from our
Mexican operations and other discrete income tax items.

(3) Fiscal 2004 operating results include §42.1 million in pre-tax gains from warranty negotiations with certain

vendors.

17




{4) Fiscal 2003 operating results include 83.7 million in pre-tax gains from warranty negotiations, a $4.7 million
pre-tax gain associated with the settlement of certain liabilities and the repayment of a note associated with the
sale of the TruckPro business in December 2001, and a $4.6 million pre-tax gain as a result of the disposition of
properties associated with the 2001 res'ructuring and impairment charges.

{3) The domestic comparable sales increases (decreases) are based on sales for all domestic stores open at least
one year.

(6) Inventory turnover is calculated as cost of sales divided by the average of the beginning and ending recorded
merchandise inventories, which exchides merchandise under pay-on-scan arrangements. The caleulation
includes cost of sales related to pav-on-scan sales, which were $85.4 million for the 52 weeks ended August 25,
2007, 3198.1 million for the 52 weeks ended August 26, 2006, $234.6 million for the 52 weeks ended August 27,
2005, and $83.2 million for the 52 weeks ended August 28, 2004.

(7) After-tax return on invested capital is calculated as after-tax operating profit (excluding rent and restructuring
and impairment charges) divided by average invested capital (which includes a factor to capitalize operating
leases). See Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

(8) Cash flow before share repurchases anc' changes in debt is calculated as the change in cash and cash
equivalents less the change in debt plus treasury stock purchases. See Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial
Measures in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
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Itern 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

We are the nation’s leading specialty retailer and a leading distributor of automotive parts and accessories, with
most of our sales to do-it-yourself (“DIY”) customers. We began operations in 1979 and as of August 25, 2007,
operated 3,933 stores in the United States and Puerto Rico, and 123 in Mexico. Each of our stores carries an
extensive product line for cars, sport utility vehicles, vans and light trucks, including new and remanufactured
automotive hard parts, maintenance items, accessories and non-automotive products. In many of our stores we also
have a commercial sales program that provides commercial credit and prompt delivery of parts and other products to
local, regional and national repair garages, dealers and service stations. We also sell the ALLDATA brand
automotive diagnostic and repair software. On the web, we sell diagnostic and repair information and automotive
hard parts, maintenance items, accessories, and non-automotive products through www.autozone.com. We do not
derive revenue from automotive repair or installation.

Results of Operations
Fiscal 2007 Compared with Fiscal 2006

For the year ended August 25, 2007, AutoZone reported net sales of $6.170 bilfion compared with $5.948 bitlion for
the year ended August 26, 2006, a 3.7% increase from fiscal 2006. This growth was primarily driven by an increase
in the number of open stores. At August 25, 2007, we operated 3,933 domestic stores and 123 in Mexico, compared
with 3,771 domestic stores and 100 in Mexico at August 26, 2006. Domestic retail sales increased 3.4% and
domestic commercial sales decreased 0.4% from prior year. ALLDATA and Mexico sales increased over prior
year, contributing 0.9 percentage points of the total increase in net sales. Domestic same store sales, or sales for
domestic stores open at least one year, increased 0.19 from the prior year.

Gross profit for fiscal 2007 was $3.064 billion, or 49.7% of net sales, compared with $2.939 billion, or 49.4% of net
sales, for fiscal 2006. The improvement in gross profit margin was primarily attributable to ongoing category
management initiatives and supply chain efficiencies,

Operating, selling, general and administrative expenses for fiscal 2007 increased to $2.009 billion, or 32.6% of net
sales, from $1.929 billion, or 32.4% of net sales for fiscal 2006. The increase in expenses is driven primarily by
higher occupancy cost versus the prior year,

Interest expense, net for fiscal 2007 was $119.1 million compared with $107.9 million during fiscal 2006. This
increase was primarily due to higher short term rates and higher average borrowing levels over the comparable prior
year period and the recognition of interest expense on capital lease obligations that were accounted for as operating
leases prior to a modification to the lease agreements in fiscal 2007, Average borrowings for fiscal 2007 were
$1.972 billion, compared with $1.928 billion for fiscal 2006. Weighted average borrowing rates were 5.7% at
August 25, 2007, compared to 5.5% at August 26, 2006.

Our effective income tax rate decreased to 36.4% of pre-tax income for fiscal 2007 as compared to 36.9% for fiscal
2006 primarily due to benefits from changes in our pre-tax earnings mix and an increase in certain federal and state
tax credits. Refer to "Note D) - Income Taxes" for additional information regarding our income tax rate.

Net income for fiscal 2007 increased by 4.6% to $595.7 million, and diluted earnings per share increased by 13.6%

10 $8.53 from $7.50 in fiscal 2006. The impact of the fiscal 2007 stock repurchases on diluted earnings per share in
fiscal 2007 was an increase of approximately $0.14.
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Fiscal 2006 Compared with Fiscal 2005

For the year ended August 26, 2006, AutoZor e reported sales of $5.948 billion compared with $5.71 1 billion for the
year ended August 27, 2005, a 4.2% increase from fiscal 2005. This growth was primarily driven by an increase in
the number of open stores. At August 26, 2006, we operated 3,771 domestic stores and 100 in Mexico, compared
with 3,592 domestic stores and 81 in Mexico 1t August 27, 2005. Domestic Retail sales increased 4.0% and
domestic commercial sales decreased 1.3% from prior year. ALLDATA and Mexico sales increased over prior
year, contributing 0.9 percentage points of the total increase. Same store sales, or sales for domestic stores open at
least one year, increased 0.4% from the prior year.

Gross profit for fiscal 2006 was $2.939 billion, or 49.4% of net sales, compared with $2.793 billion, or 48.9% of net
sales, for fiscal 2005. The improvement in gross profit margin was primarily attributable to ongoing category
management initiatives, partially off-set by inzreases in certain commeadity costs. Our ongoing category
management initiatives have included continued optimization of merchandise assortment and pricing, management
of procurement costs, and an increasing focus on direct importing initiatives.

Operating, selling, general and administrative expenses for fiscal 2006 increased to $1.929 billion, or 32.4% of net
sales, from $1.817 billion, or 31.8% of net sales for fiscal 2005. Expenses for fiscal 2005 include a $40.3 million
charge related to accounting for leases (sce “Mote J — Leases™). Expenses for fiscal 2006 include $17.4 million in
share-based compensation expense resulting {rom the current year adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123(R), “Share-Based Paymen:” (see “Note B — Share-Based Payments™). The remaining increase in
expenses is driven by initiatives to improve tt e customer’s shopping experience and higher occupancy costs driven
largely by the opening of new stores. These iaitiatives continue to include expanded hours of operation, enhanced
training programs and ensuring clean, well-m>rchandised stores,

Interest expense, net for fiscal 2006 was $107.9 million compared with $102.4 million during fiscal 2005. This
increase was due to a higher average borrowing rate, partially offset bv lower average borrowing levels. Average
borrowings for fiscal 2006 were $1.928 billion, compared with $1.970 billion for fiscal 2005. Weighted average
borrowing rates were 5.5% at August 26, 2005, compared to 5.2% at August 27, 2005. The increase in interest rates
reflects both the ongoing effort to extend the 1erms of our borrowings, as well as the impact from increased short-
term rates.

Our effective income tax rate increased to 36.9% of pre-tax income for fiscal 2006 as compared to 34.6% for fiscal
2005. The fiscal 2005 effective income tax rae reflects $21.3 miilion in tax benefits related to the repatriation of
Mexican earnings as a result of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (see *“Note D — Income Taxes™), and other
discrete income tax items.

Net income for fiscal 2006 decreased by 0.3%) to $569.3 million, and diluted earnings per share increased by 4.5% to
$7.50 from $7.18 in fiscal 2005. The impact of the fiscal 2006 stock repurchases on diluted earnings per share in
fiscal 2006 was an increase of approximately $0.09.

Seasonality and Quarterly Periods

AutoZone’s business is somewhat seasonal ir nature, with the highest sales occurring in the spring and summer
months of March through August, in which average weekly per-store sales historically have been about 15% to 25%
higher than in the slower months of December through February. During short periods of time, a store’s sales can be
affected by weather conditions. Extremely hot or extremely cold weather may enhance sales by causing parts to fail
and spurring sales of seasonal products. Mild or rainy weather tends to soften sales as parts failure rates are lower in
mild weather and elective maintenance is defi:rred during periods of rainy weather. Over the longer term, the effects
of weather balance out, as we have stores throughout the United States and Mexico.

Each of the first three quarters of AutoZone’s fiscal year consists of 12 weeks, and the fourth quarter consists of 16
weeks. Because the fourth quarter contains the seasonally high sales volume and consists of 16 weeks, compared
with 12 weeks for each of the first three quaners, our fourth quarter represents a disproportionate share of the annual
net sales and net income. The fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 represented 32.5% of annual sales and 36.5% of net
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income; the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 represented 32.6% of annual sales and 37.5% of net income; and the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2005 represented 33.0% of annual sales and 36.2% of net income.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net cash provided by operating activities was $845.2 million in fiscal 2007, $822.7 million in fiscal 2006, and
$648.1 million in fiscal 2005. The primary source of our liquidity is our cash flows realized through the sale of
automotive parts and accessories. Our new store development program requires working capital, predominantly for
inventories. During the past three fiscal years, we have maintained an accounts payable to inventory ratio of 93% at
August 25, 2007, 92% at August 26, 2006, and 93% at August 27, 2005. The increase in merchandise inventories,
required to support new store development and sales growth, has largely been financed by our vendors, as evidenced
by our accounts payable to inventory ratio. Contributing to this ratio is the use of pay-on-scan (“POS”)
arrangements with certain vendors. Under a POS arrangement, AutoZone will not purchase merchandise supplied
by a vendor until that merchandise is ultimately sotd to AutoZone’s customers. Upon the sale of the merchandise to
AutoZone’s customers, AutoZone recognizes the liability for the goods and pays the vendor in accordance with the
agreed-upon terms. Revenues under POS arrangements are included in net sales in the income statement. Since we
do not own merchandise under POS arrangements until just before it is sold to a customer, such merchandise is not
included in our balance sheet. Merchandise under POS arrangements was $22.4 million at August 25, 2007.

AutoZone’s primary capital requirement has been the funding of its continued new store development program.
From the beginning of fiscal 2005 to August 25, 2007, we have opened 573 net new stores. Net cash flows used in
investing activities were $228.7 million in fiscal 2007, compared to $268.3 million in fiscal 2006 and $282.8 million
in fiscal 2005. We invested $224.5 million in capital assets in fiscal 2007, compared to $263.6 million in capital
assets in fiscal 2006 and $283.5 million in fiscal 2005. New store openings were 186 for fiscal 2007, 204 for fiscal
2006, and 193 for fiscal 2005. During fiscal 2006, we began investing a portion of our assets held by the Company’s
wholly owned insurance captive in marketable securities. We acquired $94.6 million of marketable securities in
fiscal 2007 and acquired $160.0 million in fiscal 2006. We had proceeds from matured marketable securities of
$86.9 million in fiscal 2007 and $145.4 million in fiscal 2006. Capital asset disposals provided $3.5 million in fiscal
2007, $9.8 million in fiscal 2006, and $3.8 million for fiscal 20035,

Net cash used in financing activities was $621.4 million in fiscal 2007, $537.7 million in fiscal 2006, and $367.4
million in fiscal 2005. The net cash used in financing activities is primarily attributable to purchases of treasury
stock which totaled $761.2 million for fiscal 2007, $578.1 million for fiscal 2006, and $426.9 million for fiscal
2005. The treasury stock purchases in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005 were primarily funded by cash flow from
operations, and at times, by increases in debt levels.

We expect to invest in our business consistent with historical rates during fiscal 2008, primarily related to our new
store development program and enhancements to existing stores and systems. [n addition to the building and land
costs, our new store development program requires working capital, predominantly for inventories. Historically, we
have negotiated extended payment terms from suppliers, reducing the working capital required. We believe that we
will be able to continue to finance much of our inventory requirements through favorable payment terms from
suppliers.

Depending on the timing and magnitude of our future investments (either in the form of leased or purchased
properties or acquisitions), we anticipate that we will rely primarily on internally generated funds and available
borrowing capacity to support a majority of our capital expenditures, working capital requirements and stock
repurchases. The balance may be funded through new borrowings. We anticipate that we will be able to obtain such
financing in view of our credit rating and favorable experiences in the debt markets in the past.

Credit Ratings

At August 25, 2007, AutoZone had a senior unsecured debt credit rating from Standard & Poor’s of BBB+ and a
commercial paper rating of A-2. Moody’s investors Service had assigned us a senior unsecured debt credit rating of
Baa2 and a commercial paper rating of P-2.  As of August 25, 2007, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s had AutoZone
listed as having a “stable” outlook. If our credit ratings drop, our interest expense may increase; similarly, we
anticipate that our interest expense may decrease if our investment ratings are raised. If our commercial paper
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ratings drop below current levels, we may h:.ve difficulty continuing to utilize the commercial paper market and our
interest expense will increase, as we will then be required to access more expensive bank lines of credit. If our
senior unsecured debt ratings drop below investment grade, our access to financing may become more limited.

Debt Facilities

We maintain $1.0 billion of revolving credit facilities with a group of banks to primarily support commercial paper
borrowings, letters of credit and other short-1erm unsecured bank loans. These facilities expire in May 2010, may be
increased to $1.3 billion at AutoZone’s election, may include up to $200 million in letters of credit, and may include
up to $100 million in capital leases. As the ¢vailable balance is reduced by commercial paper borrowings and
certain outstanding letters of credit, the Company had $680.2 million in available capacity under these facilities at
August 25, 2007. The rate of inter¢st payable under the credit facilities {s a function of Bank of America’s base rate
or a Eurodollar rate (each as defined in the ficility agreements), or a combination thereof.

Our $300.0 million bank term loan entered in December 2004 was amended in April 2006 to have similar terms and
conditions as the $1.0 billion credit facilities but with a December 2009 maturity, and was further amended in
August 2007 to reduce the interest rate on Evro-dollar loans. That credit agreement with a group of banks provides
for a term loan, which consists of, at our election, base rate loans, Eurodollar loans or a combination thereof. The
interest accrues on base rate loans at a base rite per annum equal to the higher of the prime rate or the Federal Funds
Rate plus 1/2 of 1%. Interest accrues on Eurcdollar loans at a defined Eurodollar rate plus the applicable percentage,
which can range from 30 basis points to 90 basis points, depending upon our senior unsecured (non-credit enhanced)
long-term debt rating. Based on our ratings at August 25, 2007, the applicable percentage on Eurodollar loans is 33
basis points. We may select interest periods of one, two, three or six months for Eurodollar loans, subject to
availability. Interest is payable at the end of the selected interest period, but no less frequently than quarterly. We
entered into an interest rate swap agreement on December 29, 2004, to effectively fix, based on current debt ratings,
the interest rate of the term loan at 4.4%. We have the option to extend loans into subsequent interest period(s) or
convert them into loans of another interest rate type. The entire unpaid principal amount of the term loan will be due
and payable in full on December 23, 2009, when the facility terminates. We may prepay the term loan in whole or in
part at any time without penalty, subject to reimbursement of the lenders’ breakage and redeployment costs in the
case of prepayment of Eurodollar borrowing:.

During April 2006, our $150.0 million Senior Notes maturing at that time were repaid with an increase in
commercial paper. On June 8, 2006, we issu=d $200.0 million in 6.95% Senior Notes due 2016 under our existing
shelf registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 17, 2004. That shelf
registration allowed us to sell up to $300 mil ion in debt securities to fund general corporate purposes, including
repaying, redeeming or repurchasing outstanding debt, and for working capital, capital expenditures, new store
openings, stock repurchases and acquisitions The remainder of the shelf registration was cancelled in February,
2007,

Our borrowings under our Senior Notes arrangements contain minimal covenants, primarily restrictions on liens.
Under our other borrowing arrangements, covenants include limitations on tota! indebtedness, restrictions on liens, a
minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and a provision where repayment obligations may be accelerated if AutoZone
experiences a change in control (as defined in the agreements). All of the repayment obligations under our
borrowing arrangements may be accelerated ind come due prior to the scheduled payment date if covenants are
breached or an event of default occurs. As o:" August 25, 2007, we were in compliance with all covenants and
expect to remain in compliance with all coveiants.

Stock Repurchases

During 1998, the Company announced a program permitting the Company to repurchase a portion of its outstanding
shares not to exceed a dollar maximum estab ished by the Company’s Board of Directors. The program was most
recently amended in June 2007 to increase th: repurchase authorization to $5.9 billion from $5.4 billion. From
January 1998 to August 23, 2007, the Company has repurchased a total of 99.3 million shares at an aggregate cost of
$5.4 billion. The Company repurchased 6.0 million shares of its common stock at an aggregate cost of $761.9
miliion during fiscal 2007, 6.2 million shares of its common stock at an aggregate cost of $578.1 miltion during
fiscal 2006, and 4.8 million shares of its com non stock at an aggregate cost of $426.9 million during fiscal 2005.
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Financial Commitments
The following table shows AutoZone's significant contractual obligations as of August 25, 2007

Total Payment Due by Period
Contractual Less than Between Between Over s
(in_thousands) Obligations _1vyear  1-3 vears 4-5 vears years

Long-term debt (1) ..o $1,935,618 $435618 $300,000 $200,000  $1,000,000
Interest payments (2) ....ooeeeeeeeeceteiarinesiesssesnnns 500,707 96,988 154,506 113,300 130,913
Operating 1eases (3) oo 1,312,252 171,163 291,970 214,934 634,135
Capital leases (4) oo 62,510 16,015 28,928 17,567 —
Self-insurance reserves {3) . 141,815 45,727 45,283 22415 28,390
Construction obligations ............coovvvemiicianeenns 23.804 23.804 —

SI076706 SI89ls $R2068] 5573266 _SLI93.438

(1) Long-term debt balances represent principal maturities, excluding interest. At August 25, 2007, debt balances
due in less than one year of $435.6 million are classified as long-term in our consolidated financial statements,
as we have the ability and intent to refinance them on a long-term basis.

(2) Represents obligations for interest payments on long-term debt, including the effect of interest rate hedges.

(3) Operating lease obligations include related interest and are inclusive of amounts accrued within deferred rent
and closed store obligations reflected in our consolidated balance sheets.

(4) Capital lease obligations include related interest.

(5) The Company retains a significant portion of the risks associated with workers compensation, employee health,
general and product liability, property, and automotive insurance. These amounts represent undiscounted
estimates based on actuarial calculations. Although these obligations do not have scheduled maturities , the
timing of future payments are predictable based upon historical patterns. Accordingly, the Company reflects the
net present value of these obligations in its consolidated balance sheels.

We have other obligations reflected in our balance sheet that are not reflected in the table above due to the absence
of scheduled maturities or due to the nature of the account. Therefore, the timing of these payments cannot be
determined, except for amounts estimated to be payable in 2008 that are included in current liabilities.

We have certain contingent liabilities that are not accrued in our balance sheet in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States. These contingent liabilities are not included in the table above.

Qff-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The following table reflects outstanding letters of credit and surety bonds as of August 25, 2007.

Total
Other
{in thousands) Commitments
Standby Leters 0F CrEGIt ... ..ot $ 113,305
SUTELY BOMAS «vveieeieeeeieiet et bbb b e bbb LR SRS b s bbbt 11.286

§ 124,591

A substantial portion of the outstanding standby letters of credit (which are primarily renewed on an annual basis)
and surety bonds are used to cover reimbursement obligations to our workers’ compensation carriers. There are no
additional contingent liabilities associated with them as the underlying liabilities are already reftected in our
consolidated balance sheet. The standby letters of credit and surety bonds arrangements expire within one year, but
have automatic renewal clauses.

In conjunction with our commercial sales program, we offer credit to some of our commercial customers. The
majority of our receivables related to the credit program are sold to a third party at a discount for cash with limited
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recourse. AutoZone has recorded a reserve fo: this recourse. At August 25, 2007, the receivables facility had an
outstanding balance of $55.3 million and the halance of the recourse reserve was $1.8 mitlion.

We have entered into POS arrangements with certain vendors, whereby we will not purchase merchandise supplied
by a vendor until just before that merchandise 1s ultimately sold 1o our customers. Title and certain risks of
ownership remain with the vendor until the mzrchandise is sold to our customers. Since we do not own merchandise
under POS arrangements until just before it is sold to a customer, such merchandise is not recorded on our balance
sheet. Upon the sale of the merchandise to our customers, we recognize the liability for the goods and pay the
vendor in accordance with the agreed-upon te:ms. Although we do not hold title to the goods, we do control pricing
and have credit collection risk and therefore, gross revenues under POS arrangements are included in net sales in the
income statement. Sales of merchandise under POS arrangements approximated $170.0 million in fiscal 2007,
$390.0 million in fiscal 2006, and $460.0 million in fiscal 2005. Merchandise under POS arrangements was $22.4
million at August 25, 2007 and $92.1 million at August 26, 2006.

Value of Pension Assets

At August 25, 2007, the fair market value of nutoZone’s pension assets was $161.2 million, and the related
accumulated benefit obligation was $161.1 m:1lion based on a May 31, 2007 measurement date. On January 1, 2003,
our defined benefit pension plans were frozen. Accordingly, plan participants earn no new benefits under the plan
formulas, and no new participants may join the plans. The material assumptions for fiscal 2007 are an expected
long-term rate of return on plan assets of 8.0%; and a discount rate of 6.25%. For additional information regarding
AutoZone’s qualified and non-qualified pension plans refer to “Note | - Pensions and Savings Plans” in the
accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financinl Statements.

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

“Selected Financial Data™ and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations™ include certain financial measures not derived in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”). These non-GAAP finarcial measures provide additional information for determining our
optimum capital structure and are used to assist management in evaluating performance and in making appropriate
business decisions to maximize stockholders” value,

Non-GAAP financial measures should not be used as a substitute for GAAP financial measures, or considered in
isolation, for the purpose of analyzing our operating performance, financial position or cash flows. However, we
have presented the non-GAAP financial meas ires, as we believe they provide additional information to analyze or
compare our operations. Furthermore, our management and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors use
the abovementioned non-GAAP financial me: sures to analyze and compare our underlying operating results and to
determine payments of performance-based co npensation. We have included a reconciliation of this information to
the most comparable GAAP measures in the following reconciliation tables.

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measire: Cash Flow Before Share Repurchases and Changes in Debt
The following table reconctles net increase (dcrease) in cash and cash equivalents to cash flow before share
repurchases and changes in debt, which is pre;ented in the “Selected Financial Data™.

Fiscal Year Ended August

(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents & (4,904) § 16,748 $§ (2,042) $(16,250) § 22,796
Less: Increase (decrease) indebt.................... o 78,461 (4,693) (7,400) 322,405 352,328
Less: Share repurchases ........cccocooeeiirniininsreeenes {761.887y _(578,066) (426,852) (848.102) _(891,095)
Cash flow before share repurchases and

changes in debt.......ocoeveeeeceer e $678,522 $599,507 $432210 $509.447 $561,563
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measure: After-Tax Return on Invested Capital

The following table reconciles the percentages of after-tax return on invested capital, or “ROIC.” Afer-tax return
on invested capital is calculated as after-tax operating profit (excluding rent) divided by average invested capital
(which includes a factor to capitalize operating leases). The ROIC percentages are presented in the “Selected
Financial Data.”

(in thousands, except percentage data)

Fiscal Year Ended August

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Net ingOmE ..o $ 595672 $ 569275 $ 571,019 § 566202 § 517,604
Adjustments:

Afler-1ax interesh..n i iieieees 75,793 68,089 65,533 58,003 52,686

AfEr-1aX [0t .o 97,050 90,808 96,367 73.086 68,764
After-tax return $ 768515 3§ 728,172 $ 732919 $._ 697291 §__ 639,054
Average debt (1) 3 1,955,652 8 1,909,011 $ 1,969,639 $ 1,787,307 § 1,484,987
Average equity (2)..cooverviemreee et 478,853 510,657 316,639 292,802 580,176
RENt X 6 (3) oo nenesessntens 915,138 863,328 774,706 701,621 663,990
Average capital lease obligations (4) ......... 30,538 - - - -
Pre-tax invested capital ... _§ 3380181 § 3,282,996 § 3,060984 $2,781,730 § 2,729,153
ROTC corieeecerenmcrmcsssisss s s ssaesees 22.7% 22.2% 23.9% 25.1% 21.4%

(1) Average debt is equal to the average of our long-term debt measured at the end of the prior fiscal year and each
of the 13 fiscal periods in the current fiscal year. Long-term debt (in thousands) was $1,194,517 at August 31,
2002.

(2) Average equity is equal to the average of our stockholders’ equity measured at the end of the prior fiscal year
and each of the 13 fiscal periods of the current fiscal year. Stockholders’ equity (in thousands) was $£689,127 at
August 31, 2002.

(3) Rent is multiplied by a factor of six to capitalize operating leases in the determination of pre-tax invested
capital. This calculation excludes the impact from the cumulative lease accounting adjustments recorded in the
second quarter of fiscal 2005.

(4) Average of the capital lease obligations relating to vehicle capital leases entered into at the beginning of fiscal

2007 is computed as the average over the trailing 13 periods. Rent expense associated with the vehicles prior to
the conversion to capital leases is included in the rent for purposes of calculating return on invested capital.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes™ (“FIN 487} in June 2006. The interpretation clarifies the accounting for uncertainty
in income taxes recognized in financial state nents in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes.” FIN 48 will be effective for our fiscal year beginning August 26, 2007. The Company has not determined
the effect, if any, that the adoption of FIN 48 will have on the Company’s financial position and results of
operations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued FASB 'Statement No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements™ (“SFAS 1577). This
new siandard defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP), and expands disclosures ibout fair value measurements. SFAS 157 will be effective for
AutoZone in fiscal 2009. The Company is still in the process of evaluating the impact, if any, that SFAS 157 will
have on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

On September 29, 2006, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 158, "Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans -- An Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132R ("SFAS
158"). This new standard requires an employer to: (a) recognize in its statement of financial position an asset for a
plan’s overfunded status or a liability for a plen’s underfunded status; (b) measure a plan's assets and its obligations
that determine its funded status as of the end of the employer's fiscal year (with limited exceptions); and (c)
recognize changes in the funded status of a defined benefit postretirement plan in the year in which the changes
occur, Those changes will be reported in comyrehensive income. We adopted the recognition and disctosure
provisions of SFAS 158 during 2007 and will adopt the measurement date provisions in 2009. Please refer to Note |
(Pension and Savings Plan) for further descrigtion of this adoption.

In February 2007, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities” (“SFAS 159™). This new standard permits entities to choose to measure many financial
instruments and certain other items at fair value. SFAS 159 will be eftective for AutoZone in fiscal 2009, The
Company is still in the process of evaluating the impact, if any, that it will have on the Company’s financial position
and results of operations.

Critical Accounting Policies

Preparation of our consolidated financial stateinents requires us to make estimates and assumptions affecting the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period and related disclosures of contingent liabilities, In the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, we describe our significent accounting policies used in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Our policies are evaluated on an o)1going basis and are drawn from historical experience and other
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ under different
assumptions or conditions. Qur senior manageinent has identified the critical accounting policies for the areas that
are materially impacted by estimates and assumptions and have discussed such policies with the Audit Committee of
our Board of Directors. The following items in our consolidated financial statements require significant estimation
or judgment:

Inventory and Cost of Sales

We state our inventories at the lower of cost or market using the last-in, first-out (“LIFO™) method. Included in
inventory are related purchasing, storage and handling costs. Due to price deflation on the Company’s merchandise
purchases, the Company’s inventory balances are effectively maintained under the first-in, first-out method as the
Company’s policy is not to write up inventory for favorable LIFO adjustments, resulting in cost of sales being
reflected at the higher amount. Since inventory value is adjusted regularly to reflect market conditions, our
inventory methodology refiects the lower of cost or market. The nature of our inventory is such that the risk of
obsolescence is minimal and excess inventory has historically been returned to our vendors for credit. We provide
reserves where less than full credit will be received for such returns and where we anticipate that items will be sold
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at retail prices that are less than recorded costs. Additionally, we reduce inventory for estimated losses related to
shrinkage. Our shrink estimate is based on historical losses verified by ongoing physical inventory counts.

Vendor Allowances

AutoZone receives various payments and allowances from its vendors based on the volume of purchases or for
services that AutoZone provides to the vendors. Monies received from vendors include rebates, allowances and
promotional funds. The amounts to be received are subject to purchase volumes and the terms of the vendor
agreements, which generally do not state an expiration date, but are subject to ongoing negotiations that may be
impacted in the future based on changes in market conditions, vendor marketing strategies and changes in the
profitability or sell-through of the related merchandise. The Company’s level of advertising and other operating,
selling, general and administrative expenditures are not dependent on vendor allowances.

Rebates and other miscellaneous incentives are earned based on purchases or product sales and are accrued ratably
over the purchase or sale of the related product, but only if it is reasonably certain that the required volume levels
will be reached. These monies are recorded as a reduction of inventories and are recognized as a reduction to cost of
sales as the related inventories are sold.

For all allowances and promotional funds eamned under vendor funding, the Company applies the guidance pursuant
to the Emerging !ssues Task Force Issue No. 02-16, “Accounting by a Customer (Including a Reseller) for Cash
Consideration Received from a Vendor” (“EITF 02-16™), by recording the vendor funds as a reduction of inventories
that are recognized as a reduction to cost of sales as the inventories are sold. The Company’s vendor funding
arrangements do not provide for any reimbursement arrangements that are for specific, incremental, identifiable
costs that are permitted under EITF 02-16 for the funding to be recorded as a reduction to advertising or other
operating, selling, general and administrative expenses.

Impairments

In accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”), we evaluate the recoverability of the carrying
amounts of long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, covered by this standard annually and more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances dictate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. As part of
the evaluation, we review performance at the store level to identify any stores with current period operating losses
that should be considered for impairment. We compare the sum of the undiscounted expected future cash flows with
the carrying amounts of the assets.

Under the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets” (“SFAS 142™), we perform an annual test of goodwill to compare the estimated fair value of goodwill to the
carrying amount to determine if any impairment exists. We perform the annual impairment assessment in the fourth
quarter of each fiscal year, unless circumstances dictate more frequent assessments.

If impairments are indicated by either of the above evaluations, the amount by which the carrying amount of the
assets exceeds the fair value of the assets is recognized as an impairment loss. Such evaluations require management
to make certain assumptions based upon information available at the time the evaluation is performed, which could
differ from actual results.

Self-Insurance

We retain a significant portion of the risks associated with workers’ compensation, vehicle, employee health,
general and product liability and property losses. Liabilities associated with these losses include estimates of both
claims filed and losses incurred but not yet reported. Through various methods, which include analyses of historical
trends and utilization of actuaries, the Company estimates the costs of these risks. The actuarial estimated long-term
portions of these liabilities are recorded at our estimate of their net present value; other liabilities are not discounted.
We believe the amounts accrued are adequate, although actual losses may differ from the amounts provided. We
maintain stop-loss coverage to limit the exposure related to certain risks.

Income Taxes

We accrue and pay income taxes based on the tax statutes, regulations and case law of the various jurisdictions in
which we operate. Income tax expense involves management judgment as to the ultimate resolution of any tax
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matters in dispute with state, federal and foreign tax authorities. Management believes the resolution of the current
open tax issues will not have a material imgpact on our consolidated financial statements.

Litigation and Other Contingent Liabilities

We have received claims related to and bee 1 notified that we are a defendant in a number of legal proceedings
resulting from our business, such as employ ment matters, product liability claims and general liability claims related
to our store premises. We calculate contingent loss accruals using our best estimate of our probable and reasonably
estimable contingent lLiabilities.

Pension Obligation

Prior to January 1, 2003, substantially all full-time employees were covered by a defined benefit pension plan. The
benefits under the plan were based on years of service and the employee’s highest consecutive five-year average
compensation. On January 1, 2003, the plan was frozen. Accordingly, pension plan participants will earn no new
benefits under the plan formula and no new participants will join the pension plan. On January 1, 2003, the
Company’s supplemental defined benefit pension plan for certain highly compensated employees was also frozen.
Accordingly, plan participants will earn no new benefits under the plan formula and no new participants will join the
pension plan. As the plan benefits are frozen, the annual pension expense and recorded liabilities are not impacted
by increases in future compensation levels, Hut are impacted by actuarial calculations using two key assumptions:

1. Expected long-term rate of return oi1 plan assets: estimated by considering the composition of our asset

portfolio, our historical long-term investment performance and current market conditions.

ii. Discount rate used to determine benefit obligations: adjusted annually based on the interest rate for long-
term high-quality corporate bonds as of the measurement date (May 31) using yields for maturities that are in line
with the duration of our pension liabilities. “’his same discount rate i also used to determine pension expense for the
following plan year. If such assumptions differ materially from actual experience, the impact could be material to
our financial statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

AutoZone is exposed to market risk from, among other things, changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and
tuel prices. From time to time, we use various financial instruments to reduce interest rate and fuel price risks. To
date, based upon our current level of foreigr. operations, hedging costs and past changes in the associated foreign
exchange rates, no derivative instruments he ve been utilized to reduce foreign exchange rate risk. All of our hedging
activities are governed by guidelines that are: authorized by our Board of Directors. Further, we do not buy or sell
financial instruments for trading purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

AutoZone’s financial market risk results primarily from changes in interest rates. At times, we reduce our exposure
to changes in interest rates by entering into various interest rate hedge instruments such as interest rate swap
contracts, treasury lock agreements and forvard-starting interest rate swaps.

AutoZone has historically utilized interest rzte swaps to convert variable rate debt to fixed rate debt and to lock in
fixed rates on future debt issuances. We reflect the current fair value of all interest rate hedge instruments in our
consclidated balance sheets as a component of other assets. All of the Company’s interest rate hedge instruments
are designated as cash flow hedges. We had an outstanding interest rate swap with a fair value of $5.8 million at
August 25, 2007, and $10.2 million at August 26, 2006, to effectively fix the interest rate on the $300.0 million term
loan entered into during December 2004,

The related gains and losses on interest rate 1edges are deferred in stockholders’ equity as a component of other
comprehensive income or loss. These deferr :d gains and losses are recognized in income as a decrease or increase to
interest expense in the period in which the related cash flows being hedged are recognized in expense. However, to
the extent that the change in value of an inte ;est rate hedge instrument does not perfectly offset the change in the
value of the cash flow being hedged, that ine ffective portion is immediately recognized in income. The Company’s
hedge instrument was determined to be highly effective as of August 25, 2007,
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The fair value of our debt was estimated at $1.928 billion as of August 25, 2007, and $1.825 billion as of August 26,
2006, based on the quoted market prices for the same or similar debt issues or on the current rates available to
AutoZone for debt having the same remaining maturities. Such fair value is less than the carrying value of debt by
$7.6 million at August 25, 2007, and less than the carrying value of debt by $32.3 million at August 26, 2006.
Considering the effect of any interest rate swaps designated and effective as cash flow hedges, we had $245.6
million of variable rate debt outstanding at August 25, 2007, and $167.2 million of variable rate debt outstanding at
August 26, 2006. At these borrowing levels for variable rate debt, a one percentage point increase in interest rates
would have had an unfavorable impact on our pre-tax earnings and cash flows of $2.5 million in 2007 and $1.7
million in 2006, which includes the effects of interest rate swaps. The primary interest rate exposure on variable rate
debt is based on LIBOR. Considering the effect of any interest rate swaps designated and effective as cash flow
hedges, we had outstanding fixed rate debt of $1.690 billion at August 25, 2007, and at August 26, 2006. A one
percentage point increase in interest rates would reduce the fair value of our fixed rate debt by $60.8 million at
August 25, 2007, and $68.3 million at August 26, 2006.

Fuel Price Risk

Fuel swap contracts that we utilize have not previously been designated as hedging instruments under the provisions
of SFAS 133 and thus do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment, aithough the instruments were executed to
economically hedge a portion of our diesel fuel and unleaded fuel exposure. As of August 25, 2007, the then current
month’s fuel swap contract was outstanding with a settlement date of August 31, 2007. During fiscal 2007 and 2005,
we entered into fuel swaps to economically hedge a portion of our diesel fuel exposure. These swaps were settled
within a few days of each fiscal year end and had no significant impact on cost of sales for the 2007 or 2005 fiscal
vears. We did not enter into any fuel swap contracts during fiscal 2006.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Qur management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Rules [3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Our internal
control over financial reporting includes, among other things, defined poticies and procedures for conducting and
governing our business, sophisticated information systems for processing transactions and properly trained staff.
Mechanisms are in place to monitor the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, including
regular testing performed by the Company’s internal audit tearn, which is comprised of both Deloitte & Touche LLLLP
professionals and Company personnel. Actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they are identified. Our
procedures for financial reporting include the active involvement of senior management, our Audit Committee and a
staff of highly qualified financial and legal professionals.

Management, with the participation of our principal executive and financial officers, assessed our internal control
over financial reporting as of August 25, 2007, the end of our fiscal year. Management based its assessment on
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria).

Based on this assessment, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective
as of August 25, 2007.

Our independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, audited the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting. Ernst & Young has issued their report concurring with management’s assessment,
which is included in this Annual Report.

Certifications

Compliance with NYSE Corporate Governance Listing Standards
On January 12, 2007, the Company submitted to the New York Stock Exchange the Annual CEO Certification
required pursuant to Section 303A.12(a) of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual.

Rule 13a-14(a) Certifications of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer

The Company has filed, as exhibits to its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 25, 2007,
the certifications of its Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer required pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2004.
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Report of Independent Registered Public A.ccounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of AutoZone, Inc.

We have audited AutoZone, Inc.’s internal ¢ontrol over financial reporting as of August 25, 2007, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). AutoZone, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting included in the accompanying Maagement’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over finincial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Qur audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exisls, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reportirg and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as jecessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely det:ction of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements,

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements,
Also, projections of any evatuation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, AutoZone, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of August 25, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of AutoZone, Inc. as of Auguest 25, 2007 and August 26, 2006 and the
related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended August 25, 2007 of AutoZone, Inc. and our report dated October 19, 2007 expressed an ungualified
opinion thereon.

/sf Ernst & Young LLP

Memphis, Tennessee
October 19, 2007
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of AutoZone, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of AutoZone, Inc, as of August 25, 2007 and
August 26, 2006 and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended August 25, 2007. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overalt
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of AutoZone, Inc. as of August 25, 2007 and August 26, 2006, and the consolidated results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended August 25, 2007, in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of AutoZone, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of August 25, 2007, based
on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated October 19, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon,

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Memphis, Tennessee
October 19, 2007
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Consolidated Statements of Income

Year Ended

August 25, August 26, August 27,
2007 2006 2005

{in thousands, except per ;hare data) (52 Weeks) _ (52 Weeks) (52 Weeks)
NELSAIES ..t et b $ 6,169,804 $ 5948355 5§ 5,710,882
Cost of sales, including warehouse and delively expenses..........coccevnene. 3,105,554 3,009,835 2,918,334
Operating, setling, general and administrative eXpenses .........c.ccecvevveeuens 2,008,984 1,928,595 1,816,884
Operating Profit... ..o 1,055,266 1,009,925 975,664
INEETESt EXPEIISE, MEL . ieteiieeeiitirieeiieeiee e eeceeeeesaennenseneesesmeeser e eneenbeseesesnens 119.116 107.889 102.443
Income befOre INCOME TAXES ..ooovvvvvvirirereresrsrsnsisssssserreeriessseresasmeeesanseeneanns 936,150 902,036 873,221
INCOME TAKXES ..cvirriniiii et ess e resas s e st e sne 340,478 332,761 302202
NELIMCOME ....veeeutearee ettt et et e se b mes e babsbe e ememe s b e b b s ba et b baeat s $_ 595,672 275 § 571,019
Weighted average shares for basic earnings pershare..............ccccc.... 69,101 75,237 78,530
Effect of dilutive stock equivalents.........cococee oo 743 622 978
Adjusted weighted average shares for diluted :arnings per share............ 69,844 75,859 79,508
Basic earmnings per Share..........coooooiiiiiiiies et b 862 § 157 § 1.27
Diluted earnings per share............ooo e ot b 853 8 150 § 7.18

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemenrts.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents..........cccocvevveievvrevveieerinnnnnnnas
Accounts receivable ..o s
Merchandise INVENTOTIES ..o..ovvveeeieiriee e vreeeciseeecssieeaeens
Other CUTENT ASSEES .....eeieevereveeeiareeeiesisesssesrsnsessreressnnas

Total CurTent assetS......oooieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e

Property and equipment:
Land

(in thousands, except per share data)

Buildings and iMpProvemMEnNts.......cc.coveicreriiicreierirsreeriisees e sesssesesessesesesssaseresss

EQUIpPMENt ...ocoiiiccr e

Leasehold improvements
Construction in progress

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization

Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization...........covev...

Deferred income taxes
Other long-term assets

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

August 25, August 26,
2007 2006

................................................ $ 86,654 § 91,558
................................................ 59,876 80,363
................................................ 2,007,430 1,846,650
................................................ 116,495 100,356
................................................ 2,270,455 2,118,927
................................................ 625,992 588,444
1,720,172 1,566,002
................................................ 780,199 729,426
................................................ 183,601 165,577
................................................ 85.581 134,359
3,395,545 3,183,808
................................................ 1,217,703 1,132,500
2,177,842 2,051,308

................................................ 302,645 302,645
................................................ 21,331 20,643
................................................ 32.436 312.783
356412 356,071
5 4,804,709 § 4,526,306

ACCOUNES PAYADIE ..o et sn e e

Accrued expenses and Other ..o

INCOME LAXES PAYADBIE ceeeeiii et aaa e e et
DEfEITEd INCOME TAXES voivviiiviiict e ettt et ettt trtete et st e b e snes b s sesasesbesssrasrasanatas

Total current liabilities..........oovevviivveiiieiiveeee e,
Long-term debt.........ccoocciiiiiiiiiinineeee
Other Habilities.......oooviiiiiiie e ccetee e

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, authorized 1,000 shares; no shares issued.........c.oocevvevevvererecv v,
Common stock, par value $.01 per share, authorized 200,000 shares; 71,250

shares issued and 65,960 shares outstanding in 2007
shares issued and 71,082 shares outstanding in 2006

Additional paid-in capital..........cccocevevrivrniin

Retained earnings...........

and 77,240

Accumulated other comprehensive 0SS ........ooeeviiiiciiiiiieie e

Treasury stock, at COSt.......oooveeieeeieeeieeeee e
Total stockholders’ equity........c.coorveeimivrierrenin

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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¥ 1,870,668

$ 1,699,667

307,633 280,419
25,442 24,378
82.152 50,104
2,285,895 2,054,568
1,935,618 1,857,157
179,996 145,053
713 772
545,404 500,880
546,049 559,208
(9,550) (15,500)
(679.416) __ (575.832)
403,200 469,528
$ 4.804,709 $ 4,526,306




Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended
August 25, August 26, August 27,
2007 2006 2005
{in thousands) {52 Weeks) (52 Weeks) {52 Weeks)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income .. $ 595672 § 569275 § 571,019
Adjustments to recom:lle net income to net t ash pr0v1ded
by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment................ 159,411 139,465 135,597
Deferred rent liability adjustment ..........cccooerevvrieinicninincnecncinn. — — 21,527
Amortization of debt origination fees ... 1,719 1,559 2,343
Income tax benefit from exercise of stock options...........cocceeeeene. (16,523) (10,608) 31,828
Deferred INCOME tAXES ...c..vvvvvieriierrrerriee e reesisesssieesinesssreesinessnreesineerns 24,844 36,306 (16,628)
Income from warranty negotiations ... — — (1,736)
Share-based compensation EXPEnSe .........coeevvevecerrerinireesnieseennnes 18,462 17,370 —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable ... 20,487 37,900 (42,485)
Merchandise INVENTOTIES .....cvecieeemvveiseriersieariarsseesseisseiesisseinserseen e (160,780)  (182,790)  (124,566)
Accounts payable and accrued eXpenses.........cccceveeeiniininnneenenn 186,228 184,986 109,341
Income taxes payable .........ccormiiiiiininin 17,587 28,676 {67,343)
OThET, NMBL..viiiiiii s s s s s snersaassaessaetess s essaesssesreernseaneeens (1,913) 608 29.186
Net cash provided by operating activities ..........ccccocrnerrnnniesinreenenn 845,194 822,747 648,083
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital eXpenditures. .......o.cccocoeuceeiecee e (224,474)  (263,580) (283478)
Purchase of marketable SECUTILES ...c..eeevrverieierreninoreene e (94,615)  (159,957) —
Proceeds from sale of INVESTMENES.......ocoveervovrevireierereseeerrs e eeneeennns 86,921 145,369 —
ACQUISTHONS ..eiiiieieictce e cermcenesee s e e e e e see s enees — — (3,090)
Disposal of capital 8SSetS ....cocvueiviiiiiiciiinis e 3.453 9,845 3,797
Net cash used in inVesting aCVIIES ....cc. voceeiiciiiire e (228,715)  (268,323)  (282,77])
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net (repayments of) proceeds from commeicial paper.......cccooeveverennne. 84,300 (51,993)  (304,700)
Proceeds from issuance of debt......cccvcmvies civivivisiiiiein e — 200,000 300,000
Repayment of Senior NOtes .......oovvriiiinns v — {150,000) —
Net proceeds from sale of common Stock ... ..o 58,952 38,253 64,547
Purchase of treasury StOCK. ....ooeeeciieirieieer e s {761,887y  (578,066) (426,852)
Income tax benefit from exercise of stock options...........cooevi 16,523 10,608 —
Payments of capital lease Obligations. ... .cccoirveeeiereecnee e (11,360) — —
Other .. - (71.911) (6.478) (349
Net cash used n fmancmg actwmes .................................................. (621,383) (537,676) (367,354)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ..........ccoceeveenees (4,904) 16,748 (2,042)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year..........ocoocooiviinncinnnns 91,558 74,810 76,852
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year.........ccoevvvrninne e, § 86654 § 91,558 § _ 74,810
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid, net of interest cost capitalized ... § l 16,580 & 104,929
Income taxes paid ... § 299,566 $_267913 245
Assets acquired through capital 16ase..........coorririiiiiicices 3 gg,;; 5 § — 3 —

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Accumulated
Common Additional Other
Shares Common Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Treasury
(in thousands) Issued Stock LCapital Eurnings Loss Stock Total

Balance at August 28, 2004 ... £9,393 3894 $414,231 S5R0,147 $(15,653) ${808,226) $171,393
Net income 571,019 571,019
Minimum pension liability, net

of taxes of ($16,925), (25,293) (25,293)
Fareign currency translat

ud]u.strmnl . 5,160 5.160
Net gains on oulstandmg

derivatives, net of taxes ol'$1,589 ..., 2,707 2,717
Reclassification of derivative

ineffectiveness into earnings, net

of taxes of ($1,740)...mvniiniiininn {2,900) (2,900)
Reclassification of net gains on

derivatives into earnings..................... (612) (612)

Comprehensive inCome v, 550,091
Purchase of 4,822 shares of

treasury stock .. . (426,852) (426,852)
Retirement oflreasury slock (10,000} (100} {48,300) (780,890) 829,290 —
Sale of common stock under

stock option and stock

purchase plans ... S [.718 17 64,530 64,547
[ncome tax bcm:ﬁl tmm exercise ni

stack options ........... 31,828 31,828
Balance at August 27 2005 81,111 gl 462,289 370,276 {36,581) (405,788) 391,007
Net income 569,275 569,275
Minimum pension liability, net

of taxes 0of 514,629 ..o 2,532 22,532
Forcign currency translation

adjustment .............. (4.410) (4,410)
Unrealized lnss adJustmenl on

marketable securities, net of taxes of (L&1) (L&)

($98) ...
Net gains on owstanding

derivatives, net of taxes of 2,152 ...... 3,752 3,752
Reclassification of net gains on

derivatives into carnings .. (612) 612

Comprehensive income ... 590,356
Purchase of 6,187 shares of

treasury stock (578,066) (578,066)
Retirement of treasury stock.. (4,600) {46) {27.631) (380,343) 408,022 —
Sale of common stock under

stock option and stock

purchase plans ... " 729 7 38,246 38,253
Share-based cnmpensauon expense ....... 17,370 17,370
Income 1ax benefit from exercise of

stock options 10,608 10,608
Balance at August 26, 77.240 T2 500,830 559,208 (15,500} (575.832) 469,528
Net income 595,672 595,672
Minimum pension liability. net

of taxes of $2176 ..o 14,218 14,218
Foreign currency translation

adjustment ... . {3,240 {3,240)
Unrealized gam ad_]uslmcm on

marketzble sccurities, net of taxes

$56... 104 104
Net losses on outstanding

derivatives net of taxes of ($1,627) .... (2.813) (2.813)
Reclassification of net gains on

derivatives in1o earmings ........ccoeeevee {612) {612)

Comprehensive income ..., 603,329
Cumulative effect of adopting SFAS

158, net of taxes of (31,089 ..o, (1,70 (1,707
Purchase of 6,032 shares of

treasury stock ... (761.887) (761,887}
Retiremem of treasury stock.. {6,900) (68) {449.404) (608,831) 658,303 —
Sale of common stock under

stock option and stock

purchase plans ... 910 9 58,943 58952
Share-based compensation expense ....... 18.462 18,462
Income 1ax benefit from exercise of

SEOCK OPUOMS ... e s 16,523 16,523
Balance at August 25, 2007 21.250 s 713 ___$545,404 S__ 546,040 $ (9.550) $(679.416) $403,200

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Note A — Significant Accounting Pelicies

Business: AutoZone, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries (“AutoZone” or the “Company} is principally a
retailer and distributor of automotive parts and accessories. At the end of fiscal 2007, the Company operated 3,933
domestic stores in the United States and Puert» Rico, and 123 stores in Mexico. Each store carries an extensive
product line for cars, sport utility vehicles, vars and light trucks, including new and remanufactured automotive hard
parts, maintenance items, accessories and non-automotive products. Many of the stores have a commercial sales
program that provides commercial credit and prompt delivery of parts and other products to local, regional and
national repair garages, dealers and service stations. The Company also sells the ALLDATA brand automotive
diagnostic and repair software. On the web at www.autozone.com, the Company sells diagnostic and repair
information, auto and light truck parts, and accessories.

Fiscal Year: The Company’s fiscal year consists of 52 or 53 weeks ending on the last Saturday in August.

Basis of Presentation: The consolidated finarcial statements include the accounts of AutoZone, Inc. and its wholly
owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompzny transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates: Management of the Company has made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the
reporting of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities to prepare these financial statements.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash Equivalents: Cash equivalents consist of investments with original maturities of 90 days or less at the date of
purchase. Excluded from cash equivalents arc: investments in money market accounts, held by the Company’s
wholly owned insurance captive that was established during fiscal 2004. These investments approximated $5.2
million at August 25, 2007, and $8.0 million ¢t August 26, 2006. They are included within the other current assets
caption and are recorded at cost, which appro:imates market value, due to the short maturity of the investments.
Also included in cash equivalents are proceeds due from credit and debit card transactions with settlement terms of
less than 5 days. Credit and debit card receivables included within cash equivalents were $22.7 million at August 25,
2007 and $21.6 million at August 26, 2006.

Marketable Securities; During fiscal 2006, he Company began investing a portion of its assets held by the
Company’s wholly owned insurance captive in marketable debt securities. The Company accounts for these
securities in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“"SFAS™) No. 115, “Accounting for
Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities” (“SFAS 1157} and accordingly, classifies them as available-for-
sale. The Company includes the securities within the other current assets caption and records the amounts at fair
market value, which is determined using quotzd market prices at the end of the reporting period. Unrealized gains
and losses on these marketabie securities are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax.

The Company’s available-for-sale financial irstruments consisted of the following at:

Amortized Gross Gross Fair
Cost Unrealized Unrealized Market

(in thousands) Basis Gains Losses Value
August 25, 2007 .. s 357,245 £33 $(152) 57,126
AUgust 26, 2006 .....ccoverriiririereeees e 46,801 $13 $(292) 46,522

The debt securities held at August 25, 2007, had contractual maturities ranging from less than one year to
approximately 2 years. The Company did no: realize any material gains or losses on its marketable securities during
fiscal 2007. Prior to 2006, the Company did 10t invest in any securities required to be accounted for under SFAS
115.
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Accounts Receivable: Accounts receivable consists of receivables from customers and vendors, and are presented
net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts, AutoZone routinely grants credit to certain of its commercial
customers. The risk of credit loss in its trade receivables is substantially mitigated by the Company’s credit
evaluation process, short collection terms and sales to a large number of customers, as well as the low revenue per
transaction for most of its sates. Allowances for potential credit losses are determined based on historical experience
and current evaluation of the composition of accounts receivable. Historically, credit losses have been within
management’s expectations and the allowances for uncollectible accounts were $17.7 million at August 25, 2007,
and $13.7 million at August 26, 2006. The Company routinely sells the majority of its receivables to a third party at
a discount for cash with limited recourse. AutoZone has recorded a $1.8 million recourse reserve related to the $55.3
million in outstanding factored receivables at August 25, 2007. The recourse reserve at August 26, 2006
approximated $1.0 million related to the $53.4 million in outstanding factored receivables.

Merchandise Inventories: Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using the last-in, first-out (LIFO)
method. Included in inventory are related purchasing, storage and handling costs. Due to price deflation on the
Company’s merchandise purchases, the Company’s inventory balances are effectively maintained under the first-in,
first-out method as the Company’s policy is not to write up inventory for favorable LIFO adjustments, resulting in
cost of sales being reflected at the higher amount. The cumulative balance of this unrecorded adjustment, which
will be reduced upon experiencing price inflation on our merchandise purchases, was $227.9 million at August 25,
2007, and $198.3 million at August 26, 2006.

AutoZone has entered into pay-on-scan (“POS”) arrangements with certain vendors, whereby AutoZone will not
purchase merchandise supplied by a vendor until that merchandise is ultimately sold to AutoZone’s customers. Title
and certain risks of ownership remain with the vendor until the merchandise is sold to AutoZone’s customers. Since
the Company does not ewn merchandise under POS arrangements until just before it is sold to a customer, such
merchandise is not recorded in the Company’s balance sheet. Upon the sale of the merchandise to AutoZone’s
customers, AutoZone recognizes the liability for the goods and pays the vendor in accordance with the agreed-upon
terms. Although AutoZone does not hold titte to the goods, AutoZone controls pricing and has credit collection risk
and therefore, gross revenues under POS arrangements are included in net sales in the income statement. Sales of
merchandise under POS arrangements approximated $170.0 million in fiscal 2007, $390.0 million in fiscal 2006,
and $460.0 million in fiscal 2005. Merchandise under POS arrangements was $22.4 million at August 25, 2007 and
$92.1 million at August 26, 2006.

Property and Equipment: Property and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation and ameortization are computed
principally using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: buildings, 40 to 50 years;
building improvements, 5 to 15 years; equipment, 3 to 10 years; and leasehold improvements, over the shorter of the
asset’s estimated useful life or the remaining lease term, which includes any reasonably assured renewal periods.
Depreciation and amortization include amortization of assets under capital lease.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: In accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144™), the
Company evaluates the recoverability of the carrying amounts of the assets covered by this standard annually and
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying vaiue may not be recoverable. As
part of the evaluation, the Company reviews performance at the store level to identify any stores with current period
operating losses that should be considered for impairment. The Company compares the sum of the undiscounted
expected future cash flows with the carrying amounts of the assets. If impairments are indicated, the amount by
which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets is recognized as an impairment loss
where fair value is estimated based on discounted cash flows. No significant impairment losses were recorded in the
three years ended August 25, 2007.

Goodwill: The cost in excess of fair value of identifiable net assets of businesses acquired is recorded as goodwill.
In accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142"}, goodwill has not been amortized since fiscal 2001, but an analysis is performed at
least annually to compare the fair value of the reporting unit to the carrying amount to determine if any impairment
exists. The Company performs its annual impairment assessment in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, unless
circumstances dictate more frequent assessments. No impairment losses were recorded in the three years ended
August 25, 2007,
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Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities: AutoZone is exposed to market risk from, among other things,
changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rat:s and fuel prices. From time to time, the Company uses various
financial instruments to reduce such risks. To date, based upon the Company’s current level of foreign operations,
hedging costs and past changes in the associatzd foreign exchange rates, no derivative instruments have been
utilized to reduce foreign exchange rate risk. All of the Company’s hedging activities are governed by guidelines
that are authorized by AutoZone’s Board of Directors. Further, the Company does not buy or sell financial
instruments for trading purposes.

AutoZone’s financial market risk results primarily from changes in interest rates. At times, AutoZone reduces its
exposure to changes in interest rates by entering into various interest rate hedge instruments such as interest rate
swap contracts, treasury lock agreements and forward-starting interest rate swaps. The Company complies with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Nos. 133, 137, 138 and 149 (collectively “SFAS 133”) pertaining to
the accounting for these derivatives and hedging activities which require all such interest rate hedge instruments to
be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. All of the Company’s interest rate hedge instruments are designated
as cash flow hedges. Refer 10 “Note E — Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” for additional disclosures
regarding the Company’s derivative instruments and hedging activities. Cash flows related to these instruments
designated as qualifying hedges are reflected n the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows in the same
categories as the cash flows from the items being hedged. Accordingly, cash flows relating to the settlement of
interest rate derivatives hedging the forecasted issuance of debt have been reflected upon settlement as a component
of financing cash flows. The resulting gain or loss from such settlement is deferred to other comprehensive loss and
reclassified to interest expense over the term of the underlying debt. This reclassification of the deferred gains and
losses impacts the interest expense recognized on the underlying debt that was hedged and is therefore reflected as a
component of operating cash flows in periods subsequent to settlement. The periodic settlement of interest rate
derivatives hedging outstanding variable rate debt is recorded as an adjustment to interest expense and is therefore
reflected as a component of operating cash flows.

Foreign Currency: The Company accounts for its Mexican operations using the Mexican peso as the functional
currency and converts its financial statements from Mexican pesos to U.S. dollars in accordance with SFAS No. 52,
“Foreign Currency Translation.” The cumulative loss on currency translation is recorded as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive loss and ap proximated $15.8 million at August 25, 2007 and $12.5 million at
Augusl 26, 2006.

Self-Insurance Reserves: The Company retains a significant portion of the risks associated with workers’
compensation, employee health, general, proclucts liability, property and automotive insurance. Through various
methods, which include analyses of historical trends and utilization of actuaries, the Company estimates the costs of
these risks. The actuarial estimated long-term portions of these liabilities are recorded at our estimate of their net
present value.

Deferred Rent: The Company recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the course of the lease term,
which includes any reasonably assured renewal periods, beginning on the date the Company takes physical
possession of the property (see “Note J — Leases”). Differences between this calculated expense and cash payments
are recorded as a liability in accrued expenses and other liabilities on the accompanying balance sheet. This deferred
rent approximated $42.6 million as of Augus! 25, 2007 and $31.1 million as of August 26, 2006.

Financial Instruments: The Company has financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, other current assets and accounts >ayable. The carrying amounts of these financial instruments
approximate fair value because of their short maturities. A discussion of the carrying values and fair values of the
Company’s debt is included in “Note F - Finincing,” marketable securities is included in “Note A - Marketable
Securities,” and derivatives is included in “Note E- Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”

Income Taxes: The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability method. Deferred tax assets and

liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and
are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.
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Sales and Use Taxes: Governmental authorities assess sales and use taxes on the sale of goods and services. The
Company excludes taxes collected from customers in its reported sales results; such amounts are reflected as
accrued expenses and other until remitted to the taxing authorities.

Revenue Recognition: The Company recognizes sales at the time the sale is made and the product is delivered to
the customer. Revenue from sales are presented net of allowances for estimated sales returns, which are based on
historical return rates.

A portion of the Company's transactions include the sale of auto parts that contain a core component, The core
component represents the recyclable portion of the auto part. Customers are not charged for the core component of
the new part if a used core is returned at the point of sale of the new part; otherwise the Company charges customers
a specified amount for the core component. The Company refunds that same amount upen the customer returning a
used core to the store at a later date. The Company does not recognize sales or cost of sales for the core component
of these transactions when a used part is returned or expected to be returned from the customer.

Vendor Allowances and Advertising Costs: The Company receives various payments and allowances from its
vendors based on the volume of purchases and for services that AutoZone provides to the vendors. Monies received
from vendors include rebates, allowances and promotional funds. The amounts to be received are subject to
purchase volumes and the terms of the vendor agreements, which generally do not state an expiration date, but are
subject to ongoing negotiations that may be impacted in the future based on changes in market conditions, vendor
marketing strategies and changes in the profitability or sell-through of the related merchandise. The Company’s
level of advertising and other operating, selling, general and administrative expenditures are not dependent on
vendor allowances.

Rebates and other miscellaneous incentives are earned based on purchases or product sales and are accrued ratably
over the purchase or sale of the related product, but only if it is reasonably certain that the required volume levels
will be reached. These monies are recorded as a reduction of inventories and are recognized as a reduction to cost of
sales as the related inventories are sold.

For all allowances and promotional funds earned under vendor funding, the Company applies the guidance pursuant
to the Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 02-16, “Accounting by a Customer (Including a Resellet) for Cash
Consideration Received from a Vendor” (“EITF (2-16™), by recording the vendor funds as a reduction of inventories
that are recognized as a reduction to cost of sales as the inventories are sold. The Company’s vendor funding
arrangements do not provide for any reimbursement arrangements that are for specific, incremental, identifiable
costs that are permitted under EITF 02-16 for the funding to be recorded as a reduction to advertising or other
operating, selling, general and administrative expenses.

Advertising expense was approximately $85.9 million in fiscal 2007, $78.1 million in fiscal 2006, and $90.3 million
in fiscal 2005. The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred.

Warranty Costs: The Company or the vendors supplying its products provide its customers with limited warranties
on certain products. Estimated warranty obligations for which the Company is responsible are based on historical
experience, provided at the time of sale of the product, and charged to cost of sales.

Shipping and Handling Costs: The Company does not generally charge customers separately for shipping and
handling. Substantially a! the cost the Company incurs to ship products to our stores is included in cost of sales.

Pre-opening Expenses: Pre-opening expenses, which consist primarily of payroll and occupancy costs, are
expensed as incurred.

Earnings Per Share: Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average outstanding common shares.
Diluted earnings per share is based on the weighted average outstanding shares adjusted for the effect of common
stock equivalents, which are primarily stock options. Stock options that were not included in the diluted
computation because they would have been anti-dilutive were approximately 8,000 shares at August 25, 2007,
700,000 shares at August 26, 2006, and 1.0 million shares at August 27, 2005.
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Stock Options: At August 25, 2007, the Company has stock option plans that provide for the purchase of the
Company’s common stock by certain of its employees and directors, which are described more fully in “Note B —
Share-Based Payments.” Effective August 28, 2005, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123(R) “Share-Based Payment™ (“SFAS 123(R)") and began recognizing compensation expense for
its share-based payments based on the fair value of the awards. See “Note B — Share-Based Payments™ for further
discussion.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements: The Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB”) issued FASB
Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncenainty in Income Taxes” (“FIN 48”) in June 2006. The interpretation
clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in financial statements in accordance with SFAS
No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” FIN 48 will be effective for AutoZone’s fiscal year beginning August 26,
2007. The Company has not determined the effect, if any, that the adoption of FIN 48 will have on the Company’s
financial position and results of operations.

in September 2006, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 1577). This
new standard defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP), and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 will be effective for
AutoZone in fiscal 2009. The Company is still in the process of evaluating the impact, if any, that SFAS 157 will
have on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

On September 29, 2006, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. [58, "Employers' Accounting for Defined Benefit
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans -- Ar Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132R" ("SFAS
158"). This new standard requires an employer to: (a) recognize in its statement of financial position an asset for a
plan's overfunded status or a liability for a plan's underfunded status and (b) measure a plan’s assets and its
obligations that determine its funded status as of the end of the employer's fiscal year (with limited exceptions).
Those changes will be reported in compreher sive income. The Company adopted the recognition and disclosure
provisions of SFAS 158 during 2007 and wil. adopt the measurement date provisions in 2009. Please refer to Note |
{Pension and Savings Plan) for further description of this adoption.

In February 2007, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities” (“SFAS 159™). This new standard permits entities to choose to measure many financial
instruments and certain other items at fair va'ue. SFAS 159 will be effective for AutoZone in fiscal 2009. The
Company is still in the process of evaluating the impact, if any, that it wili have on the Company’s financial position
and results of operations.

Note B — Share-Based Payments

Effective August 28, 2005, the Company adupted SFAS 123(R) and began recognizing compensation expense for its
share-based payments based on the fair valuc: of the awards. Share-based payments include stock option grants and
certain transactions under the Company’s otlier stock plans. Prior to August 28, 2005, the Company accounted for
share-based payments using the intrinsic-val 1e-based recognition method prescribed by Accounting Principles
Board Opinion (“*APB”) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”). As options were granted at an exercise price equal to the market value
of the underlying common stock on the date of grant, no stock-based employee compensation cost was reflected in
net income prior to adopting SFAS 123(R). As the Company adopted SFAS 123(R) under the modified-
prospective-transition method, results from prier periods have not been restated.

In accordance with SFAS 123(R), share-basc:d compensation expense recognized since August 27, 2005, is based on
the following: a) grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123 for unvested
options granted prior to the adoption date; t) grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS 123(R) for options granted subsequent to the adoption date; and c} the discount on shares sold to employees
under employee stock purchase plans post-aJoption, which represents the difference between the grant date fair
value and the employee purchase price.

Total share-based expense (a component of perating, selling, general and administrative expenses) was $18.5
million related to stock options and share purchase plans for fiscal 2607 and $17.4 million in the previous year.
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Beginning in fiscal 2006, excess tax benefits, tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost, are
classified as a financing cash inflow in accordance with SFAS 123(R).

The foltowing sentence illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had applied the
fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 for fiscal 2005. For fiscal 2003, the Company had net income of
$571.0 million, pro-forma stock-based employee compensation expense of $11.3 million, pro-forma net income of
$559.8 million and pro-forma basic and diluted EPS of $7.12 and $7.03, respectively. The value of the options was
estimated using the Black-Scholes-Merton multiple option pricing model for the option grants,

Under SFAS 123(R), forfeitures are estimated at the time of valuation and reduce expense ratably over the vesting
period, This estimate is adjusted periodically based on the extent to which actual forfeitures differ, or are expected
to differ, from the previous estimate. Under SFAS 123 and APB 25, the Company elected to account for forfeitures
when awards were actually forfeited, at which time all previous pro forma expense disclosed for the forfeited awards
{$7.3 million in fiscal 2005) was reversed to reduce pro forma expense for that period.

AutoZone grants options to purchase common stock to certain of its employees and directors under various plans at
prices equal to the market value of the stock on the dates the options were granted. Options have a term of 10 years
or 10 years and one day from grant date. Director options generally vest three years from grant date. Employee
options generally vest in equal annual installments on the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of the grant
date. Employees and directors generally have 30 days afier the service relationship ends, or one year after death, to
exercise all vested options. The fair value of each option grant is separately estimated for each vesting date. The
fair value of each option is amortized into compensation expense on a straight-line basis between the grant date for
the award and each vesting date. The Company has estimated the fair value of all stock option awards as of the date
of the grant by applying the Black-Scholes-Merton multiple-option pricing valuation model. The application of this
valuation model involves assumptions that are judgmental and highly sensitive in the determination of compensation
expense.

The weighted average for key assumptions used in determining the fair value of options granted and a summary of
the methodology applied to develop each assumption are as follows:

Year Ended
August 25, August 26,  August 27,

2007 2006 2005
Expected price volatility ........ 26% 35% 36%
Risk-free interest fates ........co.veveevvvvesnsnnns 4.6% 4.1% 2.8%
Weighted average expected lives i YEars ...o..coocoovoeiiiiecceee s s 3.9 33 3.5
FOPTRITUIR FALE .....ooviiiririteivcisti e ee bbb et e sab s sa e en e sen s s e sesenseesenes 10% 10% nfa
Dividend Yield ..o s 0% 0% 0%

Expected Price Volatility - This is a measure of the amount by which a price has fluctuated or is expected to
fluctuate. We use actual historical changes in the market value of our stock to calculate the volatility assumption
as it is management’s belief that this is the best indicator of future volatility. We calculate daily market value
changes from the date of grant over a past period representative of the expected life of the options to determine
volatility. An increase in the expected volatility will increase compensation expense.

Risk-Free Interest Rate - This is the U.S. Treasury rate for the week of the grant having a term equal to the
expected life of the option. An increase in the risk-free interest rate will increase compensation expense.

Expected Lives - This is the period of time over which the options granted are expected to remain outstanding
and is based on historical experience. Separate groups of employees that have similar historical exercise
behavior are considered separately for valuation purposes. Options granted have a maximum term of ten years
or ten years and one day. An increase in the expected life will increase compensation expense.
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Forfeiture Rate - This is the estimated peicentage of options granted that are expected to be forfeited or
canceled before becoming fully vested. Tlis estimate is based on historical experience. An increase in the
forfeiture rate will decrease compensatior expense.

Dividend Yield - The Company has not made any dividend payments nor does it have plans to pay dividends in
the foreseeable future. An increase in the dividend yield will decrease compensation expense.

The Company generally issues new shares when options are exercised. A summary of outstanding stock options is
as follows:

Weighted
Average
Number Exercise
of Shares Price
Qutstanding August 28, 2004, 501,706 § 54.42
L] 10 11+ D OSSR SRR 1,099,465 77.74
EXETCISEA .. oieeeeciiueirerieeieeiiitisereesssssssissntssssesasasseetasssasrsnrnrrsressesasatnreseeesnsrnbasanassnrnes (1,741,312) 38.85
LOF: T 1o [T FOO OO OO PS T (532.373) 70.9
Outstanding August 27, 2005 ... 3,837,486 65.87
GRANTEM. -t sre s s 749,452 82.75
EXEICISEUA . vvesrerersrneeeeree e eeeem e ee e eenee ceieanbesbesbssbs st se s sra s b s s e sas s b e bbb bs st (737,515) 54.48
CanCeled..... ..ot et ciee e e s (493.881) 75.49
Outstanding August 26, 2006........ccovvmirins ciiiiiii s 3,355,542 70.73
GIANEEG . vvveiircteree e ettt ee e e e e e eavsereeerens ceseteeessnesessnneessntnneessubeeseanasesesaneesre s aeeenens 695,298 104.64
EXEICISEA oo viieniiveririeeicureceeeriresnesssaensanens coeeoemcacaesinaeaeses e e senseseamemes s enas s smseasentonen (934,677) 66.90
CANCEIEA 1ot e e s e (159.398) 83.19
Quistanding August 25, 2007 ... v e s 2,956,765 _§.179.24
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at August 23, 2007
Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining Weighted
Average Contractual Average
Range of Exercise Number Exercise Life Number Exercise
Prices Qutstanding Price (in Years) _Exercisable Price
$22.00-875.64 i 1,181,091 § 584 5.04 884,233 5 52.67
$82.00- 38918 .o 987,334 85.35 7.16 387,969 87.12
$89.30-5103.44 ..o, 744,262 101.59 8.89 40,000 9532
BL16.35—-129.63.iee 44078 122.43 9.47 — —
$22.00- 512963 . 2,956,765 $ 79.24 6.78 —1,312202 _ 5 6415

At August 25, 2007, the aggregate intrinsic value of all outstanding options was $130 million with a weighted
average remaining contractual term of 6.8 years, of which 1,312,202 of the outstanding options are currently
exercisable with an aggregate intrinsic value of $77.6 miltion, a weighted average exercise price of $64.15 and a
weighted average remaining contractual term of 5.1 years. Shares reserved for future option grants approximated
4.6 million at August 25, 2007. The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted was $29.04 during
fiscal 2007 and $22.86 during fiscal 2006. The intrinsic value of options exercised was 547 million in fiscal 2007
and $27 million in fiscal 2006.

Under the AutoZone, Inc. 2003 Director Compensation Plan, a non-employee director may receive no more than
one-half of his or her director fees immediately in cash, and the remainder of the fees must be taken in common
stock or may be deferred in units with value equivalent to the value of shares of common stock as of the grant date
(“Stock Units”). At August 25, 2007, the Company has $2.6 million accrued related to 21,323 director units issued
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under the current and prior plans with 84,681 shares of common stock reserved for future issuance under the current
plan.

Under the AutoZone, Inc. 2003 Director Stock Option Plan, each non-employee director receives an option to
purchase 1,500 shares of common stock on January | of each year, and each director who owns common stock or
Stock Units waorth at least five times the annual retainer fee receives an additional option to purchase 1,500 shares.
In addition, each new director receives an option to purchase 3,000 shares upon election to the Board of Directors,
plus a portion of the annual directors’ option grant prorated for the portion of the year actually served in office.
These stock option grants are made at the fair market value as of the grant date. At August 25, 2007, there were
55,552 outstanding options with 287,948 shares of common stock reserved for future issuance under this plan.

During June, 2007, the Board of Directors approved cerain changes to the Director Compensation Plan and Director
Stock Option Plan. For further discussion on the changes, see the Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of
Stockholders on December 12, 2007.

The Company recognized $1.1 million in expense related to the discount on the selling of shares to employees and
executives under various share purchase plans in fiscal 2007 and $884,000 in the prior year. The employee stock
purchase plan, which is qualified under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code, permits all eligible employees to
purchase AutoZone’s common stock at 85% of the lower of the market price of the common stock on the first day or
last day of each calendar quarter through payroll deductions, Maximum permitted annual purchases are $15,000 per
employee or 10 percent of compensation, whichever is less. Under the plan, 39,139 shares were sold to employees
in fiscal 2007, 51,167 shares were sold to employees in fiscal 2006, and 59,479 shares were sold in fiscal 2005. The
Company repurchased 65,152 shares at fair value in fiscal 2007, 62,293 shares at fair value in fiscal 2006, and
87,974 shares in fiscal 2005 from employees electing to sell their stock. 1ssuances of shares under the employee
stock purchase plans are netted against repurchases and such repurchases are not included in share repurchases
disclosed in “Note H — Stock Repurchase Program.” At August 25, 2007, 385,897 shares of common stock were
reserved for future issuance under this plan. Additionally, executives may participate in the Amended and Restated
Executive Stock Purchase Plan, which permits all eligible executives to purchase AutoZone’s common stock up to
25 percent of his or her annual salary and bonus. Purchases under this plan were 1,257 shares in fiscal 2007, 811
shares in fiscal 2006, and 5,366 shares in fiscal 2005. At August 25, 2007, 263,037 shares of common stock were
reserved for future issuance under this plan.

On December 13, 2006, stockholders approved the AutoZone, Inc. 2006 Stock Option Plan and the AutoZone, Inc.
Fourth Amended and Restated Executive Stock Purchase Plan. There have been no other material modifications to
the Company’s stock plans during fiscal 2007, 2006, or 2005.

Note C — Acerued Expenses and Other

Accrued expenses consisted of the following:

August 25,  August 26,

{in thousands) 2007 2006

Medical and casualty insurance claims (current pOrtion).... ... enesiene e $ 52,037 5 49,844
Accrued compensation; related payroll taxes and benefits ...t 101,467 101,089
Property and Sales tAXES ........coovviiviinieoveeive e et sees 61,570 54,623
ACCTUEH INTETESE 1\.vviivetiviiees oo eecee st eeeee s s eesee e e s e ee e e e e e et eenesesetenaneeenesssarenanessrmesaneesennesanenan 22,241 25,377
Accrued sales and Warranty refirns ..o viieeeeiniemiecressiesters et ess s s sisebssmeenenanates 8,634 8,238
Capital lease oblZAtIONS .......ccociiiiiiiiiie et e en e 16,015 —
L6 11 5 S SO OO OO OO YU SU OSSO URSRUUUUURS P 45.669 41,248

3 307,633 § 280419

The Company retains a significant portion of the insurance risks associated with workers” compensation, employee
health, general, products liability, property and automotive insurance. Beginning in fiscal 2004, a portion of these
self-insured losses is managed through a wholly owned insurance captive. The Company maintains certain levels
for stop-loss coverage for each self-insured plan in order to limit its liability for large claims, The limits are per
claim and are $1.5 million for workers’ compensation, $500,000 for employee health, and $1.0 million for general,
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products liability, property, and automotive. 3elf-insurance costs are accrued based upon the aggregate of the
liability for reported claims and an estimated liability for claims incurred but not reported. Estimates are based on
calculations that consider historical lag and clnim development factors.

The Company or the vendors supplying its products provide its customers limited warranties on certain products that
range from 30 days to lifetime warranties. In inost cases, the Company’s vendors are primarily responsible for
warranty claims. Watranty costs relating to mzrchandise sold under warranty not covered by vendors are estimated
and recorded as warranty obligations at the tirae of sale based on each product’s historical return rate. These
obligations, which are often funded by vendor allowances, are recorded as a component of accrued expenses, For
vendor allowances that are in excess of the related estimated warranty expense for the vendor’s products, the excess
is reclassified to inventory and recognized as 1 reduction to cost of sales as the related inventory is sold. Changes
in the Company’s accrued sales and warranty returns during the fiscal year were minimal.

Note D - Income Taxes

The provision for income tax expense consist:d of the following:

Year Ended
August 25, August 26, August 27,
(in thousands) 2007 1006 2005
Current:
FEABIal ..ottt ceree e e b $ 292,166 § 272916 § 296,849
A ceeieiiieserereierei e s bt et s reveaanr e s aeseaeeenres seesieisssbatseesesnirinratasaeeiaanantes 23,468 23,539 21.981
315,634 296,455 318,830
Deferred:
FEAeral ....cooiiiiiiiii ittt resrer s rer e e e e e e e st e ee e e e st naine 22,878 30,065 (11,271}
1oy | (=T OO O DRSPS PRPRP 1.966 6.241 (5.357)

24844 _ 36306 _ (16.628)
$.340478 § 332761 § 302202

A reconciliation of the provision for income 1axes to the amount computed by applying the federal statutory tax rate
of 35% to income before income taxes is as follows:

Year Ended
August 25, August 26, August 27,
(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005
Federal tax at statutory U.S. inCOME 18X Tl evvuiierrcnerereesenesne s $ 327,653 § 315713 § 305,627
SLA1E INCOME LAXES, MBL ..vvivevreeeeeeteeeeiectaens eeeterseesssessrermesinsssaenseessasnsrsseens 16,532 19,357 10,806
Tax benefit on repatriation of foreign earnings ........ccocevvvinrininiienens - - (16,351)
071 11=) SO O USSR SN (3,707) (2.309) 2,120

$ 340478 § 332,761 § 302.202

The American Jobs Creation Act (the “Act”), signed into law in October 2004, provided an opportunity to repatriate
foreign earnings, reinvest them in the United States, and claim an 85% dividend received deduction on the
repatriated earnings provided certain criteria were met. During fiscal 2005, the Company determined that it met the
criteria of the Act and began the process of r2patriating approximately $36.7 million from its Mexican subsidiaries.
As the Company had previously provided deferred income taxes on these amounts, the planned repatriation resulted
in a $16.4 million reduction to income tax e pense for fiscal 2005. During fiscal 2006, the Company completed the
originally planned $36.7 million repatriation plus an additional $4.5 million in accumulated earnings.
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:
August 25, August 26,

{in thousands) 2007 2006
Net deferred tax assets:
Domestic net operating loss and credit carryforwards .........cocooeerininiinnininicnniens $ 18573 3§ 18,4694
Foreign net operating loss and credit carryforwards ... 6,257 4,017
[MSUMANCE FESEIVES ...eovveiiiiicvei i eceiires s estisste s s seesbesssseessbesssntesssesrenesnsesnbesssnsssnsessrnsrsnts 13,683 13,748
o= T ) 1 OO SN - 9,167
ACCIUEA BENETIES .ot ettt cetmt e e e teseabes e sassa s ts s s s sasnseessrmesenaareenensnnn 20,750 14,927
L 111 V- SO O SR O U NP OO PO T OO PO TSSOy S U 15,640 15,291}
Total deferred LAX A8SEES.......oiee ettt eme e et e e teeeessbeeabesaresain 74,903 75,844
Less: Valuation allOWANCES.........ccoivriiiriireioreiereiereiereiresresresssessereseseeasesasessessesasesnes (8.154) (8.698)
Net deferred taX GSSEIS ...ooovvvieieee e e s e rar e s s e s ren s esssrae s sesanaesssrasaanrans 66,749 67,146
Deferred tax liabilities:

Property and eqUIPIMENT L. ... oottt e e aen 8,296 13,118
IIIVEIIEOTY cveeive et tee e e b s ettt es ettt rs s st e e e e sas shesntesaternennenneeereenrennrenn 103,233 68,449
DIEIIVALIVES ... . veeservressssreeesemsrerarseeesmsnsesaeerettenansessamimesanaseee e sneeeensseeeennsemeemseeseesnenanan 2,068 3,643
R T o OO UU U UUUS 2,369 -
Prepaid eXpenses ... ..o e eerieereee ittt 10,192 9,821
L1 1 1= OO T PO TSSO T OO TP T RSO SRS USSR 1,412 1,576
Deferred tax Habilithes . ....ooooe e e s b s st e s s ab st seaaas e 127,570 96,607
Net deferred tax HabilitIEs ......oooeeeeeeeeeee e ettt e e s ats s e s e siaes $ (60821) 3 (29,461)

Deferred taxes are not provided for earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries as such earnings are intended to be
permanently reinvested in the business.

For the years ended August 25, 2007, and August 26, 2006, the Company had deferred tax assets of $9.1 million and
$9.0 million from federal tax net operating losses ("NOLs") of $25.9 million and $25.7 million, and deferred tax
assets of $1.8 million and $2.7 million from state tax NOLs of $51.3 million and $65.1 million, respectively. As of
August 23, 2007 the Company had deferred tax assets of $3.1 million from Non-U.S. NOLs of $7.9 million. The
federai, state, and Non-U.S. NOLs expire between fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2027. The Company maintains a $7.2
million valuation allowance against certain federal and state NOLs resulting primarily from annual statutory usage
limitations. For the years ending August 25, 2007, and August 26, 2006, the Company had deferred tax assets of
$10.9 million for federal, state and Non-U.S. income tax credit carryforwards. Certain tax credit carryforwards have
no expiration date and others will expire in fiscal 2008 through fiscal 2017. A valuation allowance of $1.0 million
has been established by the Company for credits subject to such expiration periods.

Note E - Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

AutoZone has utilized interest rate swaps to convert variable rate debt to fixed rate debt and to lock in fixed rates on
future debt issuances. AutoZone reflects the current fair value of all interest rate hedge instruments in its
consolidated balance sheets as a component of other assets. All of the Company’s interest rate hedge instruments
are designated as cash flow hedges. The Company had an outstanding interest rate swap with a fair value of $5.8
million at August 25, 2007 and $10.2 million at August 26, 2006, to effectively fix the interest rate on the $300.0
million term loan entered into during December 2004, At August 28, 2004, the Company had an outstanding five-
year forward-starting interest rate swap with a notional amount of $300 million. This swap had a fair value of $4.6
million at August 28, 2004 and was settled during November 2004 with no debt being issued. Consequently, $4.6
million was recognized in earnings during fiscal 2005.

The related gains and losses on interest rate hedges are deferred in stockhoelders’ equity as a component of other
comprehensive income or loss. These deferred gains and losses are recognized in income as a decrease or increase to
interest expense in the period in which the related cash flows being hedged are recognized in expense. However, to
the extent that the change in value of an interest rate hedge instrument does not perfectly offset the change in the
value of the cash flows being hedged, that ineffective portion is immediately recognized in income. The Company’s
hedge instruments have been determined to be highly effective as of August 25, 2007.
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The following table summarizes the fiscal 2007 and 2006 activity in accumulated other comprehensive loss as it
relates to interest rate hedge instruments:

Before-Tax Income After-Tax
(in thousands) Amount Tax Amount
Accumulated net gains as of August 27, 2005 .....ocovervveinirireesencrecnnes $ 10,618 $ (1,589) § 9,029
Net gains on outstanding derivatives.........oooeevereerniensienren s renenns 5,904 (2,152) 3,752
Reclassification of net gains on derivatives into earnings........ccoeeeeeereee (612) — (612)
Accumulated net gains as of August 26, 2000 ... 15,910 (3,741) 12,169
Net losses on outstanding derivatives.......o.veeoeoeiiineeciee {4,440) 1,627 (2,813)
Reclassification of net gains on derivatives into eamings...................... (612) — {612)
Accumulated net gains as of August 23, 2007 ..o $ 10858 § (2,114) § 8,744

The Company primarily executes derivative transactions of relatively short duration with strong creditworthy
counterparties. These counterparties expose the Company to credit risk in the event of non-performance, The
amount of such exposure is limited to the unpaid portion of amounts due to the Company pursuant to the terms of
the derivative financial instruments, if any. Although there are no collateral requirements, if a downgrade in the
credit rating of these counterparties occurs, minagement believes that this exposure is mitigated by provisions in the
derivative agreements which allow for the legal right of offset of any amounts due to the Company from the
counterparties with amounts payable, if any, t3 the counterparties by the Company. Management considers the risk
of counterparty default to be minimal.

As of August 25, 2007, the Company estimates $600,000 of gains currently included in accumulated other
comprehensive income to be reclassed into earnings within the next 12 months.

Note F — Financing

The Company’s long-term debt consisted of tae following:

August 25, August 26,

(in thousands) 2007 2006

Bank Term Loan due December 2009, effective interest rate 0f 4.55% vovvvvvvivvnviriinineecee $ 300,000 $ 300,000
5.875% Senior Notes due October 2012, effertive interest rate of 6.33% cccvcvvvvcvvcvvvveevenns 300,000 300,000
5.5% Senior Notes due November 20135, effective interest rate of 4.86%........covviniinnne 300,000 300,000
4.75% Senior Notes due November 2010, eff:ctive interest rate of 4.17% ....cooevivinivvnnne. 200,000 200,000
4.375% Senior Notes due June 2013, effective interest rate of 5.65%....cvrvvveivvecicnivienieenn. 200,000 200,000
6.95% Senior Notes due June 2016, effective interest rate of 7.09%......cccvviverienrireeninenns 200,000 200,000
6.5% Senior Notes due July 2008 ... 190,000 190,000
Commercial paper, weighted average interest rate of 6.1% at August 25, 2007,

and 5.3% at August 26, 2006 ...t e 206,700 122,400
731 T=) OO U UROE TR OPTUPTPOURUURN 38,918 44,757

$1,935618 $1,857,157

The Company maintains $1.0 billion of revolving credit facilities with a group of banks to primarily support
commercial paper borrowings, letters of credit and other short-term unsecured bank loans. These facilities expire in
May 2010, may be increased to $1.3 billion ¢t AutoZone’s election, may include up to $200 million in letters of
credit, and may include up to $100 million ir capital leases. As the available balance is reduced by commercial
paper borrowings and certain outstanding let:ers of credit, the Company had $680.2 million in available capacity
under these facilities at August 25, 2007. The rate of interest payable under the credit facilities is a function of Bank
of America’s base rate or a Eurodoltar rate {cach as defined in the facility agreements), or a combination thereof,

The $300.0 million bank term loan entered in December 2004 was amended in April 2006 to have similar terms and
conditions as the $1.0 billion credit facilities. but with a December 2009 maturity, and was further amended in
August 2007 to reduce the interest rate on Euro-dollar loans. That credit agreement with a group of banks provides
for a term loan, which consists of, at the Corapany’s election, base rate loans, Eurodollar loans or a combination
thereof. The interest accrues on base rate loans at a base rate per annum equal to the higher of the prime rate or the
Federal Funds Rate plus 1/2 of 1%. Interest iaccrues on Eurodollar loans at a defined Eurodollar rate plus the
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applicable percentage, which can range from 30 basis points to 90 basis points, depending upon the Company’s
senjor unsecured (non-credit enhanced) long-term debt rating. Based on AutoZone’s ratings at August 25, 2007, the
applicable percentage on Eurodollar loans is 35 basis points. The Company may select interest periods of one, two,
three or six months for Eurodollar loans, subject to availability. Interest is payable at the end of the selected interest
period, but no less frequently than quarterly. AutoZone entered into an interest rate swap agreement on December
29, 2004, to effectively fix, based on current debt ratings, the interest rate of the term loan at 4.4%. AutoZone has
the option to extend loans into subsequent interest period(s) or convert them into loans of another interest rate type.
The entire unpaid principal amount of the term loan will be due and payable in full on December 23, 2009, when the
facility terminates. The Company may prepay the term loan in whole or in part at any time without penalty, subject
to reimbursement of the lenders’ breakage and redeployment costs in the case of prepayment of Eurodollar
borrowings.

During April 2006, the $150.0 million Senior Notes maturing at that time were repaid with an increase in
commercial paper. On June 8, 2006, the Company issued $200.0 million in 6.95% Senior Notes due 2016 under its
existing shelf registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 17, 2004. That
shelf registration allowed the Company to sell up to $300 miilion in debt securities to fund general corporate
purposes, including repaying, redeeming or repurchasing outstanding debt, and for working capital, capital
expenditures, new store openings, stock repurchases and acquisitions. The remainder of the shelf registration was
cancelled in February, 2007.

The Company’s borrowings under its Senior Notes arrangements contain minimal covenants, primarily restrictions
on liens. Under its other borrowing arrangements, covenants include limitations on total indebtedness, restrictions
on liens, a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and a provision where repayment obligations may be accelerated if
AutoZone experiences a change in control (as defined in the agreements). All of the repayment obligations under the
Company’s borrowing arrangements may be accelerated and come due prior to the scheduled payment date if
covenants are breached or an event of default occurs. As of August 25, 2007, the Company was in compliance with
all covenants and expects to remain in compliance with all covenants.

All of the Company’s debt is unsecured. Scheduled maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

Amount
Fiscal Year (in thousands)

2008 i re st ea e s st erat et ea e se R e aara Lo rtetat et oAty et e nneeent e e nstannsaeanseenntenrnsnannnnnee $435,618
L O U O S U SO URS SOTRRSOPPPPPPPRPN —
120 OO U OO U UURRR 300,000
1 O U U OSSOSO OO SESST USSP 200,000
0 32 O U OO O U U OO S OO OUU SRV UUUTOY OO TP ORIt —
ORI T 1.veovvieereeeeeee e e et e e et ea e easeeeeeteeeseesesnssanberabesreesat e aeebaeaberat et s et s eabeenraaana 1,000,000

£1,935.618

The maturities for fiscal 2008 are classified as long-term in the fiscal 2007 consolidated balance sheet as the
Company has the ability and intention to refinance them on a long-term basis.

The fair value of the Company’s debt was estimated at $1.928 billion as of August 25, 2007, and $1.825 billion as of
August 26, 2006, based on the quoted market prices for the same or similar issues ot on the current rates available to
the Company for debt of the same remaining maturities. Such fair value is less than the carrying value of debt by
$7.6 million at August 25, 2007, and $32.3 million at August 26, 2006.

Note G - Interest Expense

Net interest expense consisted of the following:

Year Ended
August 25,  August 26, August 27,
{in thousands} 2007 2006 2005
IDTETESE EXPENSE ..o e e e e e s ae e ne e neenes $123,311 $112,127 $104,684
ENEEIESt INCOMIE ..ot ae e b e s an e s meaneeaa (2,819} (2,253) (1,162)
Capitalized INETESt .....o.oooiiiiiie s (1.376) (1.985}) (1.07%)

$119,1i6 SI07,889  §102443
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Note H - Stock Repurchase Program

During 1998, the Company announced a progiam permitting the Company to repurchase a portion of its outstanding
shares not to exceed a dollar maximum established by the Company’s Board of Directors. The program was most
recently amended in June 2007 to increase the repurchase authorization to $5.9 billion from $5.4 billion. From
January 1998 to August 25, 2007, the Company has repurchased a total of 99.3 million shares at an aggregate cost of
$5.4 billion.

The following table summarizes our share repurchase activity for the following fiscal years:

Year Ended
August 25,  August 26, August 27,
(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005
AITIOUNL ..ot e s b e es sabasasassssbssssassssssssstassssesenns $761,887 $£578,066 $426,852
SHATES oo et ra ettt eataan 6,032 6,187 4,822

Note I - Pension and Savings Plans

Prior to January 1, 2003, substantially all full-time employees were covered by a defined benefit pension plan. The
benefits under the plan were based on years o service and the employee’s highest consecutive five-year average
compensation. On Januvary 1, 2003, the plan was frozen. Accordingly, pension plan participants will earn no new
benefits under the plan formula and no new piuticipants will join the pension plan.

On January 1, 2003, the Company’s supplemental defined benefit pension plan for certain highly compensated
employees was also frozen. Accordingly, plar participants will earn no new benefits under the plan formula and no
new participants will join the pension plan.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS ho. 158, "Employers' Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R)" (“SFAS 158").
SFAS 158 requires plan sponsors of defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans (collectively
postretirement benefit plans) to: recognize the: funded status of their postretirement benefit plans in the statement of
financial position; recognize the gains or loss:s and prior service costs or credits as a component of other
comprehensive income, net of tax, that arise ¢uring the period but are not recognized as components of net periodic
benefit cost pursuant to SFAS No. 87, "Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” (SFAS 87); measure the fair value of
plan assets and benefit obligations as of the daite of the fiscal year-end statement of financial position; and provide
additional disclosures about certain effects or net periodic benefit cost for the next fiscal year that arise from
delayed recognition of the gains or losses, prior service costs or credits, and transition asset or obligation.

For the fiscal year ending August 25, 2007, we adopted the recognition and disclosure provisions of SFAS 158. The
effect of adopting SFAS 158 on the Compan:'’s financial condition at August 25, 2007 has been included in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements as described below. SFAS 158's provisions regarding the change in
the measurement date of postretirement bene it plans will require the Company to change its measurement date,
beginning in fiscal year 2009, from May 31 19 its fiscal year end date.

SFAS 158 requires the Company to recogniz: the funded status, which is the difference between the fair value of
plan assets and the projected benefit obligations, of its postretirement benefit plans in the August 25, 2007
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, with a corresponding adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive
income {AOCI), net of tax. The adjustment to AQCI at adoption represents the net unrecognized actuarial losses and
unrecognized prior service costs, both of which were previously netted against the plans' funded status in the
Company’s Consolidated Statements of Finanicial Position pursuant to the provisions of SFAS 87. These amounts
will be subsequently recognized as net periodic pension expense pursuant to the Company’s historical accounting
policy for amortizing such amounts.
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The effects of adopting the provisions of SFAS 158 on our Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at August

25, 2007 are presented in the following table:

Pension Balances Recorded

As Reported

Prior to Effective of
Adopting Adopting
{in thousands) SFAS 158 SFAS 158
Other NOT-CUTENT ASSELS...v.eivemeeeeeeineseeeesrererersensesmanestrrssssssesennees $ 8,780 $ (2,796) 3
Current HabIIEIES oovvvereeveeeeee et ee et s s eeeeesementss s 2,991 -
Deferred income tax liability, neto.......cooiimnenee 2,255 (1,089)
Accumulated other comprehensive 10ss. ... $ 746 5 1,707 3

5,984
2,991
1,166
2,453

The investment strategy for pension plan assets is to utilize a diversified mix of domestic and international equity
portfolios, together with other investments, to earn a long-term investment return that meets the Company’s pension
plan obligations. Active management and alternative investment strategies are utilized within the plan in an effort to

minimize risk, while realizing investment returns in excess of market indices.

The weighted average asset allocation for our pension plan assets was as follows at June 30

2007 2006
Current Target Current Target
Domestic eqQUItIeS. ... .cocoerrrr e 30.7% 33.5% 32.0% 27.0%
International EqUItIES....ccoeerrrerreviesree e 27.8 23.0 24.5 30.9
Alternative inVestimEnlS. ....ooiiivnirevmesesemeesieineens 277 30.5 30.5 279
Real estate ....covevciecc i e 11.2 11.0 11.0 12.2
Cash and cash equivalents............oomiinininnnn 2.6 2.0 2.0 2.0

_100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100,0%

The measurement date for the Company’s defined benefit pension plans is May 31 of each fiscal year.
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The following table sets forth the plans’ funde status and amounts recognized in the Company’s financial

statements:

August 25, August 26,
(in thousands) 2007 2006
Change in Projected Benefit Obligation;
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year.............occocovrnrccncccnnienne 154,942 $176,325
INEEIEST COSE vtmeerieteicees e e e e es e e e arsrasrne e 9,593 9,190
Actuarial gains ... (550) (26,783)
Benefits paid ... (2.921) (3.790)
Benefit obllgatlons at end of year 5161064 $154,942
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of Year..........ccccovvvicvrnresreneieiessvisnennns. $126,892 $107,551
Actual return on plan assets...........cccoevenee 27,797 17,600
Employer contributions.......... 10,573 6,187
Benefits paid .........cccveveeee. (2,921) (3,790)
Administrative expenses .. {1.120) (636}
Fair value of plan assets at end ofyear $161,221 $126,892
Reconciliation of funded status:
Funded (underfunded) status of the plans.... $157 ($28,050)
Contributions from measurement date to fi scal year end 2,836 3,017
Unrecognized net actuarial losses .. - 21,464
Unamortized prior service cost - 105
Net amount TECORMIZE. ......ovvreeieieereeereetirere e seesas et emebenessetssemsesresssens s sons $2,993 {$3.464)
Amount Recognized in the Statement of Financial Position:
Noncurrent other assets..... $5,084 -
Current liabilities................ (2,991) (7,006)
Long-term liabilities... - (21,044)
Intangible assets .. - 105
Accumulated other comprehenswe 1055 - 24,481
Net amount reCOBMIZEA.........overirciereeirreairiiins catteereses e stesstsasssiresabenenssesen $2,993 {$3,464)
Amount Recognized in AOCI and not yet riflected in Net Periodic
Benefit Cost:
Net actuarial 108S..........ccoooevieevieenne. ($3,830)
Prior Service Cost......oovvvmnrirninireieccnnas (159
Amount Recognized in AOCI and not yet reflected in Net Periodic
Benefit Cost and expected to be amortized in next year’s net
perindic benefit cost:
Net BCTUAMNAL OS5 ...ttt v s e sne e eee b emsrrresen $97
PLAOT SEIVICE COBL.cuciriiiiiiieiieececeerenees s ras et setesenis s eessserassasr et e stasss e senene 99
AMOUNL TECOZNIZED ..vvovivvveie et eeeieeeaeensreanserrares serstssssssssssesssesosesssrssressesmassens I 78/}

wlncorporates the provisions of SFAS 158 adopted on At gust 25, 2007,
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Year Ended
August 25, August 26, August 27,

___{in thousands}) 2007 2006 2005
Components of net periodic benefit cost: :
TEIEETESE COST vrnrenmreeeeeessesessisaeseaasrarsssasesssaaneeonsebesseassseasesannsasesacessmemsmesibesbanssens $ 9593 § 9190 § 8290
Expected return on plan aS5ets ..o (10,343) (8,573) (8,107}
Amortization of Prior SErvVICe COSt.. ...t s (54) (627) (644)
Recognized net actuarial 10855 ... cveeiiviiiinine i 751 5,645 1,000
Net periodic benefit COSL. ..ot by (51 85635 % 539

The actuarial assumptions were as follows:
2007 2006 2005

Weighted average diSCOUNt FALE ....c.oviiieeesinininie st 6.25%  625%  5.25%
Expected long-term rate of return on assets ... 800%  8.00%  8.00%

As the plan benefits are frozen, increases in future compensation levels no longer impact the calculation and there is
no service cost. The discount rate is determined as of the measurement date with the assistance of actuaries, who
caiculate the yield on a portfolio of high-grade corporate bonds with cash flows that generally match our expected
benefit payments in future years. The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is based on the historical
relationships between the investment classes and the capital markets, updated for current conditions. Prior service
cost is amortized over the estimated average remaining service period of active plan participants as of the date the
prior service base is established, and the unrecognized actuarial loss is amortized over the estimated remaining
service period of 7.81 years at August 25, 2007,

The Company makes annual contributions in amounts at least equal to the minimum funding requirements of the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. The Company contributed $13.4 million to the plans in fiscal
2007, $9.2 million to the plans in fiscal 2006, and no contributions to the plans in fiscal 2005. Based on current
projections, we expect to contribute approximately $3.0 million to the plan in fiscal 2008; however, a change to the
expected cash funding may be impacted by a change in interest rates or a change in the actual or expected return on
plan assets.

Based on current assumptions about future events, benefit payments are expected to be paid as follows for each of
the following plan years. Actual benefit payments may vary significantly from the following estimates:

Amount
Plan Year Ending December 31 {in thousands)

)L OO OO U OSSPSR PP S PPPP ST $ 3,506
011 SO O U OO OO OO U PPN O PP RPN PIT PP 4,114
010 T O OO OO OSSP PP TOR PR PO PP RPTPPS 4,742
200 oo e e eeeeer e e e e e st ea e e eeeeteeaeeeskSteasEeiiieeeaRTeiEeesneeaaAe e hsseENT R e ES T aA TR e eanE e e s e b b e 5318
03 1 OO T TR T U PSP PO PO PP PUU PP 5,847
0 R L OO O O U OO P OSSOSO FPSPPP P PPN 39101

The Company has a 401(k) plan that covers all domestic employees who meet the plan’s participation requirements.
The plan features include Company matching contributions, immediate 100% vesting of Company contributions and
a savings option to 25% of qualified earnings. The Company makes matching contributions, per pay period, up to a
specified percentage of employees’ contributions as approved by the Board of Directors. The Company made
matching contributions to employee accounts in connection with the 401(k) plan of $9.5 million in fiscal 2007, $8.6
million in fiscal 2006, and $8.4 million in fiscal 2005.

Note J — Leases

The Company leases some of its retail stores, distribution centers, facilities, land and equipment, including vehicles.
Most of these leases are operating leases and include renewal options, at the Company’s election, and some include
options to purchase and provisions for percentage rent based on sales. Rental expense was $152.5 million in fiscal
2007, $143.9 million in fiscal 2006, and $150.6 million in fiscal 2005. Percentage rentals were insignificant,
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The Company has a fleet of vehicles used for celivery to our commercial customers and travel for members of field
management. The majority of these vehicles are held under capital lease. At August 25, 2007, the Company had
capital lease assets of $54.4 million, net of acc imulated amortization of $11.2 million, and capital lease obligations
of $55.1 million. The $16.0 million current pertion of these obligations was recorded as a component of other
current liabilities and the $39.1 million long-term portion was recorded as a component of other long-term liabilities
in the consolidated balance sheet.

Based on clarifications from the Securities and Exchange Commission, during fiscal 2005, the Company completed
a detailed review of its accounting for rent expense and expected useful lives of leasehold improvements. The
Company noted inconsistencies in the periods used to amortize leasehold improvements and the periods used to
straight-line rent expense. The Company revised its policy to record rent for all operating leases on a straight-line
basis over the lease term, including any reasonably assured renewal periods and the period of time prior to the lease
term that the Company is in possession of the |eased space for the purpose of installing leasehold improvements.
Differences between recorded rent expense and cash payments are recorded as a liability in accrued expenses and
other long-term liabilities on the balance sheet. This deferred rent approximated $42.6 million on August 25, 2007
and $31.1 million on August 26, 2006. Additionally, all leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of
their useful life or the remainder of the lease term, including any reasonably assured renewal periods, in effect when
the leasehold improvements are placed in service. During the quarter ended February 12, 2005, the Company
recorded an adjustment in the amount of $40.3 million pre-tax ($25.4 million after-tax), which lowered fiscal 2005
diluted eamings per share by $0.32. This adjustment included the impact on prior years, to reflect additional
amortization of leasehold improvements and additional rent expense as if this new policy had always been followed
by the Company. The impact of the adjustment on any prior year would have been immaterial.

Minimum annuai rental commitments under nan-cancelable operating leases and capital leases were as follows at
the end of fiscal 2007:

(amounts in thousands)

Operating Capital
Fiscal Year leases Leases
2008 .vvoorveoeeeeeeeeesseisssessssesssessseessesesesssssesenees eeemsisneaeesesesereeeees $171,163 $16,015
2009 ..evriieie et et et sab e ete esseet bbb e ens 155,446 15,535
2010 s vttt enennaee 136,524 13,393
00T s beae s et es 117,452 10,404
2002 e s aatrrnetee e te e neaes 97,532 7,163
Thereafter......coeeeieeecre vt crareee e __ 634,135 -
Total minimum payments required .....o.....ccec. covievvirireeerenne. $1,312,252 62,510
LSS: IMETEST ..ot oo etstii ettt eas eeveresssbeneaeseneeneens (7.422)
Present value of minimum capital lease payments..........c.......... $55,088

In connection with the Company’s December 2001 sale of the TruckPro business, the Company subleased some
properties to the purchaser for an initial term of not less than 20 years, The Company’s remaining aggregate rental
obligation at August 25, 2007 of $25.3 million is included in the above table, but the obligation is entirely offset by
the sublease rental agreement.

Note K — Commitments and Contingencies

Construction commitments, primarily for new stores, totaled approximately $23.8 million at August 25, 2007.
The Company had $113.3 million in outstand ng standby letters of credit and $11.3 million in surety bonds as of
August 25, 2007, which all have expiration periods of less than one year. A substantial portion of the outstanding

standby letters of credit (which are primarily renewed on an annual basis) and surety bonds are used to cover
reimbursement obligations to our workers’ compensation carriers. There are no additional contingent liabilities
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associated with these instruments as the underlying liabilities are already reflected in our consolidated balance sheet.
The standby letters of credit and surety bonds arrangements have automatic renewal clauses.

Note L — Litigation

AutoZone, Inc. is a defendant in a lawsuit entitled "Coalition for a Level Playing Field, L.L.C., et al., v. AutoZone,
Inc. et al.," filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York in October 2004. The case was
filed by more than 200 plaintiffs, which are principally automotive aftermarket warehouse distributors and jobbers
{collectively “Plaintiffs”), against a number of defendants, including automotive aftermarket retailers and
aftermarket automotive parts manufacturers. In the amended complaint, the plaintiffs allege, inter alia, that some or
all of the automotive aftermarket retailer defendants have knowingly received, in violation of the Robinson-Patman
Act (the “Act™), from various of the manufacturer defendants benefits such as volume discounts, rebates, early buy
allowances and other altowances, fees, inventory without payment, sham advertising and promotional payments, a
share in the manufacturers' profits, benefits of pay on scan purchases, implementation of radio frequency
identification technology, and excessive payments for services purportedly performed for the manufacturers.
Additionally, a subset of plaintiffs alleges a claim of fraud against the automotive aftermarket retailer defendants
based on discovery issues in a prior litigation involving similar Robinson-Patman Act claims. In the prior litigation,
the discovery dispute, as well as the underlying claims, were decided in favor of AutoZone and the other automotive
aftermarket retailer defendants who proceeded to trial, pursuant to a unanimous jury verdict which was affirmed by
the Second Circuit Court of Appeals. In the current litigation, plaintiffs seek an unspecified amount of damages
(including statutory trebling), attorneys' fees, and a permanent injunction prohibiting the aftermarket retailer
defendants from inducing and/or knowingly receiving discriminatory prices from any of the aftermarket
manufacturer defendants and from opening up any further stores to compete with plaintiffs as long as defendants
allegedly continue to violate the Act. The Company believes this suit to be without merit and is vigorously
defending against it. Defendants have filed motions to dismiss all claims with prejudice on substantive and
procedural grounds. Additionally, the Defendants have sought to enjoin plaintiffs from filing similar lawsuits in the
future. If granted in their entirety, these dispositive motions would resolve the litigation in Defendants' favor.

On June 22, 2005, the Attorney General of the State of California, in conjunction with District Attorneys for San
Bernardino, San Joaquin and Monterey Counties, filed suit in the San Bernardino County Superior Court against
AutoZone, Inc. and its California subsidiaries. The San Diego County District Attorney later joined the suit. The
lawsuit alleges that AutoZone failed to follow various state statutes and regulation governing the storage and
handling of used motor oil and other materials collected for recycling or used for cleaning AutoZone stores and
parking lots. The suit sought $12 million in penalties and injunctive relief. On June 1, 2007, AutoZone and the
State entered into a Stipulated Final Judgment by Consent. The Stipulated Final Judgment amended the suit to also
allege weights and measures (pricing) violations. Pursuant to this Judgment, AutoZone is enjoined from committing
these types of violations and agreed to pay civil penalties in the amount of $1.8 million, including $1.5 million in
cash and a $300,000 credit for work performed to insure compliance.

The Company currently, and from time to time, is involved in various other legal proceedings incidental to the
conduct of its business. Although the amount of liability that may result from these other proceedings cannot be
ascertained, the Company does not currently believe that, in the aggregate, these matters will result in liabilities
material to the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
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Note M — Segment Reporting

The Company manages its business on the basis of one reportable segment. See “Note A — Significant Accounting
Policies™ for a brief description of the Compariy’s business. As of August 25, 2007, the majority of the Company’s
operations were located within the United Staies. Other operations include ALLDATA and the Mexico locations,

each of which comprises less than 3% of consolidated net sales. The following data is presented in accordance with

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information:™

August 25, August 26, August 27,
(in thousands) 2007 2006 2008
Primary business focus:
DOomestic Retail....cooooeeeee i eeeeies ceieeieeierrrsis e e eee s $ 5,160,511 $§ 4,989,266 $ 4,795,648
Domestic ComMETCIAL.........o.oovviiirrrreris cerrriviriieesieeee e rerenes 705,567 708,715 718,150
OHRET .ottt srre e e bt 303.726 250,374 197,084
INEL SAIES ...veuviiviisereeeriiniire e s ta e e e eesseesraarrarysssnrneeaneeseens $ 6,169,804 §_5948355 § 5,710,882
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Quarterly Summary (1)

(unaudited)
Sixteen
Twelve Weeks Ended Weeks Ended
November 18, February 10, May 5, August 25,
(in thousands, except per share data) 2006 2007 2007 2007

Net SAlES ..o s
Increase (decrease) in domestic
comparable store sales .........o.ocoiieiene
Gross profit ...
Operating profit..........cccoiminarerrininnees
Income before income taxes .........cooeeees
NELINCOME ...t arenenne
Basic earnings per share.............c.cccooee.
Diluted earnings per share.....ccc.c..........

{in thousands, except per share data)

$ 1,393,069

0.3%

685,295
222,996
195,903
123,889
1.74
1.73

November 19,
2005

3 1,300,357 $ 1,473,671 $ 2,002,707

(0.3)% 0.4% (0.2)%
639,212 735,399 1,004,344
188,923 264,977 378,369
162,105 237,862 340,279
103,016 151,591 217,175

1.46 2.19 3.26

1.45 2.17 3.23

February 11, May 6, August 26,

2006 2006 2006

NEL SALES .o
Increase (decrease) in domestic
comparable store sales .........ccccoeeeee
Gross profit oo
Operating profit ...
Income before income taxes ...........cceeee.
NEL INCOME 11eeie e eericiresiensarsiessan et
Basic earnings per share......oooes
Diluted earnings per share...............coe

$ 1,338,076

0.8%

655,529
205,293
181,554
114,374
1.49
1.48

3 1,253,815 $ 1,417,433 $ 1,939,031

0.4% 2.1% (0.9Y%
616,190 704,041 962,761
178,345 253,169 373,118
154,012 228,248 338,222

97,022 144,428 213,451

1.26 1.90 2.94

1.25 1.89 292

(1) The sum of quarterly amounts may not equal the annual amounts reported due to rounding and due to per share
amounts being computed independently for each quarter while the full year is based on the annual weighted

average shares outstanding.
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Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

As of August 25, 2007, an evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of AutoZone’s
management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the
design and operation of our disclosure control: and procedures as of August 25, 2007, Based on that evaluation, our
management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective. Durinyg or subsequent to the fiscal year ended August 25, 2007, there were
no changes in our internal controls that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect internal
controls over financial reporting,

Item 9B. Other Information

Not applicable.
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PART I

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information set forth in Part [ of this document in the section entitled “Executive Officers of the Registrant,” is
incorporated herein by reference in response to this item, Additionally, the information contained in AutoZone,
Inc.’s Proxy Statement dated October 22, 2007, in the sections entitled “Proposal 1 — Election of Directors™ and
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” is incorporated herein by reference in response to this
item.

The Company has adopted a Code of Ethical Conduct for Financial Executives that applies to its chief executive
officer, chief financial officer, chief accounting officer and persons performing similar functions. The Company has

filed a copy of this Code of Ethical Conduct as Exhibit 14.1 to this Form 10-K. The Company has also made the
Code of Ethical Conduct available on its investor relations website at http://www.autozoneinc.com.

[tem 11, Executive Compensation

The information contained in AutoZone, Inc.’s Proxy Statement dated October 22, 2007, in the section entitled
“Executive Compensation,” is incorporated herein by reference in response to this item.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters
The information contained in AutoZone, inc.’s Proxy Statement dated October 22, 2007, in the sections entitled

“Security Ownership of Management” and “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners,” is incorporated
herein by reference in response to this item.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transacticons, and Director Independence

Not applicable.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information contained in AutoZone, [nc.’s Proxy Statement dated October 22, 2007, in the section entitled
“Proposal 2 — Ratification of [ndependent Registered Public Accounting Firm,” is incorporated herein by reference
in response to this item.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
The following information required under this item is filed as part of this report
(a) Financial Statements

The following financial statements, related notes and reports of independent registered public accounting firm are
filed with this Annual Report in Part 11, Item 8:

Report of Independent Registered Public Acccunting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Report of Independent Registered Public Acccunting Firm
Consolidated Statements of Income for the fis:al years ended August 25, 2007, August 26, 2006,
and August 27, 2005
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of August 25, 2007, and August 26, 2006
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for thy: fiscal years ended August 25, 2007, August 26, 2006,
and August 27, 2005
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the fiscal years ended August 25, 2007, August 26, 2006,
and August 27, 2005
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(b) Exhibits

The Exhibit index following this document’s signature pages is incorporated herein by reference in response to this
itemn.

(¢) Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules are omitted because the information is not required or because the information required is included in the
financial statements or notes thereto.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

AUTOZONE, INC.

By: /s/ William C. Rhodes, 11
William C. Rhodes, Ili
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: October 22, 2007

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE
/s/ William C. Rhodes, Tl1 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer  October 22, 2007
William C. Rhodes, III (Principal Executive Officer)
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice Qctober 22, 2007
/s/ William T. Giles President, Finance, Information Technology and
William T. Giles Store Development

(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Charlie Pleas, 111 Senior Vice President, Controller October 22, 2007
Charlie Pleas, 111 (Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Charles M. Elson Director Qctober 22, 2007
Charles M. Elson

/s/ Sue E. Gove Director October 22, 2007
Sue E. Gove

/s/ Earl G. Graves, Ir. Director October 22, 2007
Earl G. Graves, Jr.

/sf N. Gerry House Director October 22, 2007
N. Gerry House

/s/ J.R. Hyde, 111 Director October 22, 2007
J.R. Hyde, 11}

/sf W. Andrew McKenna Director October 22, 2007

W. Andrew McKenna

/s/ George R. Mrkonic, Jr. Director October 22, 2007

George R. Mrkonic, Jr.

/s/ Theodore W. Ullyot Director QOctober 22, 2007

Theodore W. Ullyot
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Restated Articles of Incorporation of AutoZone, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Form
10-Q for the quarter ended February 13, 1999,

Fourth Amended and Restated By-liws of AutoZone, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the
Form 8-K dated September 28, 2007,

Senior Indenture, dated as of July 22!, 1998, between AutoZone, Inc. and the First National Bank of
Chicago. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Form 8-K dated July 17, 1998.

Fourth Amended and Restated AutoZone, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 99.1 to the Form 8-K datcd September 28, 2007,

Indenture dated as of August 8, 2003, between AutoZone, Inc. and Bank One Trust Company, N.A.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Form S-3 (No. 333-107828) filed August 11, 2003.

Fourth Amended and Restated Director Stock Option Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Form 10-Q for the quarter endec May 4, 2002.

Second Amended and Restated 1993 Director Compensation Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 26, 2000.

Third Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Option Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 30, 2603.

Form of [ncentive Stock Option Agreement. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended November 23, 2002.

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement. [ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form
10-Q} for the quarter ended November 23, 2002.

AutoZone, Inc. Executive Deferred Compensation Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended February 12, 2000.

Form of Amended and Restated Employment and Non-Compete Agreement between AutoZone, Inc. and
various executive officers. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended November 22, 1999.

Form of Employment and Non-Compete Agreement between AutoZone, Inc., and various officers.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 18, 2000.

AutoZone, Inc. 2003 Director Stock. Option Plan. Incorporated by reference to Appendix C to the
definitive proxy statement dated Ncvember 1, 2002, for the annual meeting of stockholders held
December 12, 2002,

AutoZone, In¢. 2003 Director Compensation Plan. Incorporated by reference to Appendix D to the
definitive proxy statement dated Ncvember 1, 2002, for the annual meeting of stockholders held
December 12, 2002.

Amended and Restated AutoZone, Inc. Executive Deferred Compensation Plan. Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 10-Q for the quarter ended February 15, 2003,

Amended and Restated Employmert and Non-Compete Agreement between Steve Odland and AutoZone,
Inc., dated October 23, 2003, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended November 22, 2003.

Amended and Restated Five-Year Credit Agreement dated as of May 17, 2004, among AutoZone, Inc., as
borrower, the several lenders from t1ime to time party thereto, and Fleet National Bank, as Administrative
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10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

Agent and Citicorp USA, Inc., as Syndication Agent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 8§, 2004.

AutoZone, Inc. 2005 Executive Incentive Compensation Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to
the Company’s Proxy Statement dated October 27, 2004, for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders held
December 16, 2004.

Credit Agreement dated as of December 23, 2004, among AutoZone, Inc., as Borrower, the Several
Lenders from time to time party thereto, Fieet National Bank, as Administrative Agent, Wachovia Bank,
National Association, as Syndication Agent, Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC, as Joint Lead Arranger and
Sole Book Manager, Banc of America Securities LLC as Joint Lead Arranger, and Calyon New York
Branch, BNP Paribas and Regions Bank as Co-Documentation Agents. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated December 23, 2004 (filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on December 29, 2004).

Lenders’ consent to extend the termination date of the Company’s Amended and Restated 5-Year Credit
Agreement dated as of May 17, 2004 for an additional period of one year, to May 17, 2010. Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 7, 2005.

Lenders’ consent to extend the termination date of the Company’s Amended and Restated 364-Day Credit
agreement dated as of May 17, 2004 for an additional period of 364 days, to May 15, 2006. Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 7, 2005.

Description of severance agreement between AutoZone, Inc. and William C. Rhodes, I11. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 27, 2005, and the Form 8-K
dated September 28, 2007.

Agreement dated as of Qctober 19, 2005, between AutoZone, Inc. and Michael E. Longo. Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 6, 2006.

Offer letter dated April 13, 2006, to William T. Giles. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,2 to the
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 6, 2006.

First Amendment dated as of May 5, 2006, to the Credit Agreement dated as of December 23, 2004,
among AutoZone, Inc., as Borrower, the Several Lenders from time to time party thereto, Bank of
America, N.A, as Administrative Agent, and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as Syndication
Agent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 6, 2006.

Second Amendment dated as of August 3, 2007, to the Credit Agreement dated as of December 23, 2004,
(as amended by the First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of May 5, 2006) among AutoZone,
Inc., as Borrower, the Several Lenders from time to time party thereto, Bank of America, N.A, as
Administrative Agent, and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as Syndication Agent. Filed as Exhibit
10.22 to the Form 1 0-K for the fiscal year ended August 25, 2007

Four-Year Credit Agreement dated as of May 5, 2006, among AutoZone, Inc. as Borrower, the Several
Lenders from time to time party thereto, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and Citicorp
USA, Inc. as Syndication Agent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended May 6, 2006.

Second Amended and Restated Five-Year Credit Agreement dated as of May 5, 2006, among AutoZone,
Inc. as Borrower, the Several Lenders from time to time party thereto, Bank of America, N.A. as
Administrative Agent and Swingline Lender, and Citicorp USA, Inc. as Syndication Agent. Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 6, 2006.

AutoZone, Inc. 2006 Stock Option Plan. Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the definitive proxy
statement dated October 25, 2006, for the annual meeting of stockholders held December 13, 2006.

Form of Stock Option Agreement. Filed as Exhibit 10.26 to the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
August 25, 2007.
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AutoZone, Inc. Fourth Amended ar d Restated Executive Stock Purchase Plan. Incorporated by reference
to Appendix B to the definitive pro:ty statement dated October 25, 2006, for the annual meeting of
stockholders held December 13, 2006,

Agreement dated January 19, 2007, between AutoZone, Inc. and Bradley W. Bacon. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Form 8-K dated January 19, 2007.

Offer letter dated March 19, 2007, 10 Larry Roesel. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form
10-Q for the quarter ended May 5, 1007.

Computation of Ratio of Earnings t» Fixed Charges.

Code of Ethical Conduct. Incorporited by reference to Exhibit 14.1 of the Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended August 34, 2003.

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, a; Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to {8 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Management contract or compensatory plun or arrangement.
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EXHIBIT 12.1

Computation of Ratio of Eamnings to Fixed Charges
(in thousands, except ratios)

Earnings:
Income before income taxes
Fixed charges
Less: Capitalized interest
Adjusted earnings

Fixed charges:
Gross interest expense
Amortization of debt expense
Interest portion of rent expense
Total fixed charges

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges

Fiscal Year Ended August

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
{52 weeks) (52 weeks) (52 weeks) {52 weeks) (52 weeks)
$ 936,150 $ 902,036 $ 873,221 $ 605902 § 833,007

170,852 156,976 144,930 130,278 121,129

{1,376) {(1,985) (1,079) (813) (791)
31,105,626 $1,057,027 $1,017,072 $1,035367 § 953345
$ 121,592 § 110,568 $ 102,341 $ 89600 § 79301

1,719 1,559 2,343 4,230 7,334

47,541 44,849 40,246 36,448 34,494
$ 170,852 % 156976 § 144930 § 130,278 § 121,129

6.5 6.7 7.0 7.9 7.9
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EXHIBIT 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

STATE OR COUNTRY

OF ORGANIZATION
NAME OR INCORPORATION
ALLDATA LLLC Nevada
AutoZone de Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
AutoZone Development Corporation Nevada
AutoZone Northeast, Inc. fka ADAP, Inc. New Jersey
AutoZone Stores, Inc. Nevada
AutoZone Texas, L.P. Delaware
AutoZone West, Inc. fka Chief Auto Parts Inc. Delaware
AutoZone.com, Inc. Virginia
AutoZone Parts, Inc. Nevada
AutoZone Puerto Rico, Inc. Puerto Rico

In addition, fourteen subsidiaries operating in the United States and five subsidiaries operating outside of the
United States have been omitted as they would not, considered in the aggregate as a single subsidiary, constitute a
significant subsidiary as defined by Rule 1-0z(w) of Regulation S-X.
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements of AutoZone, Inc. of our reports dated

October 19, 2007, with respect to AutoZone, [nc.’s consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control

over financial reporting of AutoZone, Inc., included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended August 25, 2007:
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-19561) pertaining to the AutoZone, Inc. 1996 Stock Option Plan

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-42797) penaining to the AutoZone, Inc. Amended and Restated Employee
Stock Purchase Plan

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-48981) pertaining to the AutoZone, Inc. 1998 Director Stock Option Pian
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-48979) pertaining to the AutoZone, Inc. 1998 Director Compensation Plan
Registration Statement (Form $-3 No. 333-58565) pertaining to the registration to sell $200 million of debt securities

Registration Statement (Form $-8 No. 333-88245) pertaining to thé AutoZone, Inc. Second Amended and Restated 1996
Stock Option Plan

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-88243} pertaining to the AutoZone, Inc. Amended and Restated 1998 Director
Stock Option Plan

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-88241) pertaining to the AutoZone, Inc. Amended and Restated Director
Compensation Plan

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-75142) pertaining to the AutoZone, Inc. Third Amended and Restated 1998
Director Stock Option Plan

Registration Statement {Form S-8 No. 333-75140) pertaining to the AutoZone, Inc. Executive Stock Purchase Plan

Registration Statement {Form S-3 No. 333-83436) pertaining to a shelf registration o sell 15,000,000 shares of common
stock owned by certain selling stockholders

Registration Statement {Form S-3 No. 333-100205) pertaining to a registration to sell $500 million of debt securities
Registration Statement {Form S-8 No. 333-103665) pertaining to the AutoZone, Inc, 2003 Director Compensation Plan
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-103666) pertaining to the AutoZone, Inc. 2003 Director Stock Option Plan
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-107828) pertaining to a registration to sell $500 million of debt securities
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-139559) pertaining to the AutoZone, Inc. 2006 Stock Option Plan
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-118308) pertaining to a registration 10 sell $200 million of debt securities

/s/ Emst & Young LLP

Memphis, Tennessee
October 19, 2007
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I, William C. Rhodes, I, certify that;

1.

5.

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a; UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of AutoZone, Inc. (“registrant™);

Based on my knowledge, this report does not 1;ontain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ¢ nsure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, o provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial stat:ments for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the rugistrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting; and

financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors {or persons

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and [ have disclosed, based on pur most recent evaluation of intemal control over i
performing the equivalent functions): |
I

(a) Allsignificant deficiencies and matzrial weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal control over financial |
reporting which are reasonably like.y to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and i
report financial information; and ‘

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

QOctober 22, 2007

/sf WILLIAM C. RHODES, 111

William C. Rhodes, Iil

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 194,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, William T. Giles, certify that:

1.

5.

[ have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of AutoZone, Inc. (“registrant™);

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this repont, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the perieds
presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and intemal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the peried covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materiaily affect, the registrant's intemal control over financial
reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

(a)

(®

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

October 22, 2007

/s/ WILLIAM T. GILES

William T. Giles

Chief Financial Officer, Executive Vice President,
Finance, Information Technology and

Store Development

(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of AutoZone, Inc, (the “Company™) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
August 25, 2007, as filed with the Securities #nd Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I,
William C. Rhodes, [11, certify, pursuant to 13} U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(i) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section !5(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

(i) the information contained i1 the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

October 22, 2007

/s/ WILLIAM C. RHODES, 111

William C. Rhodes, 111

Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION %906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of AutoZone, Inc. (the “Company™) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
August 25, 2007, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I,
William T. Giles, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(i) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

Qctober 22, 2007

/s WILLIAM T. GILES

William T. Giles

Chief Financial Officer, Executive Vice
President, Finance, Information Technology
and Store Development

(Principal Financial Officer)
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Corporate Information

The CEO Team

Our leadership team is comprised of 42 individuals who work tirelessly to support the
AutoZone that exists today. We lead as a team, and we win as a team. Through their
support and guidance, the Company is well positioned for future growth.

Officers
Customer Satlsfaction

Wiliam C. Rhodes, IIIf
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Executive Vice Presidents
Customer Satisfaction

William T. Giles?
Chief Financial Officer, Information
Technology and Store Development

Harry L. Goldsmitht
General Counsel and Secretary

Robert D. Olsen?
Store Operations, Commercial
and Mexico

James A. Sheat
Merchandising, Marketing and
Supply Chain

Senior Vice Presidents
Customer Satisfaction

Timothy W. Briggs?
Human Resources

William W. Graves?
Supply Chain

Lisa R. Kranct
Marketing

Thomas B. Newbern?
Store Operations

Charlie Pleas, III*
Controtler

Larry M. Roeselt
Commercial

tRequired to file under Section 16 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Vice Presidents
Custoiner Satisfaction

Craig L. Barnes
Merchindising

L. Dan Barzel
Merchandising

Jon A. Bascom
Inform:tion Technology

Rebecza W. Ballou
Assistant General Counsel and
Assistant Secretary

B. Cra g Blackwell
Operaions

Kenneth L. Brame

Chief information Officer

Micha:t T. Broderick
Operalions

Brian {.. Campbell
TreasLry, Investor Relations and Tax

Philip 3. Daniele
Operations

Brett {). Easley
Merckandising

Mark A. Finestone
Mercl andising

Wm. David Gilmore
Store Jevelopment

Eric S. Gould
Commercial

James C. Griffith
Operations

Williarn R. Hacknay
Operations

Rodney C. Halsell
Supply Chain

Diana H. Hull
Assistant General Counsel and
Assistant Secretary

Domingo Hurtado
President, Mexico

Kenneth S. Klein
Merchandising

Jeffrey W. Lagges
President, ALLDATA

Mitchell C. Major
Supply Chain
Grant E. McGee
Commercial

Ann A. Morgan
Human Resources

J. Scott Murphy
Strategic Planning and
Business Development

Jeffrey H. Nix
Information Technology

Raymond A. Pohlman

Government and Community Relations

Elizabeth S. Rabun
Loss Prevention

Anthony Dean Rose, Jr.
Merchandising

Brett L. Shanaman
Marketing

Richard C. Smith
Operations

Solomon A. Woldesiassie
Supply Chain
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AUTOZONE, INC.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
ECEMBER 12, 2007

What: ,?nual Meeting of Stockholders

L)
When: ecember 12, 2007, 8:30 a.m. Central Standard Time
Where: J. R. Hyde HI Store Support Center

e 123 South Front Street
Memphis, Tennessee

Stockholders will vote
regarding: » Election of nine directors

* Ratification of the appointment of Emnst & Young
LLP as our independent registered public accounting
firm for the 2008 fiscal year

* The transaction of other business that may be prop-
erly brought before the meeting

Record Date: Stockholders of record as of October 15, 2007, may
vote at the meeting.

By order of the Board of Directors,

Harry L. Goldsmith
Secretary

Memphis, Tennessee
October 22, 2007

We encourage you to vote by telephone or Internet, both of which are convenient,
cost-effective and reliable alternatives to returning your proxy card by mail.
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AutoZone, Inc.
123 South Front Street
Memphis, Tennessee 38103

Proxy Statement
for
Annual Meeting of Stockholders
December 12, 2007

The Meeting

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders of AutoZone, Inc. will be held at AutoZone’s executive offices, the
J. R. Hyde III Store Support Center, 123 South Front Street, Memphis, Tennessee, at 8:30 a.m. CST on
December 12, 2007.

About this Proxy Statement

Our Board of Directors has sent you this Proxy Statement to solicit your vote at the Annual Meeting,
This Proxy Statement contains important information for you to consider when deciding how to vote on the
matters brought before the Meeting. Please read it carefully.

In this Proxy Statement:
+ “AutoZone,” “we,” and “the Company” mean AutoZone, Inc., and

= “Annual Meeting” or “Meeting” means the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on December 12,
2007, at 8:30'a.m. CST at the J. R. Hyde I1I Store Support Center, 123 South Front Street, Memphis,
Tennessee. ‘

AutoZone will pay all expenses incurred in this proxy solicitation. In addition to mailing this Proxy
Statement to you, we also may make additional solicitations in person, by telephone, facsimile, e-mail, or
other forms of communication. Brokers, banks, and others who hold our stock for beneficial owners will be
reimbursed by us for their expenses related to forwarding our proxy materials to the beneficial owners.

This Proxy Statement is first being mailed on or about October 22, 2007.

Information about Voting

What matters will be voted on at the Annual Meeting?
At the Annual Meeting, stockholders will be asked to vote on the following proposals:
1. to elect nine directors;

2. to ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting
firm for the 2008 fiscal year.

Stockholders also will transact any other business that may be properly brought before the Meeting.

Who is entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting?

The record date for the Annual Meeting is Qctober 15, 2007. Only stockholders of record at the close of
business on that date are entitled to attend and vote at the Annual Meeting. The only class of stock that can be
voted at the Meeting s cur common stock. Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote on all matters
that come before the Meeting. At the close of business on the record date, October 15, 2007, we had
64,914,833 shares of common stock outstanding.




How do I vote my shares?
You may vote your shares in person or by proxy:

By Proxy: You can vote by telehone, on the Internet or by mail. We encourage you to vote by
telephone or Internet, both of which are convenient, cost-effective, and reliable alternatives to returning
your proxy card by mail.

1. By Telephone: You may submit your voting instructicns by telephone by following the instruc-
tions printed on the enclosed proxy ca-d. If you submit your voting instructions by telephone, you do not
have to mail in your proxy card.

2. On the Internet: You may vote on the Internet by following the instructions printed on the
enclosed proxy card. If you vote on the Internet, you do not have to mail in your proxy card.

3. By Mail: If you properly complete and sign the enclosed proxy card and return it in the enclosed
envelope, it ‘will be voted in accordance with your instructions. The enclosed envelope requires no
additional postage if mailed in the United States.

In Person: You may attend the Annual Meeting and vote in person. If you are a registered holder
of your shares (if you hold your stock in your own name), you need only attend the Meeting. However, if
your shares are held in an account by a broker, you will need to present a written consent from your
broker permitting you to vote the shares in person at the Annual Meeting.

What if I have shares in the AutoZone Employee Stock Purchase Plan?

If you have shares in an account under the AutoZone Employee Stock Purchase Plan, you have the right
to vote the shares in your account. To do tais you must sign and timely return the proxy card you received
with this Proxy Statement, or grant your p:oxy by telephone or over the Internet by following the instructions
on the proxy card.

How will my vote be counted?

Your vote for your shares will be casi. as you indicate on your proxy card. If you sign your card without
indicating how you wish to vote, your sha:es will be voted FOR our nominees for director, FOR Emst &
Young LLP as independent registered pubic accounting firm, and in the proxies’ discretion on any other
matter that may properly be brought before the Meeting or any adjournment of the Meeting.

The votes will be tabulated and certified by our transfer agent, Computershare. A representative of
Computershare will serve as the inspector of election.
Can I change my vote after I submit my proxy?

Yes, you may revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted at the Meeting by:

« giving written notice to our Secretiry that you have revoked the proxy, or

 providing a later-dated proxy.

Any written notice should be sent to the Secretary at 123 South Front Street, Dept. 8074, Memphis,
Tennessee 38103.
How many shares must be present to constitute a quorum for the Meeting?

Holders of a majority of the shares of the voting power of the Company’s stock must be present in person
or by proxy in order for a quorum to be present. If a quorum is not present at the scheduled time of the
Annual Meeting, we may adjourn the Meeting, without notice other than announcement at the Meeting, until a
quorum is present or represented. Any business which could have been transacted at the Meeting as originally
scheduled can be conducted at the adjourned meeting.




THE PROPOSALS

PROPOSAL 1 — Election of Directors

Nine directors will be elected at the Annual Meeting to serve until the annual meeting of stockholders in
2008. Directors are elected by a plurality, so the nine persons nominated for director and receiving the most
votes will be elected. Pursuant to AutoZone’s Corporate Governance Principles, however, any nominee for
director who receives a greater number of votes “withheld” from his or her election than votes “for” such
election is required to tender his or her resignation for consideration by the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee of the Board. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will recommend
to the Board the action to be taken with respect to such resignation.

Abstentions and broker non-votes have no effect on the election of directors. (*Broker non-votes™ are
shares held by banks or brokers on behalf of their customers that are represented at the Meeting but are not
voted.)

The Board of Directors recommends that the stockholders vote FOR each of these nominees, These
nominees have consented to serve if elected. Should any nominee be unavailable to serve, your proxy will be
voted for the substitute nominee recommended by the Board of Directors, or the Board of Directors may
reduce the number of directors on the Board.

Each of the nominees named below was elected a director at the 2006 annual meeting.

Nominees
The nominees are:

Charles M. Elson, 47, has been a director since 2000. He has been the Edgar S. Woolard, Jr.
Professor of Corporate Governance since 2000 and is the Director of the Weinberg Center for Corporate
Governance at the University of Delaware. He is also of counsel to Holland & Knight LLP. Mr. Elson is
also a director of HealthSouth Corporation.

Sue E. Gove, 49, has been a director since 2005, She has been a consultant for Prentice Capital
Management, LP since June 2006, and was a consultant for Alvarez and Marsal Business Consulting,
L.L.C. from April 2006 to March 2007. She was Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of
Zale Corporation from 2002 to March 2006 and a director of Zale Corporation from 2004 to 2006, She
was Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer of Zale Corporation from 1998 to 2002 and
remained in the position of Chief Financial Officer until 2003.

Earl G. Graves, Jr, 45, has been a director since 2002, He has been the President and Chief
Executive Officer of Earl G. Graves Publishing Company, publisher of Black Enterprise magazine, since
January 2006, and was President and Chief Operating Officer from 1998 to 2006. Mr. Graves has been
employed by the same company in various capacities since 1988.

N. Gerry House, 60, has been a director since 1996. She has been the President and Chief Executive
Officer of the Institute for Student Achievement since 2000. Previously, she was the Superintendent of the
Memphis, Tennessee City School System since 1992.

J. R. Hyde, I, 64, has been a director since 1986 and was non-executive Chairman of the Board
from 2005 until June 2007. He has been the President of Pittco, Inc., an investment company, since 1989
and has been the Chairman of the Board and a director of GTx, Inc., a biotechnology, pharmaceutical
company since 2000. Mr. Hyde was AutoZone’s Chairman from 1986 to 1997 and its Chief Executive
Officer from 1986 to 1996. He was Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Malone & Hyde,
AutoZone’s former parent company, until 1988. Mr. Hyde is also a director of FedEx Corporation.

W. Andrew McKenna, 61, has been a director since 2000 and was elected Lead Director in June
2007. He is a private investor and is a director of Danka Business Systems PLC. Until his retirement in
1999, he had held various positions with The Home Depot, Inc., including Senior Vice President-Strategic
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Business Development from 1997 to 1999; President, Midwest Division from 1994 to 1997; and Senior
Vice President-Corporate Information Systems from 1990 to 1994. He was also President of SciQuest.-
com, Inc. in 2000.

George R. Mrkonic, Jr, 33, has been a director since June 2006. He served as Vice Chairman of
Borders Group, Inc. from 1994 to 2002. He has held senior level executive positions with W.R. Grace and
Company, Herman’s World of Sporting Gooeds, EyeLab, Inc.,, and Kmart Specialty Retail Group. He is
also a director of Brinker International, Inc. and Nashua Corporation.

William C. Rhodes, I, 42, was elicted Chairman in June 2007. He has been President, Chief
Executive Officer, and a director since 2005. Prior to his appointment as President and Chief Executive
Officer, Mr. Rhodes was Executive Vic: President — Store Operations and Commercial. Prior to fiscal
2005, he had been Senior Vice President — Supply Chain and Information Technology since fiscal 2002,
and prior thereto had been Senior Vice President — Supply Chain since 2001. Prior to that time, he
served in various capacities within the Zompany, including Vice President — Stores in 2000, Senior Vice
President — Finance and Vice President — Finance in 1999 and Vice President — Operations Analysis
and Support from 1997 to 1999. Prior io 1994, Mr. Rhodes was a manager with Emst & Young, LLP.

Theodore W, Ullyvot, 40, has been a director since December 2006. He has been the Executive Vice
President and General Counsel of ESL Investments, Inc., a private investment firm, since October 2005.
He was Chief of Staff to former U.S. Attorney General Alberto R. Gonzales in 2005, after serving in the
White House from January 2003 to Jaruary 2005 as a Deputy Assistant to President George W. Bush and
as Associate Counsel. From January 20101 to January 2003, Mr. Ullyot served as a lawyer for AOL Time
Warner Inc., beginning in New York- ar Vice President and Associate General Counsel and then in
London as the General Counsel of AQ.. Time Warner Europe. Earlier in his career, Mr. Ullyot was a
litigation and antitrust attorney at Kirk.and & Ellis LLP, and a law clerk to Supreme Court Justice
Antonin Scalia.

Independence

How many independent directors does AutoZone have?

Qur Beard of Directors has determined that seven of our current nine directors are independent: Charles M.
Elson, Sue E. Gove, Earl G, Graves, Jr., N. Cierry House, W. Andrew McKenna, George R. Mrkonic, Jr., and
Theodore W. Ullyot. All of these directors mzet the independence standards of our Corporate Governance
Principles and the New York Stock Exchange: listing standards.

How does AutoZone determine whether a director is independent?

In accordance with AutoZone’s Corpo-ate Governance Principles, a director is considered independent if
the director:

* has not been employed by AutoZon: within the last five years;
« has not been employed by AutoZone:’s independent auditor in the last five years;

= is not, and is not affiliated with a ccmpany that is, an adviser, or consultant to AutoZone or a member
of AutoZone’s senior management;

» is not affiliated with a significant customer or supplier of AutoZonc;

+ has no personal services contract with AutoZone or with any member of AutoZone’s senior
management;

» is not affiliated with a not-for-profit entity that receives significant contributions from AutoZone;

* within the last three years, has not had any business relationship with AutoZone for which AutoZone
has been or will be required to makz disclosure under Rule 404(a) or (b) of Regulation S-K of the
Securities and Exchange Commission as currently in effect;
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» receives no compensation from AutoZone other than compensation as a director;

* is not employed by a public company at which an executive officer of AutoZone serves as a director,;
* has not had any of the relationships described above with any affiliate of AutoZone; and
* is not a member of the immediate family of any person with any relationships described above.

In determining whether any business or charity affiliated with one of our directors did a significant
amount of business with AutoZone, our Board has established that any payments from either party to the other
exceeding 1% of either party’s revenues would disqualify a director from being independent.

In determining the independence of our directors, the Board considers relationships involving directors
and their immediate family members that are relevant under applicable laws and regulations, the listing
standards of the New York Stock Exchange, and the standards contained in cur Corporate Governance
Principles (listed above). The Board relies on information from Company records and questionnaires
completed annually by each director.

As part of its most recent independence determinations, the Board noted that AutoZone does not have,
and did net have during fiscal 2007, commercial relationships with companies at which Board members served
as officers or directors, or in which Board members or their immediate family members held an aggregate of
10% or more direct or indirect interest. The Board considered the fact that Mr. Ullyot is Executive Vice
President and General Counsel of ESL Investments, Inc., which beneficially owns 33.9% of AutoZone’s
outstanding stock. ESL Investments, Inc., with its affiliates, is a substantial stockholder of Sears Holding
Corporation. During fiscal 2007, Sears Holding Corporation did business with AutoZone in arm’s length
transactions which were not, individually or cumulatively, material to either AutoZone or Sears Holding
Corporation. The Board also reviewed donations made by the Company to not-for-profit organizations with
which Board members or their immediate family members were affiliated by membership or service or as
directors or trustees.

Based on its review of the above matters, the Board determined that none of Messrs. Elson, Graves,
McKenna, Mrkonic, or Ullyot or Mmes. Gove and House has a material relationship with the Company and
that all of them are independent within the meaning of the AutoZone Corporate Governance Principles and
applicable law and listing standards.

Corporate Governance Documents

Our Board of Directors has adopted Corporate Governance Principles; charters for its Audit, Compensa-
tion and Nominating & Corporate Governance Committees; a Code of Business Conduct & Ethics for
directors, officers and employees of AutoZone; and a Code of Ethical Conduct for Financial Executives. Each
of these documents is available on our corporate website at www.autozoneinc.com and is also available, free
of charge, in print to any stockholder who requests it.

Meetings and Attendance

How many times did AutoZone’s Board of Directors meet during the last fiscal year?
During the 2007 fiscal year, the Board of Directors held eight meetings.
Did any of AutoZone’s directors attend fewer than 75% of the meetings of the Board and their assigned
commitiees?
All nine of our directors attended at least 75% of the meetings of the Board of Directors and their
assigned committees during the fiscal year.
What is AutoZone’s policy with respect to directors’ attendance at the Annual Meeting?
As a general matter, all directors are expected to attend our Annual Meetings. At our 2006 Annual

Meeting, all directors and nominecs for director were present.
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Do AutoZone’s non-management directors meet regularly in executive session?

The non-management members of our Board of Directors regularly meet in executive sessions in
conjunction with each regularly scheduled Fioard meeting. Prior to June 2007, our then non-executive
Chairman, Mr. Hyde, presided, and now out Lead Director, Mr. McKenna, presides at these sessions.

Committees of the Board

What are the standing committees of AutoZone’s Board of Directors?

|
1 AutoZone’s Board has three standing committees: Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and
Nominating and Corporate Governance Cormittee, each consisting only of independent directors.

Audit Committee

What is the function of the Audit Committee?
The Audit Committee is responsible fcr:
« the integrity of the Company’s finan:ial statements, .
+ the independent auditor’s qualification, independence and performance,
« the performance of the Company’s internal audit function, and
* the Company’s compliance with legul and regulatory requirements.
The Committee performs its duties by:

« evaluating, appointing or dismissing, determining compensation for, and overseeing the work of the
independent public accounting firm employed to conduct the annual audit, which reports to the Committee;

« pre-approving all audit and permitte 1 non-audit services performed by the independent auditor,
considering issues of auditor independence;

+ conducting periodic reviews with Company officers, management, independent auditors, and the internal
audit function;

» reviewing and discussing with management and the independent auditor the Company’s annual audited
financial statements, quarterly finan:ial statements, internal controls report and the independent
auditor’s attestation thereof, and other matters related to the Company’s financial statements and
disclosures;

« overseeing the Company’s internal audit function;
* reporting periodically to the Board :ind making appropriate recommendations; and

« preparing the report of the Committee required to be included in the annual proxy statement.

Who are the members of the Audit Conmittee?

The Audit Committee consists of Ms. Gove, Mr. Graves, Mr. Mrkonic and Mr. McKenna {Chairman).

Are all of the members of the Audit Committee independent?
Yes, the Audit Committee consists entirely of independent directors under the standards of AutoZone’s
Corporate Governance Principles and the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange.
Does the Audit Committee have an Audit Committee Financial Expert?

The Board has determined that Ms. Clove, Mr. McKenna and Mr. Mrkonic each meet the qualifications of
an audit committee financial expert as defined by the Securities and Exchange Commission. All members of
the Audit Committee meet the New York 3tock Exchange definition of financial literacy.
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How many times did the Audit Committee meet during the last fiscal year?

During the 2007 fiscal year, the Audit Committee held eleven meetings.

Where can I find the charter of the Audit Committee?

The Committee’s o}harter is available on our corporate website at www.autozoneinc.com and is also
available, free of charge, in print to any stockholder who requests it.

Compensation Committee

What is the function|of the Compensation Committee?

The Compensation;Committee has the authority, based on its charter and the AutoZone Corporate
Governance Principles, to:

» review and apprave AutoZone’s compensation objectives;

» review and approve the compensation programs, plans and awards for executive officers, including
recommending equity-based plans for stockholder approval;

* act as administrator as may be required by AutoZone's short- and long-term incentive plans and other
stock or stock-baged plans; and

* review the compe:'nsation of AutoZone’s non-employee directors from time to time and recommend to
the full Board any changes that the Committee deems necessary.

The Committee magr appoint subcommittees from time to time with such responsibilities as it may deem
appropriate; however, the committee may not delegate its authority to any other persons.

AutoZone’s processes and procedures for the consideration and determination of executive compensation,
including the role of the|Compensation Committee and compensation consultants, are described in the
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis” on page 17.

Who are the members of the Compensation Committee?

The Compensation Committee consists of Dr. House, Mr. McKenna, Mr. Mrkonic and Mr. Ullyot
(Chairman), all of whom|are independent directors under the standards of AutoZone’s Corporate Governance
Principals and the listing{standards of the New York Stock Exchange.

How many times did the Compensation Committee meet during the last fiscal year?

During the 2007 fisqal year, the Compensation Committee held three meetings.

Where can I find the charter of the Compensation Committee?

The Committee’s charter is available on our corporate website at www.autozoneinc.com and is also
available, free of charge, iin print to any stockholder who requests it.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

. Lo A . ,
What is the function of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee?

The Nominating and|Corporate Governance Committee ensures that;

+ qualified candidates are presented to the Board of Directors for election as directors;

* the Board of Directors has adopted appropriate corporate governance principles that best serve the
practices and objectives of the Board of Directors; and

* AutoZone’s Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws are structured to best serve the interests of the
stockholders.




Who are the members of the Nominatiny and Corporate Governance Committee?

The Nominating- and Corporate Goverr.ance Committee consists of Mr. Elson (Chairman), Ms. Gove,
Mr. Graves and Dr. House, all of whom are independent directors under the standards of AutoZone’s Corporate
Governance Principals and the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange.

How many times did the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee meet during the last fiscal
year?

During the 2007 fiscal year, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee held four meetings.

Where can I find the charter of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee?

The Committee’s charter is available ¢n our corporate website at www.autozoneinc.com and is also
available, free of charge, in print to any stcckholder who requests it.

Director Nomination Process

What is the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee’s policy regarding consideration of director
candidates recommended by stockholders? How do stockholders submit such recommendations?

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee’s policy is to consider director candidate
recommendations from stockholders if thev are submitted in writing to AutoZone’s Secretary, accompanied by
the biographical and business experience information regarding the nominee and the other information required
by Anicle III, Section 1 of AutocZone’s Foarth Amended and Restated Bylaws (“Bylaws™). Copies of the
Bylaws will be provided upon written request to AutoZone's Secretary and are also available on AutoZone’s
corporate website at www.autozoneinc.coni.

What qualifications must @ nominee hove in order to be recommended by the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Commiitee for a position ¢n the Board?

The Board believes each individual director should possess certain personal characteristics, and that the
Board as a whole should possess certain core competencies. Such personal characteristics are integrity and
accountability, informed judgment, financial literacy, mature confidence, high performance standards, and
passion. Core competencies of the Board iis a whole are accounting and finance, business judgment,
management expertise, crisis response, incustry knowledge, international markets, strategy and vision, These
characteristics and competencies are set forth in more detail in AutoZone’s Corporate Governance Principles,
which are available on AutoZone’s corporate website at www.autozoneinc.com.

How does the Nominating and Corpor.ite Governance Commiitee identify and evaluate nominees for
director?

Prior to each annual meeting of stocl:holders at which directors are to be elected, the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee considers incumbent directors and other qualified individuals as potential
director nominees. In evaluating a potential nominee, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
considers the personal characteristics described above, and also reviews the composition of the full Board to
determine the areas of expertise and core competencies needed to enhance the function of the Board. The
Commitiee may also consider other facto's such as the size of the Board, whether a candidare is independent,
how many other public company directorships a candidate holds, and the listing standards requirements of the
New York Stock Exchange.

The Nominating and Corporate Govirrnance Committee uses a variety of methods for identifying potential
nominees for director. Candidates may ccme to the attention of the Committee through current Board
members, stockholders or other persons. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee may retain a
search firm or other consulting firm from time to time to identify potential nominees. Nominees recommended
by stockholders in accordance with the p;ocedure described above, i.e., submitted in writing to AutoZone’s
Secretary, accompanied by the biographical and business experience information regarding the nominee and
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the other information re
the Committee’s nomin

Procedure for Commu

quired by Article 111, Section | of the Bylaws, will receive the same consideration as
Ees.

nication with the Board of Directors

How can stockholders and other interested parties communicate with the Board of Directors?

Stockholders and g
Board, to any individual
123 South Front Street,
unopened to the address
directors as a group wil
the Board will be forwa

t

I

her interested parties may communicate with the Board of Directors by writing to the
director or to the non-management directors as a group ¢/o Secretary, AutoZone, Inc.,

Dept. 8074, Memphis, Tennessee 38103, All’such communications will be forwarded
ee. Communications addressed to the Board of Directors or to the non-management

be forwarded to Charles M. Elson and communications addressed to a committee of
ded to the chairman of that committee.

Compensation of Directors

Director CompensatiJm Table

This table shows the compensation paid to our non-employee directors during the 2007 fiscal year. No

amounts were paid to ou

r non-employee directors during the 2007 fiscal year that would be classified as

“Non-Incentive Plan Compensation,” “Changes in Pension Value and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

Earnings” or “All Other|Compensation,” so these columns have been omitted from the table.
Fees
Earned or Stock Option
Paid in Cash Awards Awards Total

$) (t3] % %
Name(1) (2) (3} (G (5}
Charles M. Elson. ! .. . ... .. ... .. .. . ... 24,738 24,738 82,436 131,912
SueE.Gove ... . . . o e - 20,000 19,714 60,703 100,417
Earl G. Graves, Jr. | . ... ... . . 21,983 21,983 51,008 94,974
N.GerryHouse . .| . ... .. .. ... . i, 21,983 21,983 82,436 126402
JR.Hyde, IIT ... 0. o e 21,983 21,983 82,436 126,402
Edward S. Lampert(6) ... ................ .. ... 5,589 5,589 161,958 173,136
W. Andrew McKenpa. .. ... .. i, 27,754 27,754 82,436 137944
George R. Mrkonic} Jr. . .............. ... ..... 21,983 21,983 57,350 101,316
Theodore W. Ullyot(?). ... ... ..ot 15,740 15,740 34,929 66,409

(1} William C. Rhedes, 111, our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, serves on the Board but does

not receive any com
pany is shown in the

Under the AutoZone
of their annual retain

2

pensation for his service as a director. His compensation as an employee of the Com-

Summary Compensation Table on page 24.

Inc. 2003 Director Compensation Plan, non-employee directors receive at least 50%
er fees and committee chairmanship fees in AutoZone common stock or in Stock

Units (units with val

ue equivalent to the value of shares of AutoZone common stock as of the grant date).

They may elect to receive up to 100% of the fees in stock and/or to defer all or part of the fees in Stock
Units. This column represents the 50% of the fees that were paid in cash or which the director elected to
receive in stock or Stock Units during fiscal 2007. The stock and stock unit amounts reflect the dollar
amounts recognized for financial statement reporting purposes in accordance with Financial Accounting
Standards Board Stdtement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment”
(“SFAS 123(R)™). See Note B, Share-Based Compensation, to our consolidated financial statements in our

2007 Annual Report

for a discussion of our accounting for share-based awards and the assumptions used.

The other 50% of thq, fees, which were required to be paid in stock or Stock Units, are included in the

amounts in the “Stoc

The “Stock Awards”
purposes in accordan

(3

k Awards” column.

column represents the dollar amounts recognized for financial statement reporting
ce with SFAS 123(R) for awards of common stock under the Director Compensation
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Plan during fiscal 2007, and awards of :ommon stock and Stock Units under the Director Compensation
Plan and its predecessor, the 1998 Direc:tor Compensation Plan, prior to fiscal 2007. See Note B, Share-
Based Compensation, to our consolidated financial statements in our 2007 Annual Report for a discussion
of our accounting for share-based awards and the assumptions used. The aggregate number of outstanding
Stock Units held by each director and tae grant date fair value of each stock award made during fiscal
2007 are shown in the following footnote 4. See “Security Ownership of Management” on page 15 for
more information about our directors’ stock ownership.

The “Option Awards” column represents the dollar amounts recognized for financial statement reporting
purposes in accordance with SFAS 123(R) for stock options awarded under the AutoZone, Inc. 2003 Direc-
tor Stock Option Plan and its predecessor, the 1998 Director Stock Option Plan. It includes amounts from
awards granted in and prior to fiscal 207. See Note B, Share-Based Compensation, to our consolidated
financial statements in our 2007 Annual Report for a discussion of our accounting for share-based awards
and the assumptions used. As of August 25, 2007, each non-employee director had the following aggregate
number of outstanding Stock Units and stock options:

Stock Stock
Units Options*

Director B ¢
Charles M. BISON . . . . ..o e 2,784 24608
SUE B GOVE . . i i e e e e e e 280 6,715
Earl G. Graves, JI. . ... o e e e 2411 13,282
N.Gerry House ... ... e 4326 25500
JR. Hyde, IIL . .. oo e e 6,560 26,500
Edward S. Lampert. ... .................. e —_ —_
W, Andrew McKenna . ... ...t i e e e e 4,247 24,955
George R. Mrkonic, Jr. . ..o . e 460 6,857
Theodore W. Ullyot .. ... ... . i e e 255 4,578

* Includes vested and unvested stock options.
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The following table shows the grant date fair value of each stock award and each stock option-award
made during fiscal 2007 computed in accordance with SFAS 123(R). Stock award values are determined
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. See Note B, Share-Based Compensation, to our consoli-
dated financial statements in our 2007 Annual Report for a discussion of our accounting for share-based
awards and the ass‘umplions used.

Grant Date Fair
Value of Stock

Grant Date Fair

Value of Option

Awards Awards
Name Grant Date ($) [£3]

Charles M. Elson 9/1/2006 11,251
12/1/2006 11,249

1/1/2007 19,580
3/1/2007 11,252
6/1/2007 11,254
Sue E. Gove 9/1/2006 4,966
12/172006 4 985

1412007 9,790
3/1/2007 4,881
6/1/2007 4,882
Earl G. Graves, Ir. 9/1/2006 9,996
12/1/2006 10,003

1/1/2007 19,580
3/172007 10,001
6/1/2007 9,995
N. Gerry House 9/1/2006 9,996
12/1/2006 10,003

1/1/2007 19,580
3/1/2007 10,001
6/1/2007 9,995
J.R. Hyde, 111 9/1/2006 9,996
12/1/2006 10,003

1/1/2007 19,580
3/1/2007 10,001
6/1/2007 9,995
Edward S. Lampert 9/1/2006 9,996
12/1/2006 1,246
W. Andrew McKenna 9/1/2006 12,497
12/1/2006 12,495

1/1/2007 19,580
3/172007 12,391
6/1/2007 12,461
George R. Mrkonic,|Jr. 9/1/2006 9.9%6
12/1/2006 10,003

14172007 19,580
3/1/2007 10,001
6/1/2007 9,995

Theodore W. Ullyot 1/1/2007 9,790
3/1/2007 21,003
6/1/2007 11,254

(5) The “Total” column i

footnotes 3 and 4 abc;ve.

L different than total compensation actually paid to our directors in fiscal 2007. See

(6) Mr. Lampert retired from the Board in December, 2006. According to the 2003 Director Stock Option

Plan, the vesting of Mr, Lampert’s unvested stock option grants was accelerated over a term of 30 days.

(7) Mr. Ullyot joined the

Board in December, 2006.
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Narrative Accompanying Director Compensation Table

Current Compensation Structure

Annual Retainer Fees. All non-employee directors are paid an annual retainer of $40,000, with the
Audit Committee chairman receiving an additional $10,000 and the chairmen of the Compensation and
Nominating and Corporate Governance comimittees each receiving an additional $3,000 per year. There are no
mecting fees.

Director Compensation Plan. Under the AutoZone, Inc, 2003 Director Compensation Plan (the “Direc-
tor Compensation Plan”}), a non-employee director may receive no more than one-half of the annual fees in
cash — the remainder must be taken in common stock. The director may elect to receive up to 100% of the
fees in stock or to defer all or part of the fies in units with value equivalent to the value of shares of
AutoZone Common Stock (“Stock Units™). Unless deferred, the annual fees are payable in advance in equal
quarterly installments on September 1, December 1, March 1, and June ! of each year, at which time each
director receives cash and/or shares of common stock in the amount of one-fourth of the annual fees. The
number of shares issued is determined by ¢lividing the amount of the fee payable in shares by the fair market
value of the shares as of the grant date.

If a director defers any portion of the annual fees in the form of Stock Units, then on September 1,
December 1, March 1, and June 1 of each year, AutoZone will credit a unit account maintained for the
director with a number of Stock Units determined by dividing the amount of the fees by the fair market value
of the shares as of the grant date. Upon the director’s termination of service, he or she will receive the number
of shares of common stock with which his or her unit account is credited, either in a lump sum or installments,
as elected by the director under the Directir Compensation Plan.

Director Stock Option Plan. Under the AutoZone, Inc. 2003 Director Stock Option Plan (the “Director
Stock Option Plan™), each non-employee Cirector receives an option to purchase 1,500 shares of common
stock on January 1 of each year, and each director who owns common stock or Stock Units worth at least five
times the annual retainer fee receives an alditional option to purchase 1,500 shares. In addition, each new
director receives an option to purchase 3,000 shares upon election to the Board, plus a portion of the annual
directors’ option grant prorated for the poition of the year served in office. These stock option grants are made
at the fair market value of the common stock as of the grant date, defined in the plan as the average of the
highest and lowest prices quoted for the cymmon stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the business day
immediately prior to the grant date. They become fully vested and exercisable on the third anniversary of the
date of grant, or the date on which the dirzctor ceases to be a director of AutoZone, whichever occurs first.

Changes Effective January f, 2008

The Board of Directors has approved the following changes to AutoZone’s director compensation
structure effective January 1, 2008.

Annual Retainer Fees, Beginning Junuvary t, 2008, non-employee directors will be able to choose each
year between two compensation options. A director electing the first option will receive the same retainer fee
as is currenty paid, i.e., an annual base rctainer of $40,000 (the “Base Retainer”). A director electing the
second option will receive, in addition to the Base Retainer, an annual supplemental retainer in the amount of
$35,000 (the “Supplemental Retainer”), bat will receive a smaller annual stock option award under the
Director Stock Option Plan.

Director Compensation Plan. The 3ase Retainer and the Supplemental Retainer, if applicable, plus any
chairman fees will be paid through the D rector Compensation Plan, so that at least one-half of these fees will
be paid in common stock, and the directar may elect to receive up to 100% of the fees in stock or to defer all
or part of the fees in Stock Units.

Director Stock Option Plan. The Lirector Stock Option Plan will be amended so that directors who
elect to be paid only the Base Retainer will receive, on January t during their first two years of service as a
director, an option to purchase 3,000 shares of AutoZone common stock. After the first two years, such

12




directors will receive,
each such director whg
receive an additional o

on January 1 of each year, an option to purchase 1,500 shares of common stock, and
owns common stock or Stock Units worth at least five times the Base Retainer will
ption to purchase 1,500 shares. Directors electing to be paid the Supplemental Retainer

will receive, on January 1 during their first two years of service as a director, an option to purchase

2,000 shares of AutoZi')

ne common stock. Afier the first two years, such directors will receive, on January | of

each year,-an option to purchase 500 shares of common stock, and each such director who owns common

stock or Stock Units w
1,500 shares.

The changes in th
was a member of the B

Predecessor Plans

The AutoZone, In
Fourth Amended and R
replaced by the Directq
those plans continue in
outstanding shown abo

orth at least five times the Base Retainer will receive an additional option to purchase

e grants during a director’s first two years of service will not apply to any director who
3oard as of June 6, 2007.

c. Second Amended and Restated Director Compensation Plan and the AutoZone, Inc.

estated 1998 Director Stock Option Plan were terminated in December 2002 and were
r Compensation Plan and the Director Stock Option Plan. However, grants made under
effect under the terms of the grant made and are included in the aggregate awards

ve.

Stock Ownership Requirement

The Board has estlablished a stock ownership requirement for non-employee directors. Within three years
of joining the Board, ehch director must personally invest at least $100,000 in AutoZone stock. Shares and

Stock Units issued und

PROPOSAL 2 — Rati

Ernst & Young LL

Audit Committee to be

Representatives of Erng
desire and to answer an

e the Director Compensation Plan count toward this requirement.

fication of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

P, our independent auditor for the past twenty fiscal years, has been selected by the
AutoZone’s independent regisiered public accounting firm for the 2008 fiscal year.

t & Young LLP will be present at the Annual Meeting to make a statement if they so
y appropriate questions.

The Audit Committee recommends that you vote FOR ratification of Ernst & Young LLP as

AutoZone’s independe|

votes in favor of ratific
voling either for or aga

nt registered public accounting firm. For ratification, the firm must receive more
ation than votes cast against. Abstentions and broker non-votes will not be counted as
nst the firm. However, the Audit Committee is not bound by a vote either for or

against the firm. The Audit Committee will consider a vote against the firm by the stockholders in selecting

. .
our independent registe

red public accounting firm in the future.

During the past two fiscal years, the aggregate fees for professional services rendered by Ernst & Young

LLP were as follows:

Audit Fees

Audit-Related Fees

Tax Fees .......
All Other Fees. ..

2007 2006
......................................... $1,365,436  §$1,251,004
......................................... 68,388(1) 6,000(2)

(1) Tax Fees for 2007 were for assistance with international and domestic federal, state and local transfer

pricing.
{2) Tax Fees for 2006

ere for assistance related to our Mexican subsidiaries.

The Audit Committee pre-approves all services performed by the independent registered public account-

ing firm under the term

website at www.autozon

s contained in the Audit Committee charter, a copy of which can be obtained at our
einc.com. The Audit Committee pre-approved 100% of the services provided by
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Ernst & Young LLP during the 2007 and 2006 fiscal years. The Audit Committee considers the services listed
above to be compatible with maintaining Erast & Young LLP’s independence.

Audit Committee Report

The Audit Committee of AutoZone, In:., has reviewed and discussed AutoZone’s audited financial
statements for the year ended August 25, 2C07, with AutoZone's management. In addition, we have discussed
with Ernst & Young LLP, AutoZone's independent registered public accounting firm, the matters required to
be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and the charter of
the Committee.

The Committee also has received the written disclosures and the letter from Emst & Young LLP required
by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, and we have discussed with Ernst & Young LLP their
independence from the Company and its m:nagement. The Committee has discussed with AutoZone’s
management and the auditing firm such oth:r matters and received such assurances from them as we deemed
appropriate.

'As a result of our review and discussions, we have recommended to the Board of Directors the inclusion
of AutoZone’s audited financial statements .n the annual report for the fiscal year ended August 25, 2007, on
Form 10-K for filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

While the Audit Committee has the re«ponsibilities and powers set forth in its charter, the Audit
Comumitiee does not have the duty to plan cr conduct audits or to determine that AutoZone’s financial
statements are complete, accurate, or in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; AutoZone’s
management and the independent auditor have this responsibility. Nor does the Audit Committee have the duty
to assure compliance with laws and regulations and the policies of the Board of Directors.

W. Andrew McKenna (Chairman)
Sue E. Gove

Ear! G. Graves, Jr.

George R. Mrkonic, Jr.

The above Audit Commitiee Report do:zs not constitute soliciting material and should not be deemed filed
or incorporated by reference into any other Company filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent the Company specifically incorporates this Report by reference
therein.

Other Matters

We do not know of any matters to be presented at the Annual Meeting other than those discussed in this
Proxy Statement. If, however, other matters are properly brought before the Annual Meeting, your proxies will
be able to vote those matters in their discretion.
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OTHER INFORMATION

Security Ownership of Management

This table shows tl!:e beneficial ownership of common stock by each director, the Principal Executive
Officer, the Principal Financial Officer and the other three most highly compensated executive officers, and all

current directors and executive officers as a group. Unless stated otherwise in the notes to the table, each
person named below has sole authority to vote and invest the shares shown.
Beneficial Ownership
As of October 15, 2007
Ownership

Name of Beneficial Owner - Shares Percentage
Charles M. EISON(1) . .« v v o et e 24,509 *
Sue E. Gove(2) . .| oo e e 1,603 *
Earl G, Graves, JL(3) . . .. oo s 9,776 *
NoGerry House{d)|. . . ... ... o 22,022 *
J R Hyde, TH(5) .| . oo e e e e 613,327 *
"W, Andrew McKenna(6). . ... oo e e 36,501 *
George R. Mrkonic, Jt.(7). . ... ..o 3,043 *
William C. Rhodes, III(B). . ... .. oo i e e e e i 225,987 ¥
Theodore W. Ullyolt(9) ........................................ 348 *
William T. Giles(10) .. ...t i i e i e 16,364 *
Harry L. Goldsmiﬂll(l | T U 143,380 *
Robert D. Olsen{12). . ... oo e e e 225,632 *
James A. Shea(l3). . .. .. .. i e 35,682 *
All current directors and executive officers as a group (19 persons)(14) . ... 1,524,770 2.3%

* Less than 1%.
(1)

Includes 2,877 shares that may be acquired immediately upon termination as a director by conversion of
Stock Units and 13,608 shares that may be acquired upon exercise of stock options either immediately or

within 60 days of QOctober 15, 2007.

Includes 280 shares that may be acquired immediately upon termination as a director by conversion of
Stock Units.

2

(3) Includes 2,494 shares that may be acquired immediately upon termination as a director by conversion of
Stock Units and 7,282 shares that may be acquired upon exercise of stock options either immediately or

within 60 days of October 15, 2007.

Includes 4,409 shares that may be acquired immediately upon termination as a director by conversion of
Stock Units and 16',500 shares that may be acquired upon exercise of stock options either immediately or

@

(5)

(6}

(7

within 60 days of Qctober 15, 2007.

Includes 211,175 s
and for which he s

hares held by a charitable foundation for which Mr. Hyde is an officer and a director
hares investment and voting power, 6,642 shares that may be acquired immediately

upon termination ag a director by conversion of Stock Units, and 17,500 shares that may be acquired

upon exercise of st

ock options either immediately or within 60 days of October 15, 2007. Does not

include 2,000 shares owned by Mr. Hyde’s wife.

Includes 4,247 sh

es that may be acquired immediately upon termination as a director by conversion of

Stock Units and 151955 shares that may be acquired upon exercise of stock options either immediately or
within 60 days of Qctober 15, 2007.

Includes 543 shares

Stock Units.

that may be acquired immediately upon termination as a director by conversion of
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(8) Includes 217,750 shares that may be écquired upon exercise of stock options either immediately or within
60 days of October 15, 2007.

(9) Includes 348 shares that may be acqu:red immediately upon termination as a director by conversion of
Steck Units. Mr. Ullyot is the Executive Vice President and General Counsel of ESL Investments, [nc.
Mr Ullyot disclaims beneficial ownership of all shares owned by a group consisting of affiliates of ESL
Investments, Inc. See footnote 1 unde: Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners, below.

(10} Includes 16,250 shares that may be acquired upon exercise of stock options either immediately or within
60 days of October 15, 2007.

(11) Includes 133,500 shares that may be ucquired upon exercise of stock options either immediately or within
60 days of October 15, 2007, and 1,400 shares held by trusts for which Mr. Goldsmith is a beneficiary.

(12) Includes 206,000 shares that may be ucquired upon exeicise of stock options either immediately or within
60 days of October 153, 2007.

(13) Includes 35,000 shares that may be acquired upon exercise of stock options either immediately or within
60 days of October 15, 2007, and 15(: shares owned by Mr. Shea’s wife.

{14) Includes 21,840 shares that may be acquired immediately upon termination as a director by conversion of
stock appreciation rights and 843,445 shares that may be acquired upon exercise of stock options either
_imnmediately or within 60 days of October 15, 2007.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial OQwners

The following entities are known by s to own more than five percent of our outstanding common stock:

Name and Address Ownership
of Beneficial Owner Shares Percentage
ESL Partners, LP{1) . ... ...t i e e 22,028,940 33.9%

200 Greenwich Avenue
Greenwich, CT 06830
State Street Bank and Trust . ... ... . . it e it 3,506,367 54%
Company(2}
225 Franklin Street
Boston, MA 02110
DE Shaw & Co., L.LP(3) . . ..o e e e e 3,367,573 5.2%
120 W. 45" Street
Tower 45, 39" Floor
New York, NY 10036

(l) The shares deemed beneficially owned by ESL Partners, L.P. are owned by a group consisting of ESL
Partners, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, ESL Institutional Partners, L.P., a Delaware limited partner-
ship, ESL Investors, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company, Acres Partners, L.P., a Delaware limited .
partnership, RBS Partners, L.P. , a Delaware limited partnership, and Edward S. Lampert. RBS Partners,
L.P. and ESL Investments, Inc. are general partners of ESL Partners, L.P. ESL Investments, Inc. is the gen-
eral partner of Acres Partners, L.P. RBS Investment Management, L.L.C., is the general partner of ESL
Institutional Partners, L.P. RBS Partne;s, L.P., is the manager of ESL Investors, L.L.C. Mr. Lampert is the
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and a director of ESL Investments, Inc., and managing member of ESL
Investment Management, LLC, and R3S Investment Management, LLC. In their respective capacities,
each of the foregoing may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of the shares of AutoZone common stock
beneficially owned by other members of the group. ESL Partners, L.P. is the record owner of
12,195,661 shares; ESL Institutional Partners, L.P. is the record owner of 71,771 shares; ESL. Investors,
L.L.C. is the record owner of 3,003,476 shares; Acres Partners, L.P. is the record owner of
5,875,557 shares; RBS Partners, L.P. is the record owner of 860,325 shares; and Mr. Lampert is the record
owner of 22,150 shares. Each entity o' person has the sole power to vote and dispose of the shares deemed
beneficially owned by it. Mr. Ullyot is the Executive Vice President and General Counsel of ESL Invest-
ments, [nc.; however, Mr. Ullyot disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares owned by a group consisting
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of affiliates of ESL
Form 4 filed with t
reporting beneficial
(2) The source of this
State Street Bank a
2007,

(3) The source of this
D.E. Shaw & Co.,

Compensation Discuss

Investments, Inc., as reflected in the table above. The source of this information is a
he Securities and Exchange Commission by ESL Investors, L.L.C. on August 3, 2007,
ownership as of August 1, 2007,

nformation is a Schedule 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission by

nd Trust Company on August 10, 2007, reporting beneficial ownership as of June 30,

nformation is a Schedule 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission by
L.P. on June 22, 2007, reporting beneficial ownership as of June 12, 2007.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

ion and Analysis

Introduction

This Compensatio
tive compensation prog
executive officers recei
AutoZone’s total rewar
objectives we seek to a

What are the Compa

n Discussion and Analysis provides a principles-based overview of AutoZone’s execu-
ram. It discusses our rationale for the types and amounts of compensation that our

ve and how compensation decisions affecting these officers are made. It also discusses
ds philosophy, the key principles governing our compensation program, and the
chieve with each element of our compensation program.

ny’s key compensation principles?

Pay for performan

ce. The primary emphasis of AutoZone's compensation program is linking executive

pay to business results

and stockholder value. Base salary levels are intended to be competitive, but the more

. | . ; ) - .
potentially valuable components of executive compensation are annuat cash incentives, which depend on the
achievement of pre-determined business goals, and to a greater extent, long-term compensation, which is based
on the value of our stock.

Attract and retain

talented AutoZoners. The overall level and balance of compensation ¢lements in our

compensation program are designed to ensure that AutoZone can retain key executives and, when necessary,
attract qualified new ex!ecutives 1o the organization. We believe that a financially strong company which
delivers solid stockholder results is the most important component of attracting and retaining executive talent,

What are the Company’s overall executive compensation objectives?

Drive high perforn

nance. AutoZone sets challenging financial and operating goals, and a significant

amount of an executive,
payment is earned only

Drive long-term st

’s annual cash compensation is tied to these objectives and therefore “at risk” —
if performance warrants it.

ockholder results. AutoZone's compensation program is intended to support long-term

focus on stockholder re

sults, so it emphasizes long-term rewards. At target levels, the majority of an executive

officer’s total compensation package each year is the potential value of his or her stock options.

Who participates in .

The Chief Executi
comprising AutoZone’s
Compensation Discussi

AutoZone’s executive compensation programs?

ve Officer and the other named executive officers, as well as the other senior executives
Executive Commitiee, participate in the compensation program ocutlined in this
on and Analysis. The Executive Committee consists of the Chief Executive Officer and

officers with the title of senior vice president or executive vice president. However, many elements of the

compensation program

Ialso apply to other levels of AutoZone management. The intent is to ensure that

management is motivated to pursue, and is rewarded for achieving, the same financial, operating and

stockholder cbjectives.
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What are the key elements of the company’s overall executive compensation program?

The table below summarizes the key e ements of AuioZone’s executive compensation program and the

objectives they are designed to achieve.

Pay Element

Description

Objectives

Base salary

Anual fixed cash
compensation.

Attraction and retention.

Recognize differences in
relative size of positions as
well as individual performance
over the long term.

Annual cash incentive {bonus)

Anriual variable pay tied to the
achievement of key Company
financial and operating
objcctives. FY07 and FYO8
pririary measures are:
* Eirnings before interest and
taxes, and
+ Rzturn on invested capital.
Actual payout depends on the
results achieved. Potential
payout is not capped; however,
payout may be zero if threshold
targets are not achieved.
The Compensation Committee
may reduce payouts in its
discretion when indicated by
individual performance.

Communicate key financial and
operating objectives.

Drive high levels of
performance by ensuring that
executives’ total cash
compensation is linked to
achievement of financial and
operating objectives.

« Support and reward
consistent, balanced growth and
returns performance (add value
every year).

Stock options

Senior executives receive a mix
of incentive stock options
(IS1s) and non-qualified stock
options (NQSOs).

All stock options are granted at
fair market value on the grant
date: {discounted options are
proaibited).

AuloZone’s stock option plan
proaibits repricing and does not
include a *‘reload” program.

Align long-term compensation
with stockholder results.
Opportunities for significant
wealth accumulation by
executives are tightly linked to
stockholder returns.

ISOs provide an incentive to
hold shares after exercise, thus
increasing ownership and
further reinforcing the tie to
stockholder results.

Stock purchase plans

AuwoZone maintains a broad-
baszd employee stock purchase
plan which is qualified under
Section 423 of the Internal
Revenue Code. The Employee
Stock Purchase Plan allows
AuloZoners to make quarterly
pur:hases of AutoZone shares
at £5% of the fair market value
on :he first or last day of the
calendar quarter, whichever is
lower.

The: Company has implemented
an ‘Executive Stock Purchase
Plaa so that executives may
continue to purchase AutoZone
shares beyond the limit the IRS
and the company set for the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Allow all AutoZoners to
participate in the growth of
AutoZone’s stock.
Encourage ownership, and
therefore alignment of
executive and stockholder
interests,




Pay Element Description Objectives

Retirement plans The Company maintains a  Provide competitive executive

number of retirement plans: retirement benefits.

e 401(k) defined contribution + The non-qualified plan enables
plan executives to defer base and

* Frozen defined benefit pension bonus earnings up to 25% of
plan, and the total, independent of the

¢ Non-qualified deferred IRS limitations set for the
compensation plan (including a qualified 40t(k) plan.
frozen defined benefit * The restoration component of
restoration feature). the non-qualified plan altowed

executives to accrue benefits
that were not capped by IRS
earnings limits.

Health and other benefits Executives are eligible for a * Provide competitive benefits.
' variety of benefits, including: * Minimize perquisites while
» Medical, dental and vision ensuring a competitive overall
plans; and rewards package.
* Life and disability insurance
plans.

Annual cash compensation. Annual cash compensation consists of base salary and annual cash
incentives (bonus).

Base Salary. Salaries are determined within the context of a targeted total cash compensation level for
each position. Base salﬁry is a fixed portion of the targeted annuat cash compensation, with the specific
portion varying based on differences in the size, scope or complexity of the jobs as well as the tenure and
performance level of incumbents in the positions. Points are assigned to positions using a job evaluation
system developed by Hay Group, and AutoZone maintains salary ranges based on the job evaluations
originally constructed with Hay Group’s help. These salary ranges are updated annually based on broad-based
survey data; in addition to Hay Group survey data, AutoZone uses surveys published by Mercer and Hewitt
Associates, among others, for this purpose. As discussed below, neither the Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors nor|AutoZone management routinely engages independent compensation consultants for
the purpose of setting individual executive pay levels or incentive targets.

AutoZone emphasizes pay for performance, so base salary ranges are structured to support the delivery of
competitive total cash compensation (a combination of base salary and annual cash incentive) when
AutoZone's financial objectives are achieved. Therefore, base salary ranges are not established by reviewing
external base salary information alone.

Annual Cash Incentzve Executive officers and certain other employees are eligible to receive annual
cash incentives (bonuses) each fiscal year based on the Company's attainment of objectives set by the
Compensation Committee at the beginning of the fiscal year. The annual cash incentive target for each
position, expressed as a percentage of base salary, is based on both salary range and level within the
organization. As a general rule, as an executive’s level of management responsibility increases, the portion of
his or her total compensation dependent on Company performance as measured by business objectives
IMCreases.

Annual cash incentives for executive officers are paid pursuant to the AutoZone, Inc. 2005 Executive
Incentive Compensatioxll Plan (“EICP"), our performance-based short-term incentive plan. Pursuant to the Plan,
the Compensation Committee establishes incentive ohjectives at the beginning of each fiscal year. For more
information about the EICP see Discussion of Plan-Based Awards Table on page 27.

The actual bonus mount paid depends on performance relative to the target objecuves A minimum pre- ’
established goal must ble met in order for any bonus award to be paid, and the bonus award as a percentage of
annual salary will increase as the Company achieves higher levels of performance.
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The incentive objectives for fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2008 were based on the achievement of specified levels
of earnings before interest and taxes (“EBIT”) and return on invested capital (“ROIC”). The specific targets
are tied to achievement of the Company’s operating plan for the fiscal year. In 2007, the target objectives were
EBIT of $1,048.9 million and ROIC of 21.5%.

Because the EBIT and ROIC performance targets for 2008 are tied to achievement of our operating plan,
we regard them as highly confidential and competitively sensitive. Disclosing the specific targets would result
in competitive harm to the Company in that it would inform competitors as to the basis for future business
decisions. Also, it has been AutoZone’s policy for a number of years not to give financial guidance to stock
market analysts, and disclosure of the specilic targets would violate that policy.

Our Board of Directors participates in the creation of challenging financial and operating plans to be
achieved by management. The Compensation Committee sets the incentive targets each year based on these
plans. There are no individual performance measures or other means by which executives may earn annual
incentive awards if the financial results do rot warrant payment. Over the last five years, annual cash incentive
payouts have exceeded target three times and have been below target twice.

Effect of Performance on Total Annual Cash Compensation.  Because AutoZone emphasizes pay for
performance, it is only when the Company cxceeds its target objectives that an executive’s total annual cash
compensation begins to exceed competitive market levels. Similarly, Company performance below target will
cause an executive’s total annual cash compznsation (o drop below competitive market levels. As discussed
below, AutoZone does not engage in strict kenchmarking of compensation levels, i.¢., we do not use specific
data to support precise targeting of compensation, such as setting an executive’s base pay at the 50th percentile
of an identified group of companies.

Stock options. To emphasize achieverient of long-term stockholder value, AutoZone’s executives receive
a significant portion of their targeted total compensation in the form of stock options. Although stock options
have potential worth at the time they are granted, they only confer actual value if AutoZone’s stock price
appreciates between the grant date and the exercise date. For this reason, we believe stock options are the best
long-term compensation vehicle to reward executives for creating stockholder value. We do not maintain any
other long-term incentive plans for our executives. We want our executives to realize total compensation levels
well above the market norm, because when they do, such success is the result of both achievement of
Company financial objectives and strong stcckholder returns.

In order to support and facilitate stock ownership by our executive officers, a portion of their annual stock
option grant typically consists of Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”). If an executive holds the stock acquired
upon exercise of an ISO for at least two yezrs from the date of grant and one year from the date of exercise,
he or she can receive favorable long-term cipital gains tax trealment for all appreciation over the exercise
price. 1SOs have a term of ten years and vest in equal 25% increments on the first, second, third and fourth
anniversaries of the grant date. They are granted at the fair market value on the date of grant as defined in the
relevant stock option plan. There is a $100,000 limit on the aggregate grant value of ISOs that may become
exercisable in any calendar year.

Because of the limitations on 1SOs, mest of the stock options granted to our officers and other employees
are non-qualified stock options (“NQSOs”). In general, our NQSOs have terms of ten years and one day and
vest in equal 25% increments on the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of the grant date. They are
granted at the fair market value on the date of grant us defined in the relevant stock option plan.

AutoZone does not grant discounted stock options, and our stock option plans prohibit repricing of
previously granted options. AutoZone’s plar:s do not provide for the granting of “reload” options.

AutoZone grants stock options annuall. Currently, the annual grants are reviewed and approved by the
Compensation Commiitee in the meeting at which it reviews prior year results, determines incentive payouts,
and 1akes other compensation actions affect.ng the named executive officers. The Compensation Committee
has not delegated its authority to grant stocl: options; all grants are directly approved by the Compensation
Committee. Option grant amounts are recommended to the Compensation Committee by the Chief Executive
Officer, based on individual performance and the size and scope of the position held.
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Newly promoted or hired officers may receive a grant shortly after their hire or promotion. As a general
rule, new hire or promotional stock options are approved and effective on the date of a regularly scheduled
meeting of the Compelllsauon Committee. On occasion, these interim grants may be approved by unanimous
written consent of the Compensauon Committee. The grants are recommended to the Compensation Commit-
tee by the Chief Executive Officer based on individual circumstances {e.g., what may be required in order to
attract a new executive). Internal promotional grants are prorated based on the time elapsed since the officer
received a regular annual grant of stock options.

For more information about our stock option plans, see Discussion of Plan-Based Awards Table on
page 27.

Stock purchase plans. AutoZone maintains the Employee Stock Purchase Plan which enables all
employees to purchase AutoZone common stock at a discount, subject to IRS- determined limitations. Based
on IRS rules, we limit]the annual purchases in the Employee Stock Purchase Plan to no more than $15,000,
and no more than 10% of eligible (base and bonus or commission) compensation. To support and encourage
stock ownership by our executives, AutoZone also established a non-qualified stock purchase plan. The Fourth
Amended and Restated AutoZone, Inc. Executive Stock Purchase Plan (“Executive Stock Purchase Plan™)
permits participants o acquire AutoZone common stock in excess of the purchase limits contained in
AutoZone’s Emplc)yee| Stock Purchase Plan. Because the Executive Stock Purchase Plan is not required to
comply with the requirements of Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code, it has a higher limit on the
percentage of a participant’s compensation that may be used to purchase shares (25%}) and places no dollar
limit on the amount of a participant’s compensation that may be used to purchase shares under the plan.

The Executive Sll)ck Purchase Plan operates in a similar manner to the tax-qualified Employee Stock
Purchase Plan, in that it allows executives to defer after-tax base or bonus compensation (after making annual
elections as required ulnder Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Cede) for use in making quarterly purchases of
AutoZone common stock. Options are granted under the Executive Stock Purchase Plan each calendar quarter
and consist of two parts: a restricted share option and an unvested share option. Shares are purchased under the
restricted share optionlat 100% of the closing price of AutoZone stock at the end of the calendar quarter (i.c.,
not at a discount), and a number of shares are issued under the unvested share option at no cost to the executive,
so that the total numbgr of shares acquired upon exercise of both options is equivalent to the number of shares
that could have been purchased with the deferred funds at a price equal to 85% of the stock price at the end of
the quarter. The unvested shares are subject to forfeiture if the executive does not remain with the company for
one year after the grant date. After one year, the shares vest, and the executive owes taxes based on the share
price on the vesting date (unless a so-called 83(b) election was made on the date of grant).

The table below can be used to compare and contrast the stock purchase plans.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Executive Stock Purchase Plan

Contributions

After tax, limited to lower of
10% of eligible compensation or
$15,000

After tax, limited to 25% of
eligible compensation

Discount 15% discount based on lowest 15% discount based on quarter-
price at beginning or end of the end price
guarter

Vesting None; 1-year holding period Shares granted to represent 15%

discount restricted for | year;
1-year holding period for shares
purchased at fair market value

Taxes — Individual

Ordinary income in amount of
spread; capital gains for
appreciation; taxed when shares
sold

Ordinary income when
restrictions lapse (83(b) election
optional)

Taxes — Company

No deduction unless
“disqualifying disposition”

Deduction when included in
employee’s income
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How does the Compensation Committee consider and determine executive and director compensation?

Chief Executive Officer.  The Compentation Committee establishes the compensation level for the Chief
Executive Officer, including base salary and annual cash incentive compensation, and reviews and approves
his stock option awards. The. Chief Executivz Officer’s compensation is reviewed annually by the Compensa-
tion Committee in conjunction with a review' of his performance by the non-management directors, taking into
account all forms of compensation, includinj; base salary, annual cash incentive, stock option awards, and the
value of other benefits received.

Other Executive Officers.  The Compensation Commitiee reviews and establishes base salaries for
AutoZone’s executive officers other than the Chief Executive Officer based on each executive officer’s
performance during the past fiscal year and on the recommendations of the Chief Executive Officer. The
Compensation Committee approves the annual cash incentive amounts for the executive officers, which are
determined by objectives established by the {“ompensation Committee at the beginning of each fiscal year as
discussed above. The actual bonus amount piid depends on performance relative to the target objectives.

The Compensation Committee approves awards of stock options to many levels of management, including
executive officers. Stock options are granted to executive officers upon initial hire or promotion, and thereafter
are typically granted annually in accordance with guidelines established by the Compensation Committee as
discussed above. The actual grant is determined by the Compensation Committee based on the guidelines and
the performance of the individual in the posiiion. The Compensation Committee considers the recommenda-
tions of the Chief Executive Officer.

What roles do the Chief Executive Officer and other executive officers play in the determination of executive
compensation?

The Chief Executive Officer attends mos: meetings of the Compensation Committee and participates in the
process by answering Compensation Committie questions about pay philosophy and by ensuring that the
Compensation Committee’s requests for inforraation are fulfilled. He also assists the Compensation Committee
in determining the compensation of the executive officers by providing recommendations and input about such
matters as individual performance, tenure, and size, scope and complexity of their positions. The Chief Executive
Officer makes specific recommendations to thi: Compensation Committee concerning the compensation of his
direct reports and other senior executives, inclhiding the executive officers. These recommendations usually relate
to base salary increases and stock option grants, The Chief Executive Officer also recommends pay packages for
newly hired executives. Management provides the Compensation Committee with data, analyses and perspectives
on market trends and annually prepares information to assist the Compensation Committee in its consideration of
such recommendations. Annual incentive awards are based on achievement of business objectives set by the
Compensation Committee, but the Compensation Committee may exercise negative discretion, and if it does so,
it is typically in reliance on the Chief Executive Officer’s assessment of an individual’s performance.

The Chief Executive Officer does not muke recommendations to the Compensation Committee regarding
his own compensation. The Senior Vice Presilent, Human Resources has direct discussions with the
Compensation Committee Chairman regarding the Compensation Committee’s recommendations on the Chief
Executive Officer’s compensation; however, C'lompensation Committee discussions of specific pay actions
related to the Chief Executive Officer are held outside his presence.

Does AutoZone use compensation consultants?

Neither AutoZone management nor the Coinpensation Committee hired compensation consultants during fiscal
2007. As discussed previously, AutoZone does not regularly engage consultants as part of our annual review and
determination of executive compensation. Although historically we have hired consultants to provide services from
time to time, it is not our usual practice. The Co npensation Committee has authority, pursuant to its charter, to hire
consultants of its selection to advise it with respect to AutoZone’s compensation programs, and it may also limit the
use of the Compensation Committee’s compensa'ion consultants by AutoZone’s management as it deems appropriate.
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What are AutoZone’s peer group and compensation benchmarking practices?

AutoZone reviews publicly-available data from a peer group of companies to help us ensure that our overall
compensation remains competitive. The peer group is currently composed of the 24 specialty retailers listed
below, and includes our direct competitors as well as other companies which we believe are similar to AutoZone
in such matters as customers, product lines, revenues and market capitalization. The peer group data we use is
from proxy filings and |other published sources — it is not prepared or compiled especially for AutoZone.

We periodically review the appropriateness of this peer group. It typically changes when such events as
acquisitions and spin-offs occur,

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS INC GENUINE PARTS CO RADIOSHACK CORP
BARNES & NOBLE INC HOME DEPOT INC ROSS STORES INC

BED BATH & BEYOND INC LIMITED BRANDS INC SHERWIN WILLIAMS CO |
BEST BUY CO INC | LOWE’S COMPANIES INC STAPLES INC

BORDERS GROUP IN O’'REILLY AUTOMOTIVE INC STARBUCKS CORP
CIRCUIT CITY STORES INC OFFICE DEPOT INC TIX COMPANIES INC

CSK AUTO CORP PEP BOYS MANNY MOE & JACK WILLIAMS SONOMA INC
GAP INC PETSMART INC ZALE CORP

We do not use mformauon from the peer group or other published sources to set targets or make
individual compensatign decisions. AutoZone does not engage in “benchmarking,” such as targeting base
salary at peer group m(Ldlan for a given position. Rather we use such data as context in reviewing AutoZone’s
overall compensation levels and approving recommended compensation actions. Broad survey data and peer
group information are ]ust two elements that we find useful in maintaining a reasonable and competitive
compensation program. Other elements that we consider are individual performance, Company performance,
individual tenure, position tenure, and succession planning.

What is AutoZone’s| policy concerning the tax deductibility of compensation?

The Compensanm Committee considers the provisions of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code
(the “Code™) which allows the Company to take an income tax deduction for compensation up to $1 million
and for certain compensation exceeding $1 million paid in any taxable year to a “covered employee™ as that
term is defined in the Code. There is an exception for qualified performance-based compensation, and
AutoZone’s compensauon program is designed to maximize the tax deductibility of compensation paid to
executive officers, where possible. Our EICP, discussed above, is a performance-based incentive plan designed
to ensure deductibility jof annual cash incentives. However, the Compensation Committee may authorize
payments which are not deductible where it is in the best interests of AutoZone and its stockholders.

The following table outlines which plans or types of payments retain deductibility when the $1 million
threshold is exceeded.

Deductible Not Deductible

Base salary. ... .| o e X
Executive Incentive Comp. Plan . .. .............. ... . ......... X
Stock Options . . .| ..o X
Executive. Stock Purchase Plan . . .. .. ... ... ... ... ... i, X

How is AutoZone complying with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code?

Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code was created with the passage of the American Jobs Creation
Act of 2004. These new tax regulations create strict rules related to non-qualified deferred compensation
earned and vested on ar after January 1, 2005. AutoZone has conducted a thorough assessment of all affected
plans, and continues to take actions necessary to comply with the new requirements by the deadlines
established by the Internal Revenue Service.
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Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Committee”) has reviewed and discussed
with management the Compensation Discussion and Analysis required by ltem 402(b} of Regulation S-K.
Based on the review and discussions, the Ccmmittee recommended 1o the Board of Directors that the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this proxy statement.

Members of the Compensation Committee:
Theodore W. Ultyot, Chairman
N. Gerry House
W. Andrew McKenna
George R. Mrkonic, Jr.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The current members of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors are listed above,
Mr. Lampert served as a member of the Corapensation Committee and chaired the Compensation Committee
until he retired from the Board of Directors in December, 2006. The Committee is composed solely of
independent, non-employee directors.

Summary Compensation Table

This table shows the compensation paidl to the Principal Executive Officer, the Principal Financial Officer
and our other three most highly paid executive officers (the “Named Executive Officers™),

Change in
Pension Value
& Non-Qualified
Non-Equity Deferred
Stock  Option  Incentive Plan Compensation Al Other
Salary Binus Awards Awards Compensation Earnings Compensation  Total
Name and Principal Position Year () () B _ BB ($Hd) $)(5 ($)(6) (%)

William C. Rhodes III . ... .. .. 2007 618,385 ~ 20434 1508356 614,764 N/A 121,547 2,933,486
Chairman, President &
Chief Executive Officer

William T. Giles . ........... 2007 433.231 25000 —  T6,216 279434 N/A 269,650 1,733,531
Chief Financial Officer/
Executive Vice President,
Finance, IT & Store
Development

James A.Shea. .. ........ ... 2007 416,308 — — 762,787 208,519 N/A 41,303 1488917
Executive Vice President,
Merchandising, Marketing &
Supply Chain

Harry L. Geldsmith. .. ... . ... 2007 359,154 — — 762,942 231,655 N/A 54,390 1,408,141
Executive Vice President,
General Counsel & Secretary

Robert D.Olsen . ........... 2007 382,539 — — 669,623 246,738 N/A 42,116 1,341,016
Executive Vice President, -
Store Operattons, Commercial
& Mexico

(1} Annual incentive awards were paid pursuant to the EICP and therefore appear in the “non-equity incentive
plan compensation” column of the table. Mr. Giles’ bonus payment in this column reflects the second of
two installments of his sign-on bonus.

(2) Represents shares acquired pursuant to the Executive Stock Purchase Plan. See “Compensation Discussion
and Analysis™ on page 17 for more information about this plan. See Note B, Share-Based Compensation,
to our consolidated financial statements in our 2007 Annual Report for a description of the Executive
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Stock Purchase Plan and the accounting and assumptions used in calculating expenses in accordance with

SFAS 123(R).

(3) The value of stock awards and option awards was determined as reqmred by SFAS No. 123(R). There is
no assurance that these-values will be realized. See Note B, Share-Based Compensation, to our consoli-
dated financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended August 25, 2007 for
details on assumptions used in the valuation,

{4) Bonus amounts were earned for the 2007 fiscal year pursuant to the EICP and were paid in October, 2007.
See “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” on page 17 for more information about this plan.

(5) Our defined benefit pension plans were frozen in December 2002, and accordingly, benefits do not
increase or decrease. See the Pension Benefits table on page 30 for more information. We did not provide
above-market or preferential earnings on deferred compensation.

(6) All Other Compensation includes the following:

Company
Contributions to

Perquisites Tax Defined Life

and Personal Gross- Contribution Insurance
Name Benefits(A) ups Plans(C) Premiums Other(D)
William C. Rhodes III . .......... $ 71,093(B) $45,938 34,516
William T. Giles .\ . ............. $267,222(B) $765 51,063
James A.Shea ..l .............. $ 17,481 $21,502 $1,920 ‘
Harry L. Goldsmith .. ........... $ 28,234 $17,459 $2,097 $6,600 ‘
Robert D. Olsen | ............... $ 21,059 $18,960 $2,007

(A) Perquisites and personal benefits for all Named Executive Officers include Company-provided home

security system and/or monitoring services, airline club memberships and status upgrades, Company-
paid executive physicals, Company-paid long-term disability insurance premiums, matching charita-
ble contributions under the AutoZone Matching Gift Program, and premiums for participation in our
executive medical plan, The executive medical plan was discontinued as of July 1, 2007.

(B) The perquisites or personal benefits which exceeded the greater of $25,000 or 10% of the total

amount of perquisites and personal benefits for an executive officer are as follows:

Mpr. Rhodes: | $50,000 in matching charitable contributions made under the AutoZone Matching Gift
Program, under which executives may contribute to qualified charitable organizations and AutoZone
provides a matching contribution to the charities in an equal amount, up to $50,000 in the aggregate
for each executive ofﬁcer annually.

Mr. Giles: $253 728 in relocation expenses, including $2,128 in temporary living expense reim-
bursements. The remaining amount consists of $6,500 for repair and maintenance of Mr. Giles’
former home 'I.vhlle it was on the market and a difference of $245,100 between the appraised value at
which the Company purchased the home and the price at which it was ultimately sold.

(C) Represents employer contributions to the AutoZone, Inc. 401(k} Plan and the AutoZone, Inc.
Executive Deferred Compensation Plan.

(D) Represents a transition payment to Mr. Goldsmith which the Company pays to certain individuals
due to their age and service as of the date the AutoZone, Inc. Associates Pension Plan was frozen.
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table sets forth information regarding plan-based awards granted to the Company’s Named
Executive Officers during the 2007 fiscal year.

All other
Rlmad Pl PUcs sy foards,  Namberof Coubote " Grant Dat
. Plans(l) Number of Securities Exercise or uf.Gmnl.for Fair Value of
Fquity Shares of Underlying ~ Base Priee of Option Awards,  Stock and
Plans Threshold  Target Maximum Stock or Units Options Option Awards  If Different  Option Awards
Name Grant Date & ® L] #)i2) (#(3) L] )4 ®
William C. Rhodes IHL. . . . ... 311,750 523,500 N/A
9/26/2006 43,500 103.44 104.15 1,325,972
92612006 1,500 103.44 104.15 45,723
9130/2006 7 723
12/31/2006 158 18,258
3312007 6 769
6/30/2007 5 683
William T. Giles . .. ....... 131,250 262,500 N/A
9/26/2006 23,000 103.44 104.15 701,089
972672006 ¢ 2,000 103.44 104.15 60,964
James A. Shea. ........... 126,430 252,900 N/A
912672006 23,000 103.44 104.15 701,089
9/26/2006 2,000 103.44 104.15 60,964
Harry L. Goldsmith . . ... ... 109,350 218,700 N/A
9/26/2006 23,500 103.44 104.15 716,330
912672006 1.500 103.44 104.15 45,723
Robert D. Olsen. . . . . .. I 121,350 242,700 N/A ' .
9/26/2006 23,500 103.44 104.15 716,330
9/26/2006 1,500 103.44 104.15 45,723

(1) Represents potential threshold, target and maximum incentive compensation for the 2007 fiscal year under
the EICP. Amounts actually paid for thi: 2007 fiscal year are described in the “Non-Equity Incentive Plan
Compensation” column in the Summar7 Compensation Table. The “threshold” is the minimum payment
level under the EICP which is 50% of the target amount. There is no maximum. See “Compensation Dis-
cussion and Analysis” at page 17 and tae discussion following this table for more information on the
EICP.

(2) Represents shares acquired pursvant to the Executive Stock Purchase Plan. See “Compensation Discussion
and Analysis” at page 17 and the discussion following this table for more information on the Executive
Stock Purchase Plan,

(3} Represents options awarded pursuant to the AutoZone, Inc. 1996 Stock Option Plan. See “Compensation
Discussion and Analysis™ at page 17 and the discussion following this table for more information on this
plan.

(4) Under the 1996 Stock Option Plan, sto:k option awards are made at the fair market value of common
stock as of the grant date, defined as the closing price on the trading day previous to the grant date.
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Discussion of Plan-Based Awards Table

Executive Incentive Compensation Plan. The EICP is intended to be a performance-based compensation

plan under Section 162

{m) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company’s executive officers, as determined by

the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, are eligible to participate in the EICP. At the

beginning of each fisca

| year, the Compensation Committee establishes a goal, which may be a range from a

minimum to a maximum attainable bonus, based on one or more of the following measures:

« Earnings * Return on invested capital
* Earnings per share * Economic value added
+ Sales

+ Market share
* Operating or 1

+ Pre-tax profits|

* Return on inventory

* Gross profit margin
et cash flows P &

* Sales per square foot

* Earnings before interest and taxes * Comparable store sales

The EICP provides that the goal may be different for different executives. The goals can change annually

to support our business
the attainment of goals
“Compensation Discus;

Executive Stock P

objectives. After the end of each fiscal year, the Compensation Committee must certify
under the EICP and direct the amount to be paid to each participant in cash. See
ion and Analysis” on page 17 for more information about the EICP.

urchase Plan. The Executive Stock Purchase Plan permits participants to acquire

AutoZone common sto{;k in excess of the purchase limits contained in AutoZone's Employee Stock Purchase
Plan. Because the Executive Stock Purchase Plan is not required to comply with the requirements of

Section 423 of the Inte

mal Revenue Code, it has a higher limit on the percentage of a participant’s

compensation that may

be used to purchase shares (25%) and places no dollar limit on the amount of a

participant’s compensation that may be used to purchase shares under the plan. For more information about

the Executive Stock Pu

Stack Option Plan

rchase Plan, see “Compensation Discussion and Analysis™ on page 17.

! Stock options are awarded to many levels of management, including executive

officers, to align the long-term interests of AutoZone's management and our stockholders. The stock options

shown in the table wer

granted pursuant to the Third Amended and Restated AutoZone, Inc. 1996 Stock

Option Plan (1996 Stotck Option Plan”), which expired on October 21, 2006; future stock options will be
granted under the AutoZone, Inc. 2006 Stock Option Plan. The plans are similar in operation and are

collectively referred to

as the “Stock Option Plans”™ in this discussion.

Both incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options, or a combination of both, can be granted

under the Stock Option

Plans. Incentive stock options have a term of ten years, and non-qualified stock options

have a term of ten years and one day. Options granted during the 2007 fiscal year vest in one-fourth
increments over a four-year period. All options granted under the Stock Option Plans have an exercise price
equal to the fair market|value of AutoZone common stock on the date of grant, which is defined in the Stock

Option Plans as the clo
prohibited by the terms

Each grant of stoc
the Company and the e

sing price on the trading day previous to the grant date. Option repricing is expressly
of the Stock Option Plans.

K options is governed by the terms of a Stock Option Agreement entered into between
Aecutive officer at the time of the grant. The Stock Option Agreements provide vesting

schedules and other terms of the grants in accordance with the Stock Option Plans.
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OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR-END

The following table sets forth information regarding outstanding stock option awards under the 1996
Stock Option Plan and unvested shares under the Executive Stock Purchase Plan for the Company’s Named

Executive Officers as of August 25, 2007:

Option Awards

Stock Awards

Number of Securities

Underlying Unexercised

Number Market
of Shares Value
of Stock of Shares

. Option Option that of Stock
Options: Exercise Expiration have that have
_l‘_lgr_n_e Exercisable Unexercisable(1)  Price Date not Vested(2) not Vested
William C. Rhodes III. . . ... .......... 10,000 0 $ 24.00 08/31/09
37,000 0 $ 25.56 10/18/09
2,000 0 $ 43.90 09/20/11
18,000 0 $ 43.90 09/21/11
2,000 0 $ 71.12 09/06/12
38,000 0 $ 71.12 09/07/12
18,900 6,300 $ 89.18 09/06/13
1,350 450 $ 89.18 09/05/13
15,000 15,000 $ 75.64 09/29/14
25,000 25,000 $ 98.30 03/14/15
250 750 $ 82.00 10/15/15
12,250 36,750 $ 82.00 10/16/15
1] 1,500 $103.44 09/26/16
0 43,500 $103.44 09/27/16
7 $ 863
158 $19,475
6 $ 740
5 $ 616
Totals . .. .. ... .. e 179,750 129,250 176 $21,694
William T. Giles . . . ................. 10,000 30,000 $ 89.76 06/07/16
0 2,000 $103.44 09/26/16
0 23,000 $103.44 09/27/16
Totals .. ... ... e 10,000 55,000
James A.Shea . ..................., 0 22,500  $ 75.64 09/29/14
5,000 5,000 $ 86.55 04/08/15
500 1,500 $ 82.00 10/15/15
5,750 17,250 $ 82.00 10/16/15
0 2,000 $103.44 09/26/16
0 23,000 $103.44 (09/27/16
Totals . ... ... .. ... .. . e 11,250 71,250
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Option Awards Stock Awards

Number Market
of Shares Value

Number of Securities of Stock of Shares
Underlying Unexercised Option  Option that of Stock
Options: Exercise Expiration have that have
Name Exercisable Unexercisable(l) Price Date not Vested(2) not Vested
Harry L. Goldsmith. .. ............... 7,500 0§ 24.00 08/31/09
2,000 0§ 4390 09/20/11
18,000 0 3 4390 09/21/11
2,000 0 % 71.12 09/06/12
24,000 0 $ 71.12 09/07/12
24,900 8,300 $ B89.18 09/06/13
1,350 450 3 89.18 09/05/13
15,000 15,000 $ 75.64 09/29/14
5,000 5,000 $ 86.55 04/08/15
250 750 $ 82.00 10/15/15
5,375 16,125 $ 82.00 10/16/15
0 1,500  $103.44 09/26/16
0 23,500  $103.44 09/27/16
Totals ............ ... ... ... 105,375 70,625
Robert D.Olsen . ... 0 ............... 100,000 0 35 2494 04/24/10
2,000 0 $ 4390 09/20/11
18,000 0 § 43.90 09/21/11
2,000 0 $ 71.12 09/06/12
24,000 0 § 71.12 09/07/12
17,400 5,800  $ 89.18 09/06/13
1,350 450 $ 89.18 09/05/13
10,000 10,000 $ 75.64 09/29/14
2,500 2,500 % 86.55 04/08/15
250 750  § 82.00 10/15/15
5,375 16,125 $ 82.00 10/16/15
0 1,500  $103.44 (9/26/16
)] 23,500  $103.44 092716

Totals ............ ... .. . 0L, 182,875 60,625

(1) Stock options vest in one-fourth increments over a four-year period. Both incentive stock options and non-
qualified stock optipns have been awarded.

(2) Represents shares acquired pursuant to unvested share options granted under the Executive Stock Purchase
Plan. Such shares vest on the first anniversary of the date the option was exercised under the plan, and will
vest immediately upon a participant’s termination of employment without cause or the participant’s death,
disability or retirement.
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OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED

The following table sets forth information regarding stock option exercises and vested stock awards for
the Company’s Named Executive Officers during the fiscal year ended August 25, 2007:

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number Number
of Shares Value of Shares Value
Acquired Realized Acquired Realized
on Exercise on Exercise on Vesting on Vesting
Name (#) %) @ (%)
William C.Rhodes TIT . .......... ... ....... — — 92 10,867
William T. Giles. .. ............. ... ... .... — — — —
James A.Shea . ....... ... ... ... Ceeee 22,500 1,158,249 — —
Harry L. Goldsmith .. ..................... 20,000 1,939,220 —_ —

Robert D.Olsen. ... ... .. — — —_ —

(1) Represents shares acquired pursuant to the Executive Stock Purchase Plan. See “Compensation Discussion
and Analysis” on page 17 for more information about this plan.

IPENSIHON BENEFITS

The following table sets forth information regarding pension benefits for the Company’s Named Executive
Officers as of August 25, 2007:

Present
Number of Value of Payments
Years of Accumulated  During Last
Credited Benefit Fiscal Year
Name Plan Name Service ) (E))]
William C. Rhodes IIT ........ AutoZone, Inc. Associates 7 31,625 —_—
' Pension Plan
AutoZone, Inc. Executive 19,055 —_
Deferred Compensation Plan
William T. Giles. .. .......... N/A —
James A.Shea .............. N/A —
Harry L. Goldsmith . ......... AutoZoae, Inc. Associates 9 100,102 —
Pension Plan
AutoZoae, Inc. Executive 119,961 —_
Deferre:] Compensation Plan
Robert D.Olsen............. AutoZone, Inc. Associates 7 65,264 —
Pension Plan
AutoZone, Inc. Executive 68,867 —

Deferre d Compensation Plan

(1) As the plan benefits were frozen as of December 31, 2002, there is no service cost and increases in future
compensation levels no longer impact the calculations. The benefit of each participant is accrued based on
a funding formula computed by our independent actuaries, Mercer. See Note I, Pension and Savings Plans,
to our consolidated financial statements for a discussion of our assumptions used in determining the
present value of the accumnulated pension benefits.

Prior to January 1, 2003, substantially al! full-time AutoZone employees were covered by a defined
benefit pension plan, the AutoZone, Inc. Atsociates Pension Plan (the “Pension Plan”). The Pension Plan is a
traditional defined benefit pension plan. which covered full-time AutoZone employees who were at least
21 years old and had completed one year o! service with the Company. The benefits under the Pension Plan
were based on years of service and the employee’s highest consecutive five-year average compensation.
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Compensation include? total annual earnings shown on Form W-2 plus any amounts directed on a tax-deferred
basis into Company-sponsored benefit plans, but did not inciude reimbursements or other expense allowances,

cash or non-cash fring? benefits, moving expenses, non-cash compensation (regardless of whether it resulted in
imputed income), longl»term cash incentive payments, payments under any insurance plan, payments under any
weekly-paid indemnityi plan, payments under any long term disability plan, nonqualified deferred compensa-

tion, or welfare benefits.

AutoZone also ma

intained a supplemental defined benefit pension plan for certain highly compensated

employees to supplement the benefits under the Pension Plan as part of our Executive Deferred Compensation
Plan (the “Supplemental Pension Plan™). The purpose of the Supplemental Pension Plan was to provide any
benefit that could not be provided under the qualified plan due to IRS limitations on the amount of salary that

could be recognized in
between (a) the amoun

the qualified plan. The benefit under the Supplemenial Pension Plan is the difference
t of benefit determined under the Pension Plan formula but using the participant’s total

compensation without regard to any IRS limitations on salary that can be recognized under the qualified plan,

less (b) the amount of
compensation that can

benefit determined under the Pension Plan formula reflecting the IRS limitations on
be reflected under a qualified plan.

[n December, 2002, both the Pension Plan and the Supplemental Pension Plan were frozen. Accordingly,
all benefits to all participants in the Penston Plan were fixed and could not increase, and no new participants
could join the plans,

Annual benefits to the Named Executive Officers are payable upon retirement at age 65. Sixty monthly
payments are guaranteed after retirement. The benefits will not be reduced by Social Security or other amounts
received by a participant. The basic monthly retirement benefit is calculated as 1% of average monthly
compensation multiplied by a participant’s years of credited service. Benefits under the Pension Plan may be
taken in one of several different annuity forms. The actual amount a participant would receive depends upon
the payment method chosen.

A participant in the Pension Plan is eligible for early retirement under the plan if he or she is at least

35 years old AND was either (a) a participant in the original plan as of June 19, 1976; or (b) has completed at
least ten (10) years of service for vesting (i.e. years in which the participant worked at least 1.000 hours after
becoming a Pension Plan panticipant). The early retirement date will be the first of any month after the
participant meets these requirements and chooses 1o retire. Benefits may begin immediately, or the participant
may elect 1o begin recejving them on the first of any month between the date he or she actually retires and the
normal retirement date. (If a participant elects to begin receiving an early retirement benefit before the normal
retirement date, the amount of the accrued benefit will be reduced according to the number of years by which
the start of benefits preci'edes the normal retirement date. Mr. Goldsmith is eligible for early retirement under
the Pension Plan.

Messrs. Rhodes, Goldsmith, and Olsen are participants in the Pension Plan and the Supplemental Pension
Plan. No named officers received payment of a retirement benefit in fiscal 2007.
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NONQUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION

The following table sets forth information regarding nonqualified deferred compensation for the
Company’s Named Executive Officers as of and for the year ended August 25, 2007.

~ Executive Registrant Aggregate Aggregate Aggregate
Contributions Coniributions in  Earnings in  withdrawals/ Balance at Last
in Last FY Last FY Last FY  Distributions FYE
Name Plan )(1) (5:2) $)3) E) )
William C. Rhodes I[II . . Executive Deferred 215,895 38,209 157,007 — 1,096,046
Compensaticn Plan
William T. Giles . . . . .. Executive Deferred 4,189 — 8 —_ 4,197
Compensation Plan
James A. Shea . ...... Executive Deferred 137,241 16,725 35,020 — 349,806
Compensation Plan
Harry L. Goldsmith. . .. Executive Deferred 27,638 13,028 26,486 —_ 291,618
Compensation Plan
Robert D.Olsen .. . ... Executive Deferred 28,723 13,022 11,559 — 193,294

Compensation Plan

(1) Represents contributions by the Named Executive Officers under the AutoZone, Inc. Executive Deferred
Compensation Plan (the “EDCP”). Sucl, contributions are included under the appropriate “Salary” and
“Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensat'on” columns for the Named Executive Officers in the Summary
Compensation Table.

(2) Represents matching contributions by the Company under the EDCP. Such contributions are included
under the “All Other Compensation” column for the Named Executive Officers in the Summary Compen-
sation Table.

(3) Represents the difference the aggregate balance at end of fiscal 2007 and the end of fiscal 2006, excluding
(i) contributions made by the executive officer and the Company during fiscal 2007 and (ii) any withdraw-
als or distributions during fiscal 2007. None of the earnings in this column were included in the Summary
Compensation Table because they were not preferential or above market.

Officers of the Company with the title of vice president or higher are eligible to participate in the EDCP
after their first year of employment with th: Company. The EDCP is a nonqualified plan that allows officers
who participate in AutoZone’s 401(k) plan to make a pretax deferral of base salary and bonus compensation.
Officers may defer up to 25% of base salary and bonus, minus deferrals under the 401(k) plan. The Company
matches 100% of the first 3% of deferred compensation and 50% of the next 2% deferred. Participants may
select among various mutual funds in whica to invest their deferral accounts. Participants may elect to receive
distribution of their deferral accounts at retirement or starting in a specific future year of choice before or after
anticipated retirement (but not later than the year in which the participant reaches age 75). if a participant’s
employment with AutoZone terminates othzr than by retirement or death, the account balance will be paid in a
lump sum payment six months after termination of employment. There are provisions in the EDCP for
withdrawal of all or part of the deferral account balance in the event of an extreme and unforeseen financial
hardship.
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POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR CHANGE IN CONTROL

Our executive ofﬁlcers may receive certain benefits if their employment terminates under specified
circumstances. These benefits derive from Company policies, plans, agreements and arrangements described

below.

Severance Arrangement with Mr. Rhodes

In connection with
Company agreed, amor

his appointment as President and Chief Executive Officer in March, 2005, the
g other things, that if Mr. Rhodes’ employment is terminated by the Company without

cause, he will receive severance benefits consisting of an amount equal to 2.99 times his then-current base

salary. In September 2(]

(07, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors determined that if

Mr. Rhodes’ employment is terminated by AutoZone without cause, then in addition to the previously-

approved severance ber

efit, he will receive a lump sum prorated share of any unpaid annual bonus incentive

for periods during whi 'h he was employed, to be paid at the time such incentives are paid to similarly-situated
executives, and AutoZone will pay the cost of COBRA premiums to continue his medical, dental and vision
insurance benefits for up to 18 months to the extent such premiums exceed the amount Mr. Rhodes had been

paying for such coverag

¢ during his employment. Mr. Rhodes will sign an agreement not to compete with

AutoZone or solicit its employees for a three-year period after such termination.

Executive Severance Practices (Messrs. Giles and Shea)

| . . :
It has been AutoZone’s practice to provide severance benefits to executive officers who do not have

written employment ag

eements. As a general rule, executive officers whose employment is involuntarily

terminated without cause and who sign an agreement with the Company waiving certain legal rights and

agreeing to non-compet
continuation for a perio

Years of Service

O0—1.........
1— 5.........
Over5.........

e and non-solicitation clauses, receive severance benefits in the form of salary
d of time ranging from 12 months to 24 months, depending on their length of service:

Severance Period

................................................. 12 months

18 months
24 months

The executive officer also would receive a lump sum prorated share of his or her annual bonus incentive
when such incentives are patd to similarly-situated executives.

Medical, dental and vision insurance benefits generally continue through the severance period up to a
maximum of 18 months, with the Company paying the cost of COBRA premiums to the extent such premiums
exceed the amount the executive had been paying for such coverage. An appropriate level of outplacement
services may be provided based on individual circumstances.

Employment Agreements (Messrs. Goldsmith and (Qlsen)

Most of AutoZone’#

executive officers do not have employment agreements. However, Mr. Goldsmith and

Mr. Olsen have employment agreements, dated 1999 and 2000, respectively, which continue until terminated
either by the executive or by AutoZone. If the agreement is terminated by AutoZone for cause, or by the
executive for any reason! the executive will cease to be an employee, and wiil cease to receive salary, bonus,
and other benefits. If the agreement is terminated by AutoZone without cause, Mr. Goldsmith will remain an
employee for three years after the termination date, and Mr. Olsen will remain an employee for two years
after the termination datc (each, a “Continuation Period”). Each executive will continue to receive his then-

current salary and other benefits of an employee, and will receive a prorated bonus for the fiscal year in which
he was terminated, but np bonuses thereafter. Each executive’s stock options will continue to vest and may be
exercised in accordance with the respective stock option agreements untit the end of his Continuation Pericd,
after which further stock|option exercises and vesting will be governed by the terms of the respective stock
option agreements. If either executive is terminated from his position by AutoZone or by the executive for
reasons other than a change in control, then the executive will be prohibited from competing against AutoZone
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or hiring AutoZone employees during his Continuation Period. “Cause” is defined in each agreement as the
willful engagement by the executive in conduct which is demonstrably or materially injurious to AutoZone,
monetarily or otherwise. No act or failure to act by the employee will be considered “willful” unless done, or
omitted to be done, by the employee not in ood faith and without reasonable belief that his action or
omission was in the best interest of AutoZone. “Change in control” in each agreement means either the
acquisition of a majority of our voting securities by or the sale of substantially all of our assets to a non-
affiliate of the company.

Eguilx Plans

All outstanding, unvested options grant:d pursuant to the Stock Option Plans, including those held by all
the Named Executive Officers, will vest imrnediately upon the option holder’s death pursvant to the terms of
the stock option agreements.

Unvested share options under our Executive Stock Purchase Plan, which normally are subject to forfeiture
if a participant's employment terminates prior to the first anniversary of their acquisition, will vest
immediately if the termination is by reason of the participant’s death, disability, termination by the Company
without cause, or retirement on or after the participant’s normal retirement date. The Plan defines “disability,
“cause,” and “normal retirement date.”

Life Insurance

AutoZone provides all salaried employees in active full-time employment in the United States a
company-paid life insurance benefit in the amount of two times annual earnings. “Annual earnings” exclude
stock options but include salary and bonuses received. Additionally, salaried employees are eligible to
purchase additional life insurance. The maximum benefit of the company-paid and the additional coverage
combined is $5,000,000. All of the Named Executive Officers are eligible for this benefit.

Disability Insurance

All full-time officers at the level of vice president and above are eligible to participate in two executive
long-term disability plans. Accordingly, AutoZone purchases individual disability policies for its executive
officers that pay 70% of the first $7,143 of insurable monthly earnings in the event of disability. Additionally,
the executive officers are eligible to receive an executive long-term disability plan benefit in the amount of
70% of the next $35,714 of insurable montaly earnings to a maximum benefit of $25,000 per month.
AutoZone purchases insurance to cover this plan benefit. These two benefits combined provide a maximum
benefit of $30,000 per month. The benefit payment for these plans may be reduced by deductible sources of
income and disability earnings. Mr. Goldsmith is only covered under the group long-term disability program,
under which he is eligible to receive 70% of monthly earnings to a maximum benefit of $30,000 per month.
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The following table shows the amounts that the Named Executive Officers would have received if their
employment had been involuntarily terminated on August 25, 2007. This table does not include amounts
related to the Named Executive Officers’ vested benefits under our deferred compensation and pension plans
or pursuant to stock option awards, all of which are described in the tables above.

Name

William C. Rhodes, III(1)
Severance Pay .. ...l
Bonus............l.
Benefits Continuation [,
Unvested Stock Options
Unvested Stock Awardg.
Disability Benefits . . .|.
Life Insurance Benefits|.

William T. Giles(2)
Severance Pay ......L
Bonus............L
Benefits Continuation .,
Unvested Stock Options
Disability Benefits . . .
Life Insurance Benefits

James A. Shea(2)
Severance Pay . ... ..
Bonus............
Benefits Continuation .
Unvested Stock Options
Disability Benefits . . . .
Life Insurance Benefits |

Harry L. Goldsmith(3)
Salary Continuation . . .
Bonus . ............
Benefits Continuation . .
Unvested Stock Options
Disability Benefits . . . .
Life Insurance Benefits .

Robert D. Olsen(3)
Salary Continuation . . ,
Bonus . ............
Benefits Continuation . ,
Unvested Stock Options
Disability Benefits . . . .
Life Insurance Benefits .

{1) Severance Pay, Bonus
for Cause” column re

Voluntary or

Involuntary

35

for Canse Termination Not  Change in Normal
Termination for Cause Control Disability Death Retirement
(% ($) 3] $ (t)]
— 1,864,265 — — — —_
— 664,764 — 664,764 664,764 664,764
— 9,213 — — 1,919 —
- — — — 4,007,490 —
— 21,604 — 20,604 21694 21,694
- - - 8,333,857- — —
— —_ —_ — 2,352,000 —
- 2,559,936 — 9,020,315 7,047,867 686,458
— 656,250 — — — —
— 279,434 — 279434 279434 279434
— 10,377 — — 1919 —
— — — — 1,500,500 —
— — — 5,480,988 — —
- — - — 866,000 —
— 946,061 - 5760422 2,647,853 279434
— 632,250 — — — —
— 268,519 — 268,519 268,519 268,519
- 6,594 — — 991 —_
— - - — 2524125 —
— — — 1,087,266 — —
— — — — 1,000,000 —
— _ 907,363 — 1,355,785 3,793,635 268,519
— 1,093,500 — — —_ —
— 231,635 — 231,655 231,655 231,655
— 12,023 — — 1,981 —
— 2,263,938 — — 2,387,813 —
— ~ — 3,594,103 — —
— - - — 1,092,000 —
— 3,601,116 — 3,825,758  3,713449 231,655
— 809,000 — — — —
— 246,738 — 246,738 246,738 246,738
— 12,283 — — 1,919 —
— 1,492,900 — — 1,972,738 —
- — — 3,963,333 — —
— —_ — — 1,092,000 —
— 2,560,921 — 4210071 3,313,395 246,738

and Benefits Continuation amounts shown under the “Involuntary Termination Not
flects the terms of Mr. Rhodes” severance arrangement described above, including




the features approved by the Compensation Committee in September 2007. Unvested stock options are
those outstanding, unvested stock options which will vest immediately upon the option holder’s death.
Unvested stock awards are share options under the Executive Stock Purchase Plan, which vest upon invol-
untary termination not for cause, disability, death or normal retirement. Bonus is shown at actual bonus
amount for the 2007 fiscal year; it wouldl be prorated if the triggering event occurred other than on the last
day of the fiscal year. Upon disability, dzath or normal retirement, a prorated bonus is paid in accordance
with Company policy. Disability Benefits are benefits under Company-paid individual long-term disability
insurance poiicy. Life Insurance Benefits are benefits under a Company-paid life insurance policy.

(2) Severance Pay, Bonus and Benefits Coniinuation amounts shown under the “Involuntary Termination Not
for Cause” column reflect payments 1o 1r. Giles and Mr. Shea under the executive severance practice
described above. Bonus is shown at acttal bonus amount for the 2007 fiscal year; it would be prorated if
the triggering event occurred other than on the last day of the fiscal year. Upon disability, death or normal
retirement, a prorated bonus is paid in accordance with Company policy. Benefits Continuation refers to
medical, dental and vision benefits. Umested stock options are those outstanding, unvested stock options
which will vest immediately upon the option holder’s death. Disability Benefits are benefits under Com-
pany-paid individual long-term disability insurance policy. Life [nsurance Benefits are benefits under a
Company-paid life insurance policy.

(3) Salary Continuation, Bonus and Benefits Continuation amounts skown under the “Involuntary Termination
Not for Cause’” column reflect payments to Mr. Goldsmith and Mr. Olsen under the terms of their respec-
tive employment agreements described above. Bonus is shown at actual bonus amount for the 2007 fiscal
year; it would be prorated if the trigger.ng event occurred other than on the last day of the fiscal year.
Upon disability, death or normal retirement, a prorated bonus is paid in accordance with Company policy.
Benefits Continuation refers to medical, dental and vision benefits. Unvested stock options are those out-
standing, unvested stock options which will vest immediately upon the option holder’s death. Messrs. Gold-
smith’s and Olsen's employment agreernents provide that stock options continue to vest during the salary
continuation period (3 years for Mr. Goldsmith and 2 years for Mr. Olsen). Disability Benefits are benefits
under Company-paid individual long-term disability insurance policy. Life Insurance Benefits are benefits
under a Company-paid life insurance policy.

Related Party Transactions

Our Board of Directors has adopted a Related Persons Transaction Policy (the “Policy™) which requires
the Audit Committeé of the Board to revie~ and approve or ratify all Related Person Transactions. The Audit
Committee is to consider all of the available relevant facts and circumstances of each transaction, including
but not timited to the benefits to the Comgany; the impact on a director’s independence in the event the
Related Person is a director, an immediate family member of a director or an entity in which a director is a
partner, shareholder or executive officer; the availability of other sources for comparable products or services;
the terms of the transaction; and the terms available to unrelated third parties generally. Related Person
Transactions must also comply with the policies and procedures specified in our Code of Ethics and Business
Conduct and Corporate Governance Principles described below.

The Policy also requires disclosure of all Related Person Transactions that are required to be disclosed in
AutoZone’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, in accordance with ail applicable legal and
regulatory requirements.

A “Related Person Transaction™ is defined in the Policy as a transaction, arrangement or relationship (or
any series of similar transactions, arrangetnents or relationships) that occurred since the beginning of the
Company's most recent fiscal year in which the Company (including any of its subsidiaries) was, is or will be
a participant and the amount involved exceeds $120,000 and in which any Related Person had, has or will
have a direct or indirect material interest. “Related Persons” include a director or executive officer of the
Company, a nominee to become a directo; of the Company, any person known to be the beneficial owner of
more than 5% of any class of the Compauy’s voting securities, any immediate family member of any of the
foregoing persons, and any firm, corporaton or other entity in which any of the foregoing persons is employed
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or is a partner or principal or in a similar position or in which such person has a 5% or greater beneficial
ownership interest.

Our Board has alsp adopted a Code of Business Conduct (the “Code of Conduct”) that applies to the
Company’s directors, olfﬁcers and employees. The Code of Conduct prohibits directors and executive officers
from engaging in activlties that create conflicts of interest, taking corporate opportunities for personal use or
competing with the Colmpany, ameng other things. Additionally, our Corporate Governance Principles require
each director who is faced with an issue that presents, or may give the appearance of presenting, a conflict of
interest to disclose that fact to the Chairman of the Board and the Corporate Secretary, and to refrain from
participating in discussions or votes on such issue unless a majority of the Board determines, after consultation

with counsel, that no conflict of interest exists as to such matter.

Equity Compensation Plans

Equity Compensatioln Plans Approved by Stockholders

Our stockholders have approved the 1996 Stock Option Plan, the Employee Stock Purchase Plan, the
Executive Stock Purch%ise Plan, the Director Compensation Plan, the Director Stock Option Plan and the
AutoZone, Inc. 2006 Stock Option Plan.

Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Stockholders

The AutoZone, In!:. Second Amended and Restated Director Compensation Plan and the AutoZone, Inc.
Fourth Amended and Restated 1998 Director Stock Option Plan were approved by the Board, but were not
submitted for approval |by the stockholders as then permitted under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange.
Both of these plans were terminated in December 2002 and were replaced by the Director Compensation Plan
and the Director Stock|Option Plan, respectively, after the stockholders approved them. No further grants can
be made under the terminated plans. However, any grants made under these plans will continue under the
terms of the grant made. Only treasury shares are issued under the terminated plans.

Under the Second|Amended and Restated Director Compensation Plan, a non-employee director could
receive no more than one-half of the annual retainer and meeting fees immediately in cash, and the remainder

of the fees were taken fn common stock or deferred in stock appreciation rights.

Under the Fourth Amended and Restated 1998 Director Stock Option Plan, on January 1 of each year,
each non-employee director received an option to purchase 1,500 shares of common stock, and each non-
employee director who owned common stock worth at least five times the annual fee paid to each non-
employee director on an annual basis received an additional option to purchase 1,500 shares of commeon stock.
In addition, each new director received an option to purchase 3,000 shares upon election to the Board of
Directors, plus a portioln of the annual directors’ option grant prorated for the portion of the year actvally
served in office. These|stock option grants were made at the fair market vatue as of the grant date.
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Summary Table

The following table sets forth certain ir.formation as of August 25, 2007, with respect to compensation
plans under which shares of AutoZone cominon stock may be issued.
Number of Securities

Remaining Available for
Future Issuance Under

Number of Securities to Equity Compensation
be Istued Upon Exercise Weighted Average Plans (Excluding
«f Qutstanding Exercise Price of Securities Reflected
Options, Warrants and Outsianding Cptions, in the
Plan Category Rights Warrants and Rights First Column)

Equity Compensation plans
approved by security
holders .. ............... 2,922,005 : $79.85 5,612,434

Equity compensation plans not
approved by securities
holders................. 56,083 $42.96 0

Total .................... 2,978,088 $79.16 5,612,434

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Securities laws require our executive officers, directors, and beneficial owners of more than ten percent of
our common stock to file insider trading reports (Forms 3, 4, and 5} with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the New York Stock Exchenge relating to the number of shares of common stock that they
own, and any changes in their ownership. To our knowledge, all persons related to AuteZone that are required
to file these insider trading reports have filed them in a timely manner. Copies of the insider trading reports
can be found on the AutoZone corporate website at www.autozonginc.com.

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR 2008 ANNUAL MEETING

Stockholder proposals for inclusion in the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting in 2008 must be
received by June 27, 2008. In accordance w:th our Bylaws, stockholder proposals received after August 14,
2008, but by September 13, 2008, may be p:esented at the Meeting, but will not be included in the Proxy
Statement. Any stockholder proposal received after September 13, 2008, will not be eligible to be presented
for a vote to the stockholders in accordance with our Bylaws. Any proposals must be mailed to AutoZone,
Inc., Attention: Secretary, Post Office Box 2198, Dept. 8074, Memphis, Tennessee 38101-2198.

ANNUAL REPORT

A copy of our Annual Report is being mailed with this Proxy Statement to all stockholders of record.

By order of the Board of Directors,

Harry L. Goldsmith
Secretary

Memphis, Tennessee
October 22, 2007
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Charles M. Elson®

Edgar S. Woolard Jr.

Professor of Corgorate Governance
Universily of Delaware

Sue E. Gove“m
Consultant
Prentice Capital Management, LP

Earl G. Graves, Jr.0a
President and CEO
Earl G. Graves Publishing

Transfer Agent and Registrar

Computershare Investor Services

P.O. Box 430609

Providence, Rhode [sland 02940-3069
(877) 282-1168

{(781) 575-2723
http://www‘computershare.com

Annuat Meeting

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders
of AutoZone will be held ar8:30 a.m.,
CST. on December 12, 2007, at the
J. R. Hyde, Il Siore Support Center,
123 South Front Street, Memphis,
Tennessee.

Dr. N. Gerry Houset2a
President and CEQ
Institute for Student Achievemenl

J. R. Hyde, ill
AutoZone Founder
Chairman
GTx, Inc,

W. Andrew McKenna(™2 n
Private Investor

George R. Mrkonic, Jr.i12)
Retired President/Vice Chairman
Borders Group, Inc.

AutoZone Web Sites

investor Relationg:
hitp:/iwww.autozoneine.com
Company Web Site:
http:/ivww. autozone.com

Stock Exchange Listing

New York Stock Exchange
Ticker Symbol; AZO

Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP
Memphis. Tennessee

Code of Ethical Conduct

AutoZone's Code of Ethical Conduct is
available on its investor relaiions Web
site at htlp://www,autozonelnc.com.

William C. Rhodes, Ij|
Chairman, President and CEQ
AutoZone, Inc,

Theodore W. Ullyott2)
Executive Vice President and
General Counsel

ESL Investmants

(1) Audit Commitiee
{2) Compensation Committee
(3) Nominating ang Corporate
Gavernance Committee
* Committee Chair
T Lead Director

Form 10-K/Quarterly Reports

Stockholders may obiain free of charge
a copy of AutoZone's annual report on
Form 10-K, its quarterly reports on Form
10-Q as filed with the Securilies and
Exchange Commission and quarterly
press releases by contacting fnvestor
Refations, PO. Box 2198, Memphis,
Ternessee 38101: e-mailing investor.
relations@autozone.com or phoning
{901) 495-7185.

Copies of all documents liled by
AutoZone with the Securities and
Exchange Commissian, including
Form 18-K and Form 10-Q, are also
available at the SEC's EDGAR server
at http:fiwww.sec.gov.

Stockholders of Record

As of August 25, 2007, there were 3,604
stockholders of record, excluding the
number of beneficial owners whose
shares were represented by security
Position fistings.
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